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GROUP OVERVIEW
EB/E{N

Shoucheng Holdings Limited (the “Company“/“Shoucheng Holdings") relies
on two core capabilities of FIME, which refers to fundraising, investment,

management and exit and asset operation accumulated by the Company over the

years, actively deploying digital-intelligent assets with long-term value, striving

to become the leading service provider of China’s Intelligent Infrastructure Assets

("CHA").

BRERARAT (428 / GRER)) REAEDSERERNEEMEHRSE
EEZERZ BHHRAARMEENEECEE BAORMARLNPRHEERR

R EERTE o

Our Value

EEH

Customer first Team cooperation Teaching and learning mutualism
BRE— B X 1E HEEE
Quality first Outcome - orientation Full of passion
mEE L R SRE A TRimallAE
Open-Tollr:sorlae:?:ss Gl Embracing change Loyal dedication
T e
B 7313k B RR

Our Mission
and Vision

fEanfE =R

To promote the cross-border integration of infrastructure
assets, to enhance digital intelligence, to build intelligent
infrastructure, to provide technology-driven infrastructure
asset management services

The Leading Service Provider of CIIA

RBEEE  RAHEC TEEEER  RHMNRENERRE
EETERE
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1991

The Company is listed on the main board of the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange

RABRE BT ER LT

2016

Commenced asset restructuring, and sold
Qinhuangdao business, including steel manufacturing,
mineral mining and processing

FREEEM HEREESXER QEEMRE - EY
FRER R I 73

2018

Insisted firmly on the transformation strategy,
developed new main business, reduced the side of
old business, divested relevant assets, and introduced
strategic shareholders for coordinated development

BN ERNIEER WAEREXEBRE
HEEEREE  SIABBKRER  HBHRER

2020

The Company has officially changed its name to Shoucheng
Holdings Limited, the new name reflects the Group's current
strategic and business development direction

AEEABLRERERARAR HAERRALE
EIRABBEREFERS A

2022

Deeply cultivating the field of infrastructure assets
represented by carparks, with stable income and good
interoperability, with the opportunity of the era of public
offering REITs in Mainland China, to realise the integration
of industry and finance in infrastructure operation and
asset securitisation

RIBEEPRERRERENEAE S 2EERERR
ABRETSRERB R BRERKMEEEEMNE
HHCNERES

2024

By leveraging the “asset circulation + digital and intelligent
operations”, we have achieved further breakthroughs

in our asset management model. Strategically deploying
in the robotics industry and other sectors, transitioning
into an intelligent infrastructure service provider, while
also accelerating the digital and intelligent upgrade of
managed infrastructure

REEERR+BELES  TEEBERA LB}
E—FRW ; RERRKSEANTESRE  MEEERR
AR Ay > mUD’I‘J%TFﬁ%ﬁﬁ’ﬂ%ﬁ*ﬁ&ﬁﬁﬁ’ﬂ%{%ﬁ@i&
&2

MILESTONES
gt

1992

Shougang Group and Cheung Kong (Holdings) Limited
(now known as CK Hutchison Holdings Limited) successfully
acquired the Company in 1992

BEfEEBMERIBE (EE) BRAR GREBRIML
BERRAB) R1992F M INKEE AR A F]

2017
Completed business transformation

STR R E A

2019

Completed business restructuring, enhanced capital
reserves, spread out business in China, and formed a solid
foundation for business development

STEEEERE BAET A BHREEES S
FHERIEERENER

2021

In line with national policy opportunities, the Company
made every effort to deploy public offering REITs in
Mainland China, seize the first-mover advantage, and
cover all categories of public offering REITs; iterated

the product matrix and improved the management
efficiency, and strengthen the leading position in the field
of parking business; divested partial equity interest in
Shougang Fushan Resources Group Limited (“Shougang
Resources”) to optimise the asset structure

|EFE R R B SR 38 » 2 /B P EIA Mt B RER A S
REITs » SR S35 1B 28 > B B RS A SREITs 2 A &
= EmBESAELN BEMEREIRA  FHEETE
BREEMAUSEZEE ; AMEHELEREESRA
8 (TeHER) BokE BREEETRE

2023

Our main business, asset operation and FIME continues
to develop, with a larger scale and higher efficiency

of infrastructure asset management, cementing the
foundation for our stable growth
BEESEREEMBMATEXBHBEEERIER
ERXMEETRERERUZERA  FFBERTEE
5 1R
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GROUP STRUCTURE
EBXRE

Shoucheng Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) BREZERERAGRKEWBARE (IEEHE)) ;
focus on China’s core assets, and are committed to become the I EBHFEZLEE  BAONBSEBETER
leading service provider of CIIA. BENTESEERRMEERSESHE -

As at 31 December 2024
7?2024 £12 B 31 H

Shoucheng Holdings Limited
BREZERARAH
(697.HK)

The Leading Service Provider of
ClIA

BENPEEREERR TS EREH

Beijing Shoucheng Jishi Beijing West Fund E Park Investment Shoucheng Rongshi
Investment Limited* Management Co., Ltd.* Management Co., Ltd.* (Beijing) Fund
IR EREARABRAT JbE R Faa % EES (bR Vianagement

BEESERARAT BREERERAT Company Limited
BiZRAa JtR)
B2 EEFRAT
*  For identification purpose only * (EEER

6 Shoucheng Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024



FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

M5 E

For the year ended 31 December

HENANMBLEE
2024 2023
HKS$ Million HK$ Million
BEEET B ET
Revenue PN 1,215 883
Operating profit =gl 612 635
For the year ended 31 December
HENANMBLEE
2024 2023
HK cents HK cents
Basic and diluted earnings per share SR EARMNFERF 5.76 5.57
As at 31 December
®128318
2024 2023
HKS$ Million HK$ Million
BEEET B E T
Total assets BEEBE 13,829 13,523
Net assets attributable to owners KABEBEANELFEE
of the company 9,421 9,923
Bank balances and cash RITEGRRIRE 2,622 2,263
Wealth management products EBYERKERECREE
and fixed income financial assets 1,746 1,982
Restricted deposits Z R EIFERR 146 =
Asset — Liability ratio EEAMELE 31.2% 25.7%
Debt — Equity ratio BEEARLE 15.9% 8.0%

HERZRARAT 2024FFR 7



CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EFREHRSE

Dear shareholders, investors, clients and colleagues,

This year, the total amount of our year-end final and special
interim dividends will reach HK$888 million. In addition to
the HK$208 million distributed during the interim period,
the total annual dividend payout will amount to HK$1.096
billion, setting a new record for the highest annual dividend
since 2017, when the company returned to profitability and
implemented its high-dividend policy. Since the commencement
of our strategic transformation, the cumulative dividend
distribution has reached HK$5.191 billion. This remarkable
achievement is a result of not only our sustained improvement
in operational performance — evidenced by a 38% year-on-year
revenue growth and robust operating cash flow — but also the
comprehensive enhancement of our asset quality. Currently, our
asset position is at its strongest in history. Our interest-bearing
debt totals HK$1.496 billion, representing an interest-bearing
debt-to-asset ratio of only 10.8%. The company has the
capacity to repay all outstanding loans within one week. Our
decision to maintain a prudent level of debt is a strategic choice
to preserve high-quality debt and credit ratings while laying a
solid foundation for sustained growth in shareholder returns.

In the field of infrastructure asset operation, businesses such
as parking facilities and industrial parks have demonstrated
substantial growth. Operational efficiency continues to
improve, and our product and service capabilities have been
significantly enhanced. Additionally, emerging segments such
as long-term rental apartments and community commercial
properties have commenced operations and are expected to
become new growth drivers, with the potential to evolve into
specialized REITs.

8 Shoucheng Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024
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We remain firmly optimistic about Chinese assets and have
significantly accelerated our investment pace. In the field of the
FIME (fundraising, investment, management, and exit), we have
achieved substantial breakthroughs in both scale and quality.
Our assets under management have expanded further, and we
have jointly launched the Beijing Pingzhun Infrastructure Real
Estate Investment Fund (one of the largest stabilization funds
in the market) with top-tier investors like China Life. At the
same time, we have established multiple emerging industry
equity investment funds in key innovation zones across Beijing,
thereby creating a denser and more strategic investment
network. We are pleased to see that several companies in
which we invested in earlier, such as the Horizon Robotics
and Zhaogang.com, have successfully gone public. Over the
past year, we have continued to consolidate our leadership in
the FIME field and steadily enhanced our investment research
capabilities.

This year, we have witnessed closer integration between our
asset operations and the FIME strategies. Additionally, we
have begun exploring investments in the field of intelligent
agents. To date, we have invested in more than ten leading
Chinese companies in the areas of embodied intelligence,
humanoid robotics, and robots deployed in high-impact
scenarios. These include Unitree Robotics, Galbot, Galaxea.
ai, Narwal, X Square Robot, Noetix Robotics, Rossum Robot,
X-Magtech and TowardPi Medical, and others. Over the next
two to three years, we plan to further deepen our presence in
this field by investing in an additional 40 to 50 top-tier robotics
companies, supporting their rapid growth alongside exceptional
entrepreneurs. We will continue to drive technological
innovation, deepen the integration of technology with real-
world applications, and help products achieve data acquisition
and scenario deployment. To this end, we have established our
own robotics company to provide full-industry-chain services to
enterprises within the ecosystem. This deep integration adds
new value to the intelligent infrastructure assets we manage.

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EFREHRSE

BRMBREEFHFRHEE LEREMRTRE

SR -RFANEERBRE-—TEX LHEP
BASFERREAHRBEERT 7TIERF
HEERKEAHERERERES ; K E
BRRAIH At RZEEME BRI TR
BEEXREREES REPEEMNTE -
PIMEMED AIMREN—ERT > WMHF
BoRWMESEIER LB - BE—F > RAE
EEMBEISNEZREELR RFENE
TRt

FROEMNEBEEEENEEMBESEH
REEE THARRSERBEENKEEN
Rtz BHMERE T PEBENTHR
BEEEE AFEEBARERNSEERS
SHHBACLE BEFEFHEEE IRAER
ESE -EHESKE - BEE2HBE A NILES
N BREF - REAE - BREBEZ KK
ME=F> BMEFEMNAKEE —BHBOM
B TRl B E40-50KBREIE AL S E
HELESREENTENSHUNAIR A HLE
R BRMERE—THEBRIZAR R
MEBENHE BEERTREEREN
BREM MM T ART > BERES
NEEREHE2EXERE - SEBFEMREGH
ABEMMEENSEERSMEATHNE
B o
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EFREHRSE

Eight years ago, we embarked on a journey of corporate
transformation. At that time, the company was small in scale
and was facing operational challenges. Through relentless
exploration and the entrepreneurial passion of all our
employees, we have continually innovated and ultimately
embarked on a path of rapid development. As we foresaw
in 2021, following the completion of our transformation and
a strategic focus on our core business, we have successfully
evolved into the leading service provider of China’s Intelligent
Infrastructure Assets (CIIA). Looking ahead, our team
will continue to face a series of challenges—from driving
organizational evolution, enhancing talent development, and
embracing technological advancements, to strengthening
product competitiveness and delivering superior solutions
to our clients. Yet, we are an organization with sustained
resilience. On the road ahead, we will rise to challenges with
greater confidence, growing alongside our employees and
clients, and delivering sustainable and attractive returns for our
shareholders and investors.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhao Tianyang, aged 44, was appointed an Executive
Director and the Chairman of the Board of Directors of the
Company on 6 January 2018 and is also a member and the
chairman of the Nomination Committee of the Company. He
holds a Bachelor degree in science and a Master degree in
economics from Peking University and an Executive Master
of Business Administration degree from Cheung Kong
Graduate School of Business. He is a co-chairman of the Asset
Securitization Business Committee (BEFZFHLLEKEZED)
of Asset Management Association of China (TEFZEASEER
£ E). Mr. Zhao joined Shougang Group Co., Ltd. (E#ff
£BEAERAE, “Shougang Group”) in December 2011. He
is a deputy general manager of Shougang Group, a director
of Shougang Holding (Hong Kong) Limited (“Shougang
Holding"),
Beijing Shougang Fund Co., Ltd.

and the vice chairman and general manager of
(EREHEESBRAF,
“Shougang Fund”). Both Shougang Holding and Shougang
Fund are wholly-owned subsidiaries of Shougang Group. Each
of Shougang Group, Shougang Holding and Shougang Fund is
a substantial shareholder of the Company within the meaning
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance. Mr. Zhao
worked in the China Securities Regulatory Commission, Beijing
Municipal Commission of Development and Reform and Peking
University. He has extensive experience in company operation
and management, investment and capital operation.

Mr. Xu Liang, aged 59, was appointed as an Executive Director
of the Company on 21 May 2018. He graduated from Fudan
University with a Bachelor degree in Statistics and obtained
a Master degree in Business Administration from Tsinghua
University and is a senior accountant. Mr. Xu joined the group
of Shougang Group in 1988 and held various senior positions.
He is the managing director of Shougang Holding. Mr. Xu is
also an executive director and the chairman of Global Digital
Creations Holdings Limited, a company listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). He
was an executive director and the chairman of Capital Industrial
Financial Services Group Limited, a company listed on the Stock
Exchange (resigned on 5 August 2022). Mr. Xu has extensive
experience in management.

DIRECTORS' BIOGRAPHIES
EEEN

BITES

HRBELE 4455 N2018FE1H6HEZ IS
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BEEFE BEER2011TE12BMAERME
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FEREKIE -GiMER (&8 aRAE (8l
ER)EZRIEFEHESERARE (TEHH
E ) FEERFALE -EMERALEN
BEcHAEMER2ERB AR 5%
E-EfEREEHNESHAEARBTTERE
(IRIFFBH R E RO EXVE R F 2 W& ©
HEESARNPEZESEEETERZEY
ERMERNNEZEGRIERKRBHAE
REIRENEE REREAEESH A
BESWKER-

BEXRE S9% N2018FSA21HESZEA
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THIRFERBERABRTESTRER (B
2022 8B5HEM) REENREESEASR

8 = 4 EA
BEERKEo
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DIRECTORS' BIOGRAPHIES
EEBEN

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wu Lishun, aged 50, was appointed as a Non-executive
Director of the Company on 5 December 2023. Mr. Wu
graduated from the International Business Administration
School of University of International Business and Economics
and obtained a Bachelor degree in Economics in 1997, and
obtained a Master of business administration degree from
University of Maryland — Robert H. Smith Business School
in 2013. Mr. Wu is the party secretary (2ZZ:2) and the
chairman of Beijing State-owned Capital Operation and
Management Company Limited JIRBEEEXREESEIER
F[R‘A7], "Beijing State-owned Capital”). He is also the
chairman of First Capital Securities Co., Ltd. (55—AI#EHKR
A EFRAT), a company listed on Shenzhen Stock Exchange.
He was a non-independent director of BOE Technology Group
Co., Ltd. (REARFEEBRMNDBERAT), a company listed
on Shenzhen Stock Exchange (resigned on 15 October 2024).
Before joining Beijing State-owned Capital, Mr. Wu was a
standing member of the party committee (2Z%¥Z) and a
deputy general manager of Beijing Capital Entrepreneurship
Group Co., Ltd. UtREEAIEEBEERAT), and a member
of the party committee (2Z&ZE8) and a deputy chief of
the State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration
Commission of the Beijing Municipal People’s Government (3&

RTARBNEREEREEEZET).
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Mr. Li Hao, aged 43, was appointed as a Non-executive
Director of the Company on 27 September 2018 and became
the Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors on 15 February
2022. He holds a Bachelor degree from Dalian University of
Technology and a Master of Business Administration degree in
Finance from Waseda University, Japan. Mr. Li has been with
ORIX Corporation (“ORIX",
Company) since October 2007. He is currently the executive
officer (responsible for Greater China Group) and general
manager of Greater China Group at ORIX, a diversified financial
services company and whose shares are listed on both Tokyo
Stock Exchange and New York Stock Exchange. Mr. Li also
serves as the director and president of each of ORIX (China)
Investment Company Limited and ORIX Asia Capital Limited,
both of which are wholly-owned subsidiaries of ORIX, and the

a substantial shareholder of the

director and the chief executive officer of ORIX China Industrial
Holdings Limited, which is an affiliate of ORIX. He is also a non-
executive director of Beijing Energy International Holding Co.,
Ltd. and China Water Affairs Group Limited, both of which are
being listed on the Stock Exchange. He was a non-executive
director of Haichang Ocean Park Holdings Ltd., a company
listed on the Stock Exchange (resigned on 3 July 2023).

Mr. Peng Jihai, aged 55, was appointed as a Non-executive
Director of the Company on 25 May 2023 and is also a
member of the Remuneration Committee of the Company. He
obtained a Bachelor degree in Agricultural Finance and Credit
Specialization from Central Institute of Finance and Banking
(now known as Central University of Finance and Economics)
in 1993 and obtained a postgraduate diploma in Monetary
Banking from Graduate School of Chinese Academy of Social
Sciences and an EMBA from Tsinghua University in 1998 and
2017 respectively. Mr. Peng is a CPA of The Chinese Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Peng is an executive director,
co-chief executive officer and deputy general manager, chief
financial officer, head of investment and chief investment
officer of Sunshine Insurance Group Company Limited, a
company listed on the Stock Exchange. He also serves as the
chairman of Sunshine Surety Insurance Company Limited (B¢
ERREBRERMBRAT) and the director and the general
manager of Sunshine Asset Management Corporation Limited

BHEEEERMNARAR).

DIRECTORS' BIOGRAPHIES
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DIRECTORS' BIOGRAPHIES
EEBEN

Mr. Ho Gilbert Chi Hang, aged 48, was appointed as a Non-
executive Director of the Company on 21 May 2018 and is
also a member of the Audit Committee of the Company.
He holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree and a Bachelor of
Laws degree from University of Sydney, Australia and was
admitted as a solicitor in New South Wales, Australia and
England and Wales and as a solicitor and barrister in the High
Court of Australia. Mr. Ho is also a fellow member of CPA
Australia. He is a member of General Committee and the Vice
Chairman of the China Committee of Hong Kong General
Chamber of Commerce, the Vice Chairperson of the Chamber
of Hong Kong Listed Companies, the Deputy Chairman of
the Greater Bay Area Committee of CPA Australia, a member
of the Hong Kong Logistics Development Council, a member
of the Advisory Council on Career Development of Hong
Kong University of Science and Technology, and a standing
committee member of the Youth Federation of Inner Mongolia.
He was also a committee member of the Industry Advisory
Committee of Insurance Authority from June 2020 to May
2022 and a committee member of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference of Shenyang from December 2007
to December 2021. Mr. Ho is the executive director and co-
chief executive officer of CTF Services Limited (formerly known
as NWS Holdings Limited, a substantial shareholder of the
Company) and an independent non-executive director of each
of Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited and Kam Hing
International Holdings Limited, all being listed on the Stock
Exchange. He is also a director and co-chief executive officer
of Chow Tai Fook Enterprises Limited (a substantial shareholder
of the Company) and an executive director of New World
Development Company Limited, which is listed on the Stock
Exchange (an associate of a substantial shareholder of the
Company). He was the senior investment director of New World
Development Company Limited and an executive director of
New World Strategic Investment Limited, and was also a non-
executive director of Wai Kee Holdings Limited, which is listed
on the Stock Exchange (resigned on 26 June 2024). Mr. Ho was
also a partner of an international law firm Fried, Frank, Harris,
Shriver & Jacobson LLP. Mr. Ho has extensive experience in the
area of corporate management, investments, corporate finance,
merger and acquisition transactions and international brand
and retail management.
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Mr. Liu Jingwei, aged 57, was appointed as a Non-executive
Director of the Company on 6 January 2018 and is also
a member of the Audit Committee of the Company. He
graduated from the School of Economics of Beijing Forestry
University in 1989 and from Shanghai Advanced Institute of
Finance with a Master degree in 2016. Mr. Liu is a PRC Certified
Public Accountant. He currently serves as a senior partner
of Shinewing Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Liu is also an
independent non-executive director of Sino-Ocean Group
Holding Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange, an
independent director of Beijing Yanjing Brewery Co., Ltd., a
company listed on Shenzhen Stock Exchange, an independent
director of Hubei Huagiang High-tech Co., Ltd., a company
listed on Shanghai Stock Exchange and an external director
of China Beijing Tong Ren Tang Group Co., Ltd. He was an
external director of Shougang Group, an independent director
of Guiyang Longmaster Information & Technology Co., Ltd.
(retired on 10 March 2023) and Beiling StarNeto Technology
Co., Ltd. (retired on 23 May 2024), both of which are being
listed on Shenzhen Stock Exchange, an independent non-
executive director of each of AVIC Joy Holdings (HK) Limited
(resigned on 31 January 2022) and China Nonferrous Mining
Corporation Limited (resigned on 27 December 2023), both are
listed on the Stock Exchange.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Wang Xin, aged 47, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company on 18 May 2018 and,
is also a member and the chairman of the Audit Committee
of the Company and a member of each of the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the Company.
He received his Ph.D. degree in Accounting from Duke
University in 2006 and obtained a Bachelor degree and a
Master degree in Accounting from Tsinghua University in 1999
and 2001 respectively. Dr. Wang is a CPA of CPA Australia.
He is a professor of accounting at the Faculty of Business and
Economics, The University of Hong Kong (“HKU"). Dr. Wang
joined HKU in 2011 and was awarded a tenured position by
HKU for his excellent academic performance in 2014. Before
he joined HKU, Dr. Wang worked at The Chinese University of
Hong Kong from 2006 to 2011. He has research interests in the
fields of executive compensation, financial disclosure quality,
corporate governance and insider trading. Dr. Wang's papers
were published on various world leading academic journals,
such as Journal of Accounting and Economics, The Accounting
Review, Contemporary Accounting Research and Review of
Accounting Studies. Dr. Wang has teaching experience in
several accounting courses, including Introductory Financial
Accounting, Intermediate Financial Accounting | and II, and
Management Accounting. Dr. Wang is also an independent
director of Kweichow Moutai Co., Ltd. (stock code: 600519), a
company listed on Shanghai Stock Exchange.
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Mr. Choi Fan Keung Vic, aged 60, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company on
18 May 2018 and is also a member of each of the Audit
Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the Company.
He obtained a Bachelor degree, Postgraduate Certificate and
a Master degree in Laws from HKU in 1997, 1998 and 2001
respectively. Mr. Choi is a solicitor of the High Court of Hong
Kong. He also serves as a consultant at Howse Williams.
Mr. Choi is also an independent non-executive director of
SouthGobi Resources Ltd., a company listed on the Stock
Exchange and TSX Venture Exchange. Mr. Choi served as
deputy head of compliance, area compliance officer in China
and head of compliance with HSBC Bank (China) Co. Ltd.,
where he managed over 160 compliance officers and was
responsible for regulatory compliance and prevention and
control of financial crime in over 60 cities in China. He worked
at Clifford Chance and Herbert Smith and was specialized in
compliance, anti-money laundering, anti-fraud and corporate
finance and other advisory work. Mr. Choi served in the Hong
Kong Police Force and was a senior inspector. He has over 30
years of experience in compliance management, prevention
and control of commercial crime and investigation, and has
extensive experience in legal practice and, crime investigation
and prosecution.
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Mr. Deng Yougao, aged 58, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company on 18 May 2018 and
is also a member of each of the Audit Committee and the
Nomination Committee of the Company. He obtained a Master
degree in Business Economics from Institute of Finance and
Economics of Jiangxi CIFARIA&ZPE, now known as Jiangxi
University of Finance and Economics) in 1994 and a Bachelor
degree in Shipbuilding Engineering from Harbin Shipbuilding
Engineering Institute (FAEI/BRIAR TP, now known as
Harbin Engineering University) in 1988. Mr. Deng is a director
of Shenzhen Henggu Nano Technology Co. Ltd. CEIINE E 4K
B R AT, the executive director and the general manager
of Guangdong Henggu Jiaye Nano Technology Co. Ltd. (&
HIEEEZEMKRE B AT (formerly known as Shengshi
Henggu Holdings (Shenzhen) Co. Ltd. (B%tEE A% GEII) B
FR/AE])), the executive partner of Shengshi Henggu (Shenzhen)
Administrative Center (Limited Partnership) (BttEE GFI)
FEFAL (BEREH)) and a supervisor of Shanghai Tianyun
Nano Technology Co., Ltd. (EBXKEMAREBRAE]) . He is
also an independent non-executive director of Success Dragon
International Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock
Exchange. Mr. Deng has numerous experiences in different roles
in various companies in different industries.
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Ms. Zhang Quanling, aged 51, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company on 6
January 2018 and is also a member and the chairlady of the
Remuneration Committee of the Company and a member of
each of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee
of the Company. She holds a Bachelor degree in Arts. Ms.
Zhang joined China Central Television in 1997 and has hosted
the famous programmes such as “Oriental Horizon” and
“Focus Interview"”. She participated in numerous news live
coverage and was awarded the “Golden Microphone Awards”,
the “Golden Eagle Awards”, the “Fan Changjiang Journalism
Award”, the most prestigious journalism award in China, and
the 19th “Top Ten Outstanding Chinese Youths”. Ms. Zhang
is the founding partner of Ziniu Fund (&4 E%) and the
chairlady of Cool Youth (Tianjin) Culture Communication Co.,
Ltd. (BB EFE (RB) XEEHEABEMR AT . She has extensive
experience in news media, brand building and strategic
planning.

Ms. Zhuge Wenjing, aged 47, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company on 28
May 2021 and is also a member of the Audit Committee of
the Company. She obtained a Bachelor degree from Renmin
University of China and a Master of Business Administration
degree from each of the Kellogg School of Business at
Northwestern University in the United States and the Hong
Kong University of Science and Technology School respectively.
She is currently a director of GLP China Holdings Limited
("GLP") which is a public limited company incorporated in
Hong Kong, an executive vice chairman of GLP China, the
chairman of executive committee and the president of China
at GLP Capital Partners, who is responsible for strategic
planning, investment and financing, legal affairs, internal audit
and human resources management in China. She has served
as the co-president and chief financial officer of GLP China
responsible for fund management, capital allocation, mergers
and acquisitions and strategic cooperation in China, as well as
financial and human resources management. Prior to joining
GLP, Ms. Zhuge worked in Morgan Stanley Asset Management
Company and Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEERAAD N

COMPANY OVERVIEW

In 2024, as an intelligent infrastructure asset service provider in
China, the Group leveraged its years of accumulated expertise
in asset operation and FIME (FIME is defined as fundraising,
investment, management and exit) to actively deploy in
intelligent infrastructure assets with long-term value. The
Group further expanded its asset management scale in areas

such as parking mobility, as well as industrial parks.

On one hand, the Group actively promotes a comprehensive
intelligent upgrade of its asset management system through
iterative enhancements. By transitioning to digitalized and
intelligent operations, it enhances operational efficiency while
simultaneously achieving asset appreciation. On the other
hand, through deep cultivation and accumulation in the real
estate investment trusts (“REITs") industry, the Group has
established strong connections between capital and assets,
accelerating the shift toward an “asset acquisition — operational
efficiency enhancement — asset securitization — capital return”
asset circulation model. This marks the completion of its
transformation from “Asset Circulation + Strong Operations”
to the stage of “Asset Circulation + Digital Intelligence” model,
further strengthening the Group’s full-cycle management
capabilities in the infrastructure asset lifecycle, including

fundraising, investment, management, and exit strategies.

Additionally, starting with the Beijing Robot Industry
(bRt E:
“Beijing Robot Fund”) with

Development Investment Fund (Limited Partnership)*
ANEXEZERLEEE (FRER)(
a scale of RMB10 billion which the Group manages, the Group
has taken the newly established Beijing Shoucheng Robot
Ltd* QR EREEBARKEERR

‘A7) ("Robot Company”) as a foundation to deeply invest in

Technology Industry Co.,

the robot industry. Through a triple empowerment model of
"building a foundation with capital + providing scenarios for
implementation + serving the industry”, the Group promotes
the deep integration of “capital + industry”. It aims to create
a value hub that connects the innovation chain and the
industrial chain, building a complete robot industry ecosystem

encompassing “investment, production, and services”.

*  for identification purpose only
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In the field of parking mobility, the Group newly obtained
the operation rights for the Guangzhou Baiyun International
Airport Parking Operation Rights Project* (&M B = E 15
FEBKEEIEH), Tibet Lhasa Gonggar International Airport
Parking Lot Project* (AE NI EEREKIKSZEEHREE),
and Tianjin Binhai International Airport Parking Lot Project*
(REZBEEHKIZEEIZIER)In 2024. This establishes the
Group's leading position in the field of airport parking. In 2024,
the Group remained committed to implementing its strategy
of strengthening regional companies and deeply cultivating
regional markets. In key areas such as the Beijing-Tianjin-
Hebei region, the Chengdu-Chongqging region, the East China
region, and the Greater Bay Area, the Group gradually secured
parking projects for large commercial centers, hospital facilities,
and charging station projects, further expanding its asset
management scale for “parking + charging”.

In the field of industrial parks, the Group’'s first customized
project, the Li Auto Headquarters Phase Il Project* 324875
4858 —HEIEH), became fully operational in the first quarter of
2024. The Group manages projects such as Chang'an Mills* (7X
T[&), Shougang Winter Olympic Plaza* (H#lLHBER),
and Rongshi Square* (B E¥3), with a steadily increasing
occupancy rate. The business formats include various types
such as commercial, industrial, and apartment spaces, providing
abundant application scenarios for robot companies and
attracting enterprises like Narwal Intelligence* (E#R%EE) to
settle in. Additionally, the Group collaborated with China World
Property & Hotel Management Limited to set up a property
company, with its business gradually expanding into a full
industry chain model encompassing “investment + construction
+ commercial management + property management.”

*  for identification purpose only
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEERAAD N

In terms of financial data, in 2024, the Group recorded revenue
of approximately HK$1,215 million, representing an increase of
approximately 37.5% compared to the same period last year,
the profit attributable to owners of the Company amounted
to approximately HK$410 million, representing an increase of
approximately 1.5% compared to the same period last year.
The Group continues to maintain a healthy asset structure
with ample financial reserves. The Group’s financial leverage
remains stable, and the Debt — Equity ratio is maintained at a
low level of 15.9%. The two leading domestic rating agencies
in China, China Chengxin International Credit Rating Co., Ltd
and China Lianhe Credit Rating Co., Ltd, continue to assign the
Group a principal rating of AAA. At the same time, the Group
continued to expand diversified financing methods. In May
2024, the Group successfully issued the first tranche of 3-year
medium-term notes with an issuance scale of RMB500 million
at a coupon rate of 2.5%, setting a record low interest rate of
the same maturity period for overseas registered enterprises in
Beijing. This provides the Group with low-cost financial support
and lays a solid credit foundation for the entire chain of the
Group's infrastructure asset management business.
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS REVIEW

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEERAAD R

B B2 R 5 e 1R AL B2

For the year ended

31 December

H#E12B318LLEE
2024 2023
HKS$ million HK$ million
BEHET B EETT
Revenue WA 1,215 883
Including: Revenue from asset operation Hrf . BEEZEEWA 921 658
Revenue from FIME" BHERMBIAA 294 225
Adjusted EBITDA* KB ELEBITDA™ 854 671
Operating profit S =pingl 612 635
Profit attributable to the owners of the KRBVHEE NEIEEF
Company 410 404
For the year ended
31 December
HBE12B31BLEE
2024 2023
HK cents HK cents
Al =3l
Basic and diluted earnings per share SREANFEERT 5.76 5.57
As at 31 December
128318
2024 2023
HKS$ million HK$ million
BEHET B EETT
Total assets BEERE 13,829 13,523
Net assets BEEFE 9,516 10,041
Asset — Liability ratio* BEEaGALEX 31.2% 25.7%
Debt — Equity ratio” BEEARLES 15.9% 8.0%
A FIME is defined as fundraising, investment, management and exit. BEEMBRAREE KE BEERKERY
e The calculation of Adjusted EBITDA is set out in page 27 of this  * BRAKAEMNEBITDANS E&RHINNAREHE
report. 278
# The calculation of Asset — Liability ratio is set out in page 35 of this  * EREEABBIEENFEHRIINEARSEE3S
report. El
a The calculation of Debt — Equity ratio is set out in page 36 of this 2 BB EEREENAERINEAREFE36
report. =]
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEERAAD N

Non-HKFRSs Measures

Profit before income tax plus non-controlling interest, finance
costs, depreciation, and amortisation is defined as the adjusted
EBITDA (the “Adjusted EBITDA") of the Group. The Adjusted
EBITDA is presented because it is used by management to
evaluate operating performance. The calculation of Adjusted
EBITDA is set out in page 27 of this report.

The total liabilities divided by total assets is defined as the Asset
— Liability ratio (the "Asset — Liability ratio”) of the Group.
The Asset — Liability ratio is presented because it is used by
management to evaluate the Group’s debt level. The calculation
of Asset — Liability ratio is set out in page 35 of this report.

The total debts divided by capital and reserves attributable to
owners of the Company is defined as the Debt — Equity ratio
(the "Debt - Equity ratio”) of the Group. The Debt — Equity
ratio is presented because it is used by management to evaluate
how the Group utilise its debts for financing the business and
operations for growth. The calculation of Debt — Equity ratio is
set out in page 36 of this report.

The Adjusted EBITDA, Asset — Liability ratio and Debt — Equity
ratio are used as additional financial measures to supplement
the Group’s consolidated financial statements which are
presented in accordance with HKFRSs.

The Group believes that the Adjusted EBITDA, Asset — Liability
ratio and Debt — Equity ratio provide meaningful supplemental
information regarding the Group’s performance and the core
operating results, enhance the overall understanding of the
Group's past performance and future prospects and allow
for greater visibility with respect to key metrics used by the
Group’s management in its financial and operational decision-
making. It would help the investors of the Company and other
stakeholders understand and evaluate the Group's consolidated
results of operations in the same manner as management
and in comparing financial results across different accounting
periods.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The year ended 31 December 2024 compared to the year
ended 31 December 2023:

Revenue and Cost of Sales

The Group's revenue mainly consists of revenue from asset
operation and revenue from FIME. Revenue from asset
operation includes the industry-based operation services, as
well as the service income of various technologies, consulting,
research, innovation and value-adding and other services
generated surround the core infrastructure asset services.
Revenue from FIME includes comprehensive income generated
from the management and investment of funds.

The Group recorded revenue of approximately HK$1,215 million
in 2024 which increased approximately 37.5% as compared
with the revenue of approximately HK$883 million last year.
Revenue from asset operation in 2024 was approximately
HK$921 million, representing an increase of approximately
40.0% as compared to the same period last year. Revenue
from FIME in 2024 was approximately HK$294 million,
representing an increase of approximately 30.7% as compared
to the same period last year. The overall gross profit margin
in 2024 was approximately 41.7%, representing an increase
of 1.0% in absolute value as compared to the previous year
at approximately 40.7%. The Group focused on improving
the internal operation and management system which further
enhanced efficiency, and gradually increased the overall gross
profit of asset operation.

Finance costs

During the year, finance costs of the Group amounted to
HK$116 million, representing an increase of 10.0% compared
to last year. The finance costs are mainly attributable to the
interest on lease liabilities arising from the adoption of HKFRS
16 — Leases and interest on borrowings. The increase in finance
costs was primarily attributed to the interest increase generated
by lease liabilities during the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEERAAD N

Taxation

Provision for income tax expense amounting to approximately
HK$86 million was made for the year ended 31 December
2024, while provision for income tax expense of approximately
HK$7 million was made for the previous year.

Income tax expenses mainly include the enterprise income tax
calculated at a tax rate mainly of 25% for the Group’s major
subsidiaries incorporated in China.

Adjusted EBITDA

The Adjusted EBITDA attempts to represent cash profit
generated by the core operations by stripping out the 1) non-
cash items, including depreciation and amortisation; 2) income
tax expenses depending on different tax rates in different
countries; 3) finance costs depending on the Group's capital
structure and not directly attributable to the Group's core
operating results; and 4) non-controlling interest, which is not
directly attributable to owners of the Company.

During the year, the Adjusted EBITDA of the Group amounted

to HK$854 million, representing an increase of 27.3% as
compared to HK$671 million last year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The following table reconciles the Group’s profit before income
tax to Adjusted EBITDA for the years presented:

EEREm AR

TREINREINFEELREBNRMERAE
F) B AL S EEBITDARY B BR

For the year ended
31 December

HE12B31HILLEE
2024 2023
HKS$ million HK$ million

EEHET BEHET

Profit before income tax

1. Non-controlling interests

2. Finance costs

3. Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment

4. Depreciation of right-of-use assets

5. Amortisation of other non-current assets

Adjusted EBITDA

PRPRISIRATEF) 474 466
1. R R Ew 7 (72)
2. HB A 116 106
3.ME-BERREITE

23 17
A EPREBEINE 202 132
5. H 3R & E# 32 22
#SAEEBITDA 854 671
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREmLE D

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

Driven by both asset scale expansion and
operational efficiency improvement, the Group
achieves its “asset circulation + strong operation”
business model through asset securitization.

In 2024, the Group efficiently completed the Guangzhou
Baiyun International Airport Parking Operation Rights
Project* (BB EEMRHIZFEESHZE#IER) and the Beijing
Fengtai Station Parking Lot Project* (It RE A ILEEIBIER)
in the first quarter of 2024. The Group subsequently secured
two major domestic airport parking projects: the Tibet Lhasa
Gonggar International Airport Parking Lot Project* (PRI
EEE#ISEERZIEE) and the Tianjin Binhai International
Airport Parking Lot Project* (RKiZE EEMREIZEELIE
BH). With the full opening of the Xi'an Xianyang International
Airport terminal during the Spring Festival in 2025, the T5
Terminal Parking Lot Project* (TSARISIE{ZEIZIER), which the
Group participated in constructing, managing and operating,
was also officially put into operation. This further solidified
the Group’s leading position in transportation hub parking
asset management. The Group’s transportation hub parking
asset management business has achieved a transformation
from points to lines, and from lines to surfaces, completing a
comprehensive nationwide network layout that spans the “east,
south, west, north, and central” regions.

EF5OEE
EERERREAEERNEHRED BB
BEEAFCERBERRRES I BEE
X

2024F  #—FESMEREMNBEERR
GIEESKEREENIIREQIEERE
BNEERER AERREHEARIE
BEERSEFEESEEMX B SEKRKEGE
EREEMABENEERIGEERER
BEE20255 HFH AR 7 2 AL 5 B IR 1 5 A ik
BOEREN A5EE2ARRITEEES
WTSHILIBFEESEEHEARAZEE &
—SRETAERAERBRABEFEHZEE
EEEBNREAMMU AEEEREEE
BEREEEEXFERME RN HE
EREEEE REALPI 2 UERER
NEHMRE -

Guangzhou Baiyun International Airport Parking Operation

Tibet Lhasa Gonggar International Airport Parking Lot Project

Rights Project EENEE RIS EEIZER
EMNOEREEEISEEBEEEER
*  For identification purpose only * (EHEE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

At the same time, the Group has continued to invest in
operational technology and actively promoted its digital and
intelligent transformation, completing the comprehensive
iterative optimization of the parking management system
“SONIC V3"* (ZREEEV3). At the beginning of 2025, the
Group fully embraced the Al era by integrating the SONIC* (3&
§2%) system with DeepSeek. Through the combination of “Al
+ operations management” and “Al + customer service”, it
optimized parking dispatch, enhanced license plate recognition
efficiency, improved vehicle entry and exit management, and
elevated user service standards. This facilitated a comprehensive
upgrade of “smart parking operations”, boosting parking asset
operational efficiency while achieving asset appreciation.

In 2024, there has been a significant improvement in
operational cash flow and income levels of eight high quality
parking asset projects in the Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei region,
the Chengdu-Chongqging region and the Greater Bay Area.
In December 2024, the Group successfully issued the second
tranche of parking asset REITs with a priority interest rate of
2.4%, which further completed its transformation from a
“heavy asset + strong operation” model to an “asset circulation
loop + strong operation” model.

Empowerment and collaboration of FIME and asset
operation to build a comprehensive robot industry
ecosystem

From the perspective of industrial investment, relying on the
RMB10 billion Beijing Robot Fund established with its strategic
shareholder Beijing State-owned Capital Operation and
Management Company Limited, the Group is actively engaged
in the robot industry. With keen market insight, forward-
looking strategic vision, and the core concept of “investing
in technology, attracting chain leaders, and strengthening
empowerment”, as of the date of this report, Beijing Robot
Fund has invested in more than ten innovative companies,
including Unitree Robotics, GALBOT, Galaxea Al, X-Magtech
Technologies, Wisson Robotics, and Volant. The investment
portfolio comprehensively covers frontier areas such as
humanoid robots, medical robots, and industrial robots.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREmLE D

From the perspective of scenario implementation, the Group
manages parking lots nationwide and projects in Beijing such
as Chang’an Mills* (XTE&), Shougang Winter Olympic Plaza*
(ML BEE), and Rongshi Square* (BEAE), covering
various business industries including commercial, industrial
parks, and apartments. These locations can provide real-world
verification scenarios for cleaning, security, and guidance
robots. By feeding back real operational data to robot products
for upgrading, the Group aims to connect the entire chain
of "technology verification — product upgrading - large-scale
application”.
of “capital + industry” and accelerates the commercialization

This approach promotes the deep integration

process of high-quality companies, including humanoid robots.

EHEREMEE  AEETE2EAMNEER
ERNUEREIRTEEN A ATIE SHLE
B ROESTHEHEEERE - EEXE -2
BEZBER IR BR LM 3 EHEA
SREZERESS  BREEEEHER
S AERER B RMRE-ERE
H-RERAI 2B EHEE+EXI AR
EME MEALKSASEELENEE
{E#ER -

Chang’an Mills
NILEE

From the perspective of industrial services, the Group
established Robot Company in 2025. Through in-depth services
such as sales agency, leasing business, industry consultation,
and supply chain management, the Group strengthens post-
investment empowerment and promotes the application and
implementation of high-quality robot companies and products.

*  For identification purpose only
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Market value of public REITs reached historic
high, full-cycle asset management capabilities of
"fundraising, investment, management and exit”
based on REITs have been further deepened

In 2023, the secondary market for REITs was affected by
pessimistic sentiment and weak liquidity, leading to an
excessive drop in market prices. At that time, the Group
remained firmly optimistic about Chinese assets and continued
to adhere to the infrastructure REITs-based ecosystem layout
of “fundraising, investment, management, and exit”. In 2024,
the China Securities Regulatory Commission and the National
Development and Reform Commission introduced a series of
favorable policies regarding public offering REITs. These policies
have made the issuance of public offering REITs smoother and
more efficient. At the same time, the market risk-free interest
rates further declined, highlighting the dividend advantages
of REITs. Large-scale long-term funds, such as insurance and
FOF (Fund of Funds) funds, gradually entered the REITs market.
Under multiple advantageous conditions, the market valuation
of REITs increased, emphasizing the investment value of REITs.

The urban development infrastructure funds managed by the
Group focus on the four core regions where the Group has
a strong presence: the Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei region, the East
China region, the Chengdu-Chongqging region, and the Greater
Bay Area. The funds reserve high-quality existing infrastructure
assets in areas such as car parking, industrial parks, rental
housing, and consumer infrastructure. In the future, relying on
the Group’s extensive experience in asset operation and FIME,
the funds will continuously enhance asset value. They aim to
achieve full-cycle management of infrastructure assets through
various means of exit such as market-based bulk transactions,
asset securitization, and public REITs.

EEREm AR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREmLE D

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk and
price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall
risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability
of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse
effects on the Group’s financial performance. The Company
manages its financial risks in accordance with guidelines laid
down by its Board. The Group identifies and evaluates financial
risks in close co-operation within the Group to cope with
overall risk management, as well as aforementioned specific

financial risks.

Currency risk

The Group conducts its businesses mainly in Hong Kong and
China,
of HK dollars, US dollars and Renminbi. To minimise currency

it is subject to the foreign exchange fluctuation risks

exposure, foreign currency assets are usually financed in
the same currency as the asset or cash flow from it through
borrowings.

Details of currency risk for the financial year ended 31
December 2024 are set out in note 3.1(a) to the consolidated
financial statements.

Interest rate risk

The Group holds interest bearing assets and liabilities including
cash at banks, financial assets at amortised costs, borrowings
and bond payables. The Group is mainly exposed to cash flow
interest rate risk in relation to variable-rate bank balances and
borrowings.

Details of interest rate risk for the financial year ended 31

December 2024 are set out in note 3.1(a) to the consolidated
financial statements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The capital structure of the Group consists of borrowings, bond
payables and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

The Board review the capital structure on a semi-annual basis.
Based on recommendations of the Board, the Group will
balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues and share buybacks as well as the
issuance of new debts or the redemption of existing debts.

EEREm AR

BAEE

AEBEXAEHRBEGER BUESFURSE
AREAANEEED (BREEHTRE R H
) o

AEEESEENRAAEEASERET
LB RS AEEREE FH AR
2 7 4 8 25 R 5 75 SR IR A [B1 3 o K 4 [ BB
Y BRI R

EXEE¥ERT —RELXRB-FEEE
REBEESFETHERZ BERUKRE ETH
B~ EIERMO U ETHENREIBEERE
DU EHBEERGERE-

HERZRARAT 2024FFR 33



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEERAAD N

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCING RESOURCES

The Group aims to diversify its funding sources through
utilisation of both banking and capital markets. To the extent
possible, financing is arranged to match business characteristics
and cash flows.

The assets with high liquidity and financing resources of the
Group as at 31 December 2024 as compared to 31 December

2023 are summarised below:

1. Assets with high liquidity

RBEERMBER

FEBRNEBRTREFTHEIHEESR
BE-MERFRBIEESETHRERER

EREBIBER

ANEFEPR2024F12831H » HEE2023F 124
3TEHMNERSEEERTFERBEREOT

1. SRINEE

As at As at

31 December 31 December
2024 2023
7202445 1220234
12831H 12H31H
HKS$ million HKS$ million

EEEET BEEET

Bank balances and cash RITHF RIS

2,622 2,263

Wealth management products and BYERKERECREE

fixed income financial assets
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Asset - Liability ratio
As at 31 December 2024, the Asset — Liability ratio
of the Group is 31.2%, representing an increase of

absolute value of 5.5% as compared to 31 December
2023.

The following table shows the Group’s total liabilities
and total assets for the years presented:

EEREm AR

BEEAMRALEER

R2024F12B31H KXEBEEERE
FEEERA31.2% BEHERK2023F128
31H EF5.5%

TREIINR2VNEAFENEBRER
BERE:

As at 31 December

128318
2024 2023
HKS$ million HK$ million

EEHET BB T

Total liabilities BEEE
Total assets BEMBE
Asset-Liability ratio BEEABLE

Debt - Equity ratio

As at 31 December 2024, the Debt — Equity ratio of the
Group is 15.9%, representing an increase of absolute
value of 7.9% as compared to 31 December 2023.

4,313 3,482
13,829 13,523
31.2% 25.7%
BEEALEE

EEEB15.9%  BHEK20235F127
31H EFA7.9%-
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEERAAD N
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The following table shows the Group’s total borrowings

and capital and reserves attributable to owners of the

Company for the years presented:

TREIR 2N EAFEFEBER
MEKRKTABER NEIGRA R

As at 31 December

R12A31H
2024 2023
HKS million HK$ million
BEEET BEEET
Total borrowings famiME 1,496 793
Including: Borrowings — non-current and HA - ERSRRE
current (Note (a)) (Bf#a) 397 609
Bond payable - non-current and FEfI B —IERB ROmE
current (Note (b) & (c)) (Bfa#b)%(c) 1,099 184
Capital and reserves attributable to EATRBEAEBERERHE
owners of the Company 9,421 9,923
Debt - Equity ratio BEELLE 15.9% 8.0%
Note (a)  Borrowings Hiat(a) &R
As at 31 December 2024, the balance of the Group's HE2024F128310 &£ &R
term loan financing from banks was approximately TEHERMERBENABIE
HK$397 million, which was mainly due to the bank 3978 TEXRBEREILRAKE
loan obtained for the investment in the operation rights B EIZEEEEEEmETH
of the Beijing Daxing International Airport Parking RITEM o
Building* (It R A BLEPR B (ZEH1E) .
Note (b)  3-year medium-term notes Ktatb) SEHAREZE
In May 2024, the company issued 3-year medium- R2024F58 A AT UEBAIE
term notes with an issuance scale of RMB500 million 2. 5% M BRETREARESET
(equivalent to approximately HK$530 million) at a (FBELAB5.30ET) W3EH
coupon rate of 2.5%. FREAEER o
Note (c) Parking asset Quasi-REITs Structured Asset Securitization Kat(c) EEEEMERETSEEBEES ST

Product.

As at 31 December 2024, the balance of the Quasi-
REITs Structured Asset Securitization Product issued
by the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary E Park
Investment Management Co., Ltd.* (B2{2E (JtR) RE
BEIE AR/ T) was approximately HK$569 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD

Save as disclosed below, there were no other significant

investments held by the Group during the year.

EEREm AR

REEAKRE

BRUATIREESN  EAFE  AEE L E
BEARE-

HAth$F

Proportion of

Proportion and unit of issued shares fair value to Unrealised
Investment subscription fund units the total assets fair value Dividends
Name of entity cost held by the Group Fair value to the Group (losses)/gains received
HEERE AREE FER
BETRHHUERLA HEEE ARBEELY
G RERE DRESHERILA AREE BEELA (B58) /&7 S KR
As at For the year ended
31 December 2024 31 December 2024
1#2024512A318 HE2024F12831HLERE

Shougang Fushan Resources Group Limited HKS B 774,743,000 15.22% HKS A 14.06% HKS & HKS B
("Shougang Resources”) (Note a) 1,834,347,000 1,944,606,000 (286,655,000) 209,181,000

ERRLEREMERAR (THREHR)) (Wta)

CICC GLP Warehousing and Logistics Closed Infrastructure RMB 150,000,000 7.74% RMB 3.83% RMB RMB
Securities Investment Fund* (the "CICC GLP REIT 583,500,000 500,250,000 (11,250,000) 28,422,000
fund") (Note b)

FEERIMAHBAERERESREES
(Th& L RIRETES ) (Wath)

As at For the year ended
31 December 2023 31 December 2023
120238128318 HEWBENANBLEE

Shougang Resources (Note a) HKS 1 774,743,000 15.72% HKS B 16.50% HKS A HKS B

EREE () 1,834,347,000 2,231,261,000 302,150,000 319,384,000

CICC GLP REIT fund (Note b) RVB AR 160,170,000 8.26% RMB AR 4.43% RVB AR RMB AE

T ERIRETES (H20) 626,500,000 546,181,000 (306,639,000) 32,211,000

Looking forward, the Board believes that the strategic

RERK ZEZGHEERBRRERBNIAE

investments will strive to generate stable returns to the Group.  EEH KRBT LR

Note a  Shougang Resources Kizta BHRER
Shougang Resources is a company incorporated in Hong Kong BB RASEREMAIZERAR  HEH
with limited liability and the issued shares of which are listed on REBHMERZABRAB IR L BRHAR
the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited 55639 REINABEREER-
with stock code 639 and is a major hard coking coal producer in
Mainland China.

Note b CICC GLP REIT fund Hiztb REERHRETES

The CICC GLP REIT fund is an infrastructure fund established in
the PRC which mainly invests in projects of which warehousing
and logistics infrastructure projects are the final investment
targets. Its fund manager is CICC Fund Management Co.,
Ltd.* (P& EESEEARAB) and its fund units are listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange.

P ERIRETES AN P BRI OB RRE
22 TERENUARNYAERREER
PREREREERNEB -HESEEBARTSE
EcEEARAR BEMBEELEESXS
FrEme
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREmLE D

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS & DISPOSALS

There were no other material acquisitions or disposals by the
Group during the year.

EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

On 18 December 2024, Fine Power Group Limited, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a
sale and purchase agreement with Shougang Holding (Hong
Kong) Limited (“Shougang Holding"”), a connected person
of the Company, pursuant to which Fine Power Group Limited
has conditionally agreed to sell, and Shougang Holding has
conditionally agreed to purchase, 606,927,640 shares of
Shougang Resources, representing approximately 11.92% of
all the issued shares of Shougang Resources as at the date
of the sale and purchase agreement. The transaction was
completed on 3 February 2025. For details, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 18 December 2024,
27 January 2025 and 3 February 2025, and the circular of the
Company dated 11 January 2025.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

USE OF PROCEEDS

1.

On 10 August 2020, the Company completed
the subscription agreement (“Poly Platinum
Subscription”) with Poly Platinum Enterprises Limited
("Poly Platinum”), pursuant to which the Company
has conditionally agreed to issue, and Poly Platinum
conditionally agreed to subscribe for the 1% convertible
bonds, in the aggregate principal amount of HK$300
million, with net proceeds of approximately HK$295
million.

As at 31 December 2023, the Company has utilised
HK$146 million of the net proceeds from the Poly
Platinum Subscription. On 28 March 2024, the Company
decided to reallocate the amount of unutilised net
proceeds as at 31 December 2023 of HK$149 million,
such that HK$89 million and HK$60 million will be used
for the purpose of investing in the Group's infrastructure
asset management business and general working capital,
respectively (the “Reallocation”). The Reallocation
will give the Group a greater flexibility in cash flow
management, enrich its financial resources, and at the
same time reserve the right to use the unutilised net
proceeds for its original business development plan
when suitable opportunities arise. This also enables
the Group to satisfy its operational needs while seizing
market opportunities and optimizing the Group’s
business model.

EEREm AR

FRrSEZFEREBENR

1.

12020 8H10H » AR B 5ERLEPoly
Platinum Enterprises Limited (T Poly

PlatinumzB BB EIE)) > EIb A AT E
B & #h[E E B TmPoly PlatinumBAE
1R E BB FEF 1% A FHE
HoHASREBEIE T FIERE
FERN A B2 95@ T e

HZE2023F128318 > ARBEAEHA
Poly PlatinumzR 8 EH 2 FRIEMIEHN
ABME1 46T R2024FE3828H >
KABRAEENEE2023F12831H
HABBMEMIBFBENABE .49
BB ®RD A HPHNAB0.89E T
R ABEEBTONARKERE
E-ERSIMEEEREBERANR—
REEES ((ERRBBAMBRIED °
BRABAMERIEFEARD RN
EHEERALRNARBABEMER
BEFBEz2BENNEEREAEERB ZE
MENMEEEEXEEATAERSE
EMNBEEtREEEEEN BEHE
BENMBEER AERIENNEE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEERAAD N

40

As at 31

December 2024, the Group applied the

proceeds of the Poly Platinum Subscription in the

220245128318 AEE B Poly
PlatinumiB B EIEFTERIEEUTH

following manner: NEA
Amount of Amount of Expected
Amount of Amount of utilised unutilised timeline for
unutilised net unutilised net net proceeds net proceeds the use of
proceeds as at proceeds as at during the as at the unutilised
Amount of the 1 January 28 March year ended 31 December net proceeds
net proceeds 2024 before the 2024 after the 31 December 2024 after the after the
raised Reallocation Reallocation 2024 Reallocation Reallocation*
#2024
1420245 35288 120245
1818 ERARBA HE202E 12A318 BEXHA
BHABA FR{FTIB & E 1283188 HREA FRf§TRIE
FRIGRIEFERN BE PSR IB R XHA E®A FRIGRRIER BEMN
Intended use of net proceeds  HEMR FrigmIBEEE B8 FAfeRIESE FRgRmIEEE B8 BERER
HK$ million HK$ million HKS$ million HK$ million HK$ million
EEET EEEET EBEET EEHET EBEET
Financing the expansion of FEAREERNER 295 149 Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable
the Group's business in FEHTEBERK THEA TEA A TEA
management and operation of AE@EATAIH
car parking assets in
Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macau
Greater Bay Area and technology
innovation of the Group
Invest in the Group's infrastructure R E A& M2 HEE R - - 89 89 - Not applicable
asset management business BEEEEE FER
General working capital —REEES - - 60 60 - Not applicable
FER
Total st 295 149 149 149 -
# The full amount of the net proceeds of the Poly Platinum J KRB EZR U EFFBPoly Platinum

Subscription has been applied in accordance with the

indicative timetable set forth above.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EMPLOYEES RELATIONSHIP

The Group had a total of 450 employees as at 31 December
2024. All subsidiaries of the Group promote equal employment
opportunities. The Group strictly complies with regulations of
state and local governments and adopts a fair, just, and open
recruitment process in order to provide employees with an
equal, diverse and discrimination-free working environment.
In the process of recruitment, training and promotion, the
Group provides equal treatment to all candidates to safeguard
employees’ rights and interests.

The Group's remuneration policy is to ensure that employees
receive a fair and competitive overall remuneration package.
Based on the principle of “competitive externally, fair
internally”, the Group has established a remuneration incentive
mechanism with “fixed salary as basis and performance linked
remuneration as main component” that is based on factors
such as position value, ability, and contribution to performance
etc, in order to motivate and retain existing employees. By
making full use of a variety of long and short term incentives,
the Group seeks to attract and retain talented employees to
achieve the Group’s strategic goals together.

Remuneration package is designed based on the practices of
the locations of the Group's various businesses.

Remuneration package for Hong Kong employees includes
salary, discretionary bonus, project bonus, medical allowance,
hospital insurance and share incentive plan to subscribe for
the Company’s ordinary shares. All Hong Kong subsidiaries of
the Company provide retirement fund scheme for Hong Kong
employees as part of employee welfare.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEERAAD N

Remuneration package for Mainland China employees includes
salary, discretionary bonus, project bonus, medical allowance
and share incentive plan to subscribe for the Company’s
ordinary shares as part of employee welfare. In order to fully
cover the needs of employees, the Group also provides social
insurance welfare (i.e. pension insurance, medical insurance,
unemployment insurance, work injury insurance, maternity
insurance and housing provident fund) as well as annual
medical check for all employees according to state regulations.

In addition, to strengthen employees’ sense of belonging,
the Group arranges a variety of recreational activities for
all employees, to strengthen team cohesion, and a town
hall meeting to commend excellent individual and team

performances.

PROSPECTS

Looking forward to the future, the Group will further intensify
its investment efforts in core regions, focused industries and
assets, it will deeply engage in the robot industry, building a
comprehensive robot industry ecosystem. Through the Group’s
core capabilities in asset operation and FIME, it will create a
closed-loop service for the full lifecycle of infrastructure assets,

continuing to generate long-term returns for shareholders.

Intensify investment efforts in core regions, focused
industries and assets

The Group will continue to strengthen its regional companies,
upgrade resource allocation in the Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei region,
the Chengdu-Chongqging region, the East China region,
and the Greater Bay Area, and strengthen cooperation with
strategic customers and local government platforms. It will also
thoroughly explore regional resource endowments, intensify
investments in core Chinese assets with long-term stable
cash returns and high potential, such as parking and mobility
business, industrial parks, rental housing, and consumption-
oriented infrastructure assets. At the same time, it will increase
investment in industries of new quality productive forces such

as robotics, new materials, and smart manufacturing.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Driven by the dual engines of infrastructure asset
and robotics industry investments to promote
efficient synergy across different businesses

Leveraging the investments of the Beijing Robot Fund in
the robot industry, the Group will enhance post-investment
empowerment through its Robot Company, it will provide
in-depth services to robotics enterprises, including leasing
business, sales agency, industry consulting, and supply chain
management. By utilising existing managed parking lots,
industrial parks, consumer infrastructure assets and apartments,
the Group will offer a replicable “scenario + service” model for
robotics enterprises, aiding in product iteration and upgrades.
This will also further enhance the digital and intelligent
management level of the Group’s managed assets, improving
the operational efficiency of infrastructure assets.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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The Company is committed to maintaining good corporate
governance standards and procedures to safeguard the
interests of all shareholders and to enhance shareholders
value. The Company has adopted and applied corporate
governance principles and practices that emphasise an
effective Board, sound risk management and internal control
systems, transparency and accountability as well as on-going
communication and engagement with shareholders and
investors.

CORPORATE CULTURE

The Company has integrated its culture so as to achieve
the goal of becoming the leading service provider of
China’s Intelligent Infrastructure Assets, and has built a
dedicated and committed team by establishing common
and positive corporate values. The Company has developed
a flat organizational structure, efficient operating rules, a
professional and talented team, a market-oriented incentive
mechanism, and collective values. These elements have
promoted the efficiency, vitality and pioneering spirits of
the organization, guaranteed strategic implementations and
attained operational targets.

During the year, through deep cultivation and accumulation in
the real estate investment trusts (“REITs”) industry, the Group
has established strong connections between capital and assets,
accelerating the shift toward an “asset acquisition — operational
efficiency improvement — asset securitization — capital return”
asset circulation model. This marks the completion of its
transformation from a “heavy asset + strong operation” model
to an "asset circulation + digital intelligence” model, further
strengthening the Group's full-cycle management capabilities
in the infrastructure asset lifecycle, including fundraising,
investment, management, and exit strategies. Through a
triple empowerment model of "building a foundation with
capital + providing scenarios for implementation + serving
the industry”, the Group promotes the deep integration of
“capital + industry”. It aims to create a value hub that connects
the innovation chain and the industrial chain, building a
complete robot industry ecosystem encompassing “investment,
production, and services”.

The Board and management of the Company lead and shape
the Company's corporate culture, which is based on the
legal, ethical and responsible approach of the Group at all
levels. They have been acting in accordance with the values
of “customer first, team cooperation, teaching and learning
mutualism, quality first, outcome-orientation, full of passion,
open-mindedness and tolerance, embracing changes and loyal
dedication”. The Board leads the management to determine the
Group's purpose, values and strategic guidelines, as well as to
foster a culture of long-term sustainable business development,
so that every customer, partner, investor, supplier and employee
can benefit from the Group's co-created values.
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The corporate culture is developed and revised to reflect
and align with its operational practices, workplace policies
and practices, and relationships with shareholders and other
stakeholders. This is achieved through annual staff learning
from the Chairman’s Statement on the main strategies and
directions of the Group’s business, self-assessment, evaluation
and appraisal during the year, and reporting to superiors and/
or management, including key performance indicators. At the
same time, the Board and the management have created a
culture of maintaining high standards of corporate governance,
as well as developed sound and good corporate governance
practices to safeguard the interests of shareholders and other
stakeholders.

CORPORATE STRATEGIES

With the vision of becoming the leading service provider of
China’s Intelligent Infrastructure Assets, the Group focuses
on China core assets, leveraging its extensive experience in
asset operation and professional FIME capabilities. The Group
has completed the transformation from “asset circulation
+ strong operations” to the stage of "asset circulation +
digital intelligence” model and established a closed-loop
service for the full lifecycle management of infrastructure
assets. To achieve this goal, the Group focuses on disciplined
management of revenue, profit, cost, capital, investment
returns and financing activities, achieving recurring and
sustainable earnings, cash flow and dividend payment without
affecting the Group's financial strength and stability.

A discussion and analysis of the Group's performance and a
picture of the future are set out in the “Chairman’s Statement”
and “Management Discussion and Analysis” published in
this annual report. The Group has increasingly beefed up
sustainable development and has focused on five key areas of
its sustainable development objectives according to its own
characteristics and needs that align with the Group’s mission
during the year. These areas include “sustainable development
management”, “green actions, continuous development”,
“respect diversity, co-create the future”, "integrity as the
foundation, customer priority” and “harmonious inclusion,
social contribution”. This is done to keep in line with the
Group's strategic plan for sustainable development and
corporate responsibility, details of which are set out in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report separately
published by the Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEERERS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has complied with all the code provisions, and
where applicable, met the recommended best practices in the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in
Appendix C1 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) (the "Listing Rules”) during the financial year
ended 31 December 2024.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition

The Board currently comprises a total of twelve Directors, being
two Executive Directors, five Non-executive Directors and five
Independent Non-executive Directors. The list of Directors is
set out in the section headed "“Report of the Directors” of this
annual report. In addition, an updated list of the Directors
and their roles and functions is published on the websites of
Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Company
respectively.

The Board is characterised by wide diversity and has a balance
of skills and experience appropriate for the requirements of
the business of the Company. The Directors’ biographical
information is set out in the section headed “Directors’

Biographies” of this annual report.

The Directors give sufficient time and attention to the affairs
of the Group. All Directors are required to disclose to the
Company at the time of their appointments and annually the
number and the nature of offices held in public companies
or organizations and other significant commitments with an
indication of the time involved.

Save for those as disclosed in the section headed “Directors’
Biographies” as set out on pages 11 to 19 of this annual
report, there are no other financial, business, family or other
material or relevant relationships among the Board members,
or other offices held in public companies or organizations and
other significant commitments.
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The Board includes a balanced composition of Executive and
Non-executive Directors (including Independent Non-executive
Directors) so that there is sufficient independent element on the
Board, which can effectively exercise independent judgement.

The Non-executive Directors are of sufficient number and
calibre for their views to carry weight. The functions of Non-
executive Directors include:

o participating in board meetings to bring an independent
judgement at Board meetings to bear on issues of
strategy, policy, performance, accountability, resources,
key appointments and standards of conduct;

o taking the lead where potential conflicts of interests
arise;

o serving on Board committees if invited; and

o scrutinising the Company’s performance in achieving

agreed corporate goals and objectives, and monitoring
performance reporting.

The Non-executive Directors (including Independent Non-
executive Directors) have made a positive contribution to the
development of the Company’'s strategy and policies through
They
benefit the Board and the committees on which they serve with

independent, constructive and informed comments.

their skills, expertise, varied backgrounds and qualifications
through regular attendance and active participation in the
Board and committees meetings.

Composition of the Board is disclosed, and the Independent
Non-executive Directors are identified, in all corporate

communications to shareholders.
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Board diversity

The Company adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) on 28 August 2013 and revised on 25
August 2022, which sets out its approach to achieve diversity
on the Board with a view to achieving a sustainable and
balanced development of the Company. The Nomination
Committee reviews annually on the Board’s composition
under diversified perspectives, including but not limited to
progress on achieving any measurable objectives that are set
for implementing the Board Diversity Policy, and monitor the
implementation of the Board Diversity Policy and will make
recommendations on any proposed changes thereof, if any, to
the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy.

The Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through the
consideration of a number of factors, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length
of service. The Company will also take into account factors
based on its own business model and specific needs from
time to time. The Board will take opportunities to increase
the proportion of female directors over time with the ultimate
goal of bringing the Board to gender parity through selecting
and making recommendation on suitable candidates for Board
appointments as its measurable objectives. The ultimate
decision will be based on the merit and contribution that the
selected candidates will bring to the Board.

During the year, the Board Diversity Policy has been reviewed
and the Board was of the view that it was still appropriate
and effective having considered the Board's composition
under diversified perspectives to progress on achieving any
measurable objectives that are set for implementing and
monitoring the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy.
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The Group is committed to maintaining diversity (including
gender diversity) across all levels of the Group, ensuring
fair employment practices and offering equal employment
opportunities to recruit, promote and deploy employees based
on their skillset, abilities, compatibility with job requirements
and future development of the Group's businesses. The Board
currently has two female Directors (approximately 17%) out
of twelve Directors. As at 31 December 2024, approximately
39% of the total workforce (including senior management) are
female and approximately 61% are male. The overall gender
diversity of the Group is balanced.

The Board Diversity Policy is posted on the website of the
Company.

Role and function of the Board and the management

The Board is responsible for overall strategic formulation and
performance monitoring of the Group. It delegates the general
powers to manage and oversee the operations of the Group to
the executive management committee of the Company which
comprises the Chairman of the Board and core management
of the Company (the “Executive Management Committee”). In
addition, the Board has also delegated various responsibilities
“Audit Committee”), the
“Remuneration Committee”)

to the audit committee (the
remuneration committee (the
and the nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) of the Company. Further details of these

committees are set out in this report.

Board meetings

The Board meets regularly and endeavors to hold at least four
Board meetings a year at approximately quarterly intervals.
Additional meetings will be arranged, if and when required.
The Directors can attend meetings in person or through
electronic means of communication in accordance with the

articles of association of the Company (the “Articles”).
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The company secretary of the Company (the” Company
Secretary”) assists the Chairman in drawing up the agenda
of each Board meeting. A draft agenda of each regular Board
meeting will be sent to all Directors for review before the
agenda is issued and all Directors may request for inclusion
of other matters in the agenda. The Chairman will take into
account the matters proposed by the Directors and where
appropriate, approve the inclusion of such matters in the
agenda of the Board meeting. Generally, at least 14 days’
notice of a regular Board meeting is given and the Company
aims at giving reasonable notice for all other Board meetings.
The Company also aims at sending the agenda and the
accompanying board papers, which are prepared in a form
and quality sufficient to enable the Board to make informed
decisions on matters placed before it to all Directors 5 days for
regular Board meetings, or not less than 3 days for other Board
meetings as possible, before the intended date of a Board
meeting. Where queries are raised by Directors, prompt and full
responses will be given as possible.

The Board has procedures in place to enable Directors to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances
at the Company's expenses. The Board shall resolve to, upon
reasonable request, provide separate independent professional
advice to Directors to assist them in performing their duties to
the Company.

The Company Secretary is responsible for taking minutes of
Board meetings and Board committees meetings, draft and final
versions of which would be sent to Directors for comments
and records respectively, within a reasonable time after each
meeting. Minutes are recorded in sufficient detail the matters
considered and decisions reached, including any concerns
raised by Directors or dissenting views (if any) expressed.
Minutes of Board meetings and Board committees meetings are
kept by the Company Secretary and are open for inspection by
any Director/committee member.
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If a substantial shareholder or a Director has a conflict of
interest in a matter (including material transaction with
connected persons) which the Board has determined to be
material, the matter will be dealt in a physical Board meeting,
rather than a written resolution. Independent Non-executive
Directors who, and whose close associates, have no material
interest in the transaction should be present at that Board

meeting.

Except for those circumstances permitted by the Articles and all
applicable laws, rules and regulations, a Director shall not vote
on any Board resolution approving any contract or arrangement
or any other proposal in which he/she or any of his/her close
associates (or associates where the transaction or arrangement
is a connected transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules) has a material interest nor shall he/she be counted in the
quorum present at the relevant Board meeting.
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Attendance records

During the financial year ended 31 December 2024, the
Directors have made active contribution to the affairs of the
Group and 6 physical Board meetings were held to consider,
amongst other things, various projects contemplated by the
Group and to review and approve the quarterly, interim and
annual results of the Company.

The attendance records of Directors at Board meetings and
other committees meetings as well as general meetings during
the financial year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in the

i FEsC ik

REE2024F 1283 1HEBEER - ES
BEH2EAEENER TERTORESE
g2 UETREEPORE AERBRETHNEE
BHE UKRBZMIERABNETEEE &
HEEREFEE-

HE2024F 1283 1A LMBEER  EER
Exgo HUMZEgga2hkRERT
HESCEEymT

table below:
Number of meetings attended/held
HE/ BTEERY
Annual
Audit Nomination Remuneration General General
Board Committee Committee Committee  Meeting Meeting
Director ) 5Eg ENRZEY RLZEE HFMZEE REBERET REKE
Executive Directors HITER
Zhao Tianyang (Chairman of the [EENACES ¥4
Board and Nomination Committee) — 184 ZEEL/E) 6/6 - 212 - 11 11
Xu Liang HE 6/6 - - - 1”1 1”1
Non-executive Directors EHTES
Wu Lishun ERIE 6/6 = = = 0/1 0/1
Li Hao (Vice Chairman of the Board) —~ %i& (EZELE/Z/E) 6/6 = = = 0/1 0/1
Peng Jihai BEE 5/6 - - 23 " "
Ho Gilbert Chi Hang (EESHE 6/6 5/5 - - 11 11
Liu Jingwei =4 6/6 5/5 - - 11 11
Independent Non-executive BUFRTES
Directors
Wang Xin (Chairman of Audit Iz
Committee) (BRZEE5EEE) 6/6 5/5 2/2 3/3 1”1 1”1
Choi Fan Keung Vic BER 6/6 5/5 - 3/3 1”1 1”1
Deng Yougao HEm 6/6 5/5 212 - 171 171
Zhang Quanling (Chairlady of RRE
Remuneration Committee) FHZEEZ/E) 6/6 5/5 212 33 01 0/1
Zhuge Wenjing HENE 6/6 5/5 - - 11 0/1
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Access to information

The Board and the committees are supplied with sufficient
explanation and information by the management to enable the
Board and the committees to make an informed assessment
of financial and other information put before it for approval.
The management provides and/or reports to all Board
members with monthly updates which give a balanced and
understandable assessment of the Company's performance,
position and prospects in sufficient details to enable the Board
as a whole and each Director to discharge their duties. Where
any Director requires more information than is volunteered by
the management, each Director has the right to separately and
independently access to the Company’s senior management to
make further enquiries if necessary.

Appointment and re-election of Directors

Appointment of new Directors is a matter for consideration
by the Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee
will give adequate consideration to the Board Diversity
Policy and review the profiles of the candidates and make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and nomination of Directors.

According to the Articles, any Director so appointed by the
Board shall hold office, in the case of filling a casual vacancy,
only until the next following general meeting of the Company
or, in the case of an addition to their number, until the next
following annual general meeting of the Company who shall
then be eligible for re-election at such general meeting. Every
Director is subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years. The Directors who are subject to retirement and
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company are set out on page 87 of this annual report.

The current Executive Directors have entered into new service
agreements with a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
for a term commencing from 1 January 2020 and continuing
until terminated by either party by prior written notice. Such
service agreements set out the key terms and conditions of
their service.
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All Non-executive Directors have entered into new engagement
letters with the Company for an initial term commencing on 1
January 2020 (except Ms. Zhuge Wenjing, Mr. Peng Jihai and
Mr. Wu Lishun whose term of engagement commenced from
their respective appointments as Independent Non-executive
Director and Non-executive Directors) and ending on 31
December 2020; with such appointment being automatically
renewed for successive 12-month periods. Such engagement
letters set out the key terms and conditions of their service.

On 15 February 2022, Mr. Li Hao, a Non-executive Director,
entered into a supplemental letter with the Company with
regards to his appointment as the Vice Chairman of the Board.

The Company has adopted a nomination policy (the
“Nomination Policy”) effective on 1 January 2019 which sets
out the nomination procedures and criteria for the Nomination
Committee to select and recommend candidates to the
Board for consideration of appointment as Directors or for
recommendations to shareholders for election as Directors at
general meetings.

Pursuant to the Nomination Policy, prior to a meeting of the
Nomination Committee called for considering candidates for
directorship, the Nomination Committee will invite nominations
of candidates from the Board members or put forward
candidates. The Nomination Committee will consider the
nominated candidates at such committee meeting according
to the criteria of: reputation for integrity; accomplishment and
experience; compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;
commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest;
and board diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service. A selected candidate will then be recommended by
the Nomination Committee to the Board for consideration and
approval.

A shareholder of the Company may propose a person for

election as a Director in a general meeting pursuant to the
procedures set out in the Articles.
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Board Independence

The Board has established mechanisms, including a Board
composition of five Independent Non-executive Directors
(whose independence is being assessed based on Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules and their respective length of services
with the Company) out of twelve Directors, and a majority
of all members of the Board committees are Independent
Non-executive Directors, as part of the Group’s governance
framework that underpin a strong independent Board, and
that independent views and input from Directors are conveyed
to the Board through active participation in Board and
Board committees meetings whereby their time devoted and
performance are being reviewed by the Nomination Committee
annually. The mechanisms are kept under regular review on an
annual basis to align with current or best practice to ensure
their effectiveness. During the year ended 31 December 2024,
the mechanisms have been reviewed and the Board was of
the view that they were still appropriate and effective having
considered their compliance by the Company.

Pursuant to Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules,
the Company has appointed five Independent Non-executive
Directors and one of them has appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise.

Pursuant to Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules, the number of
Independent Non-executive Directors represents more than
one-third of the Board.

The Company has received from each of its Independent Non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company
considers that all Independent Non-executive Directors are
independent.
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The current composition of the Board committees consists
of the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and
the Remuneration Committee, comprising a majority of
Independent Non-Executive Directors, with the Audit
Committee and the Remuneration Committee both chaired by
an Independent Non-executive Director. The Independent Non-
executive Directors receive fixed fees for their positions on
the Board and Board committees, but they are not entitled to
the Company's equity-based remuneration with performance-
related elements. The remuneration of the Independent
Non-executive Directors is also subject to a regular review
mechanism to maintain competitiveness and is commensurate
with their responsibilities and workload.

Nomination for re-election by shareholders of an Independent
Non-executive Director who has served on the Board for a
consecutive term of more than 9 years is not encouraged. Any
re-election of an Independent Non-executive Director who
has served the Board for more than 9 vyears, his/her further
appointment should be subject to a separate resolution to
be approved by shareholders accompanied by the disclosure
required under code provision B.2.3 of the CG Code. As at
the date of this annual report, none of the Independent Non-
executive Directors have served the Board for more than 9
years.

To facilitate attendance and participation at Board and Board
committees meetings, the Company plans meeting schedules
for the year in advance, and provides remote facilities for
attendance. The Independent Non-executive Directors are
encouraged to actively participate in Board and Board
committees meetings and express their views and opinions at
such meetings. The Nomination Committee reviews annually
the time devoted by each Independent Non-executive Director
who is required to retire and be re-elected, and the time
devoted to perform his or her duties on the Board and Board
committees, for consideration of nomination for re-election.
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All Directors (including the Independent Non-executive
Directors) may obtain advice from external independent
professionals, at the Company’s expense, in accordance with
specified procedures as they consider necessary to assist them
in discharging their duties.

Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect an individual as
an Independent Non-executive Director at a general meeting,
the Company will state in the circular accompanying the notice
convening the relevant general meeting, amongst other things,
(i) the process used for identifying the individual and why the
Board believes he/she should be elected; (ii) the reasons why
the Nomination Committee and the Board consider he/she is
independent; (iii) the perspectives, skills and experience that he/
she can bring to the Board; and (iv) how he/she contributes to
diversity of the Board.

Insurance for Directors’ and officers’ liabilities

Appropriate insurance cover on Directors’ and officers’ liabilities
has been in force to protect the Directors and officers of the
Group from their risk exposure arising from the businesses of
the Group.

Directors’ training and professional development

Every newly appointed Director will be given an introduction
of regulatory requirements. Directors are continually updated
on the latest development of the Listing Rules, legal and
other regulatory requirements to ensure compliance and
upkeep of good corporate governance practice. Directors are
also encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills. The Company Secretary facilitates the induction and
professional development of Directors and the Company is
responsible for arranging and funding suitable training for the
Directors.
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During the financial year ended 31 December 2024, the
Company provided the Directors with online trainings and/
or presentations and discussions information and/or materials
by qualified professionals, regulatory authorities and/or
management team on regulatory updates and/or the Group’s
business and operation developments.

All Directors have provided to the Company their records of
training received during the financial year ended 31 December
2024, a summary of which is as follows:

REZE2024E 12831 HIEHBEER KA
ANEERECERNEEZABR - ESHBE
R/REBEKBERAREN A AEER
NEKRBEERRNEREIR AERK
s R Rk o

FIEEZERAARRHRKENEE20245F
12B3MALEMBFERZETBINGE  #
20T

Type of continuous professional
development programmes
RESEEREREE
Attending
presentations and
discussions on
Group's business
and operation
developments and/
or reading such

Participating online
trainings and/

or webinars on materials
regulatory updates HESEIERR
Reading materials BMBERMERENR SERRZER
and updates ZHERIENR,/ Rtk /o
Name of Director ) REREMER HPERE FEEMY
Executive Directors HTES
Zhao Tianyang [EpN v / /
Xu Liang #"E v / v/
Non-executive Directors ERITES
Wu Lishun ERIE / 4 4
Li Hao & v/ 4 v/
Peng Jihai vEE 4 4 4
Ho Gilbert Chi Hang (GESE / v/ v
Liu Jingwei B3 4 4 4
Independent Non-executive Directors ~ BIUEHTES
Wang Xin IE / 4 v
Choi Fan Keung Vic BER / 4 v
Deng Yougao BE= v 4 v/
Zhang Quanling RRE v / v/
Zhuge Wenjing HEEXE 4 4 4
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

The roles of chairman and chief executive are separate
and exercised by different individuals to reinforce their
independence and accountability.

Mr. Zhao Tianyang is the Chairman who provides leadership
for the Board and ensures that the Board works effectively and
performs its responsibilities.

The responsibilities of the Chairman include, amongst other
things:

o taking primary responsibility for strategies formulation
and capital operation and approving the annual plan,
budget and performance management of the Group;

o taking primary responsibility for ensuring that good
corporate governance practices and procedures are
established;

o ensuring that all Directors are properly briefed on

issues arising at Board meetings, and ensuring that
the Directors receive, in a timely manner, adequate
information which must be accurate, clear, complete and
reliable;

o encouraging all Directors to make full and active
contribution to the Board’s affairs and taking the lead
to ensure that the Board acts in the best interest of the
Company;

o encouraging Directors with different views to voice
their concerns, allowing sufficient time for discussion of
issues and ensuring that Board decisions fairly reflect the
Board’s consensus;

o ensuring that appropriate steps are taken to provide
effective communications with shareholders and that
their views are communicated to the Board as a whole;
and
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o promoting a culture of openness and debate by
facilitating effective contribution of Non-executive
Directors in particular and ensuring constructive
relations between Executive Directors and Non-executive
Directors.

On 15 February 2022, Mr. Li Hao, a Non-executive Director,
was appointed as Vice Chairman to assist the Chairman of the
Board to handle key issues such as formulation of strategies
and major business opportunities of the Company.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2024, no
chief executive was appointed by the Company and the
Executive Management Committee has overall chief executive
responsibility for the overall daily management and business
development of the Group, as well as leading the team to
implement formulated strategies.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2024, the
Independent Non-executive Directors have met the Chairman of
the Board at least once in the absence of the other Directors.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established the following committees to oversee
particular aspects of the Company’s affairs and to assist in the
execution of the Board’s responsibilities. All committees have
their own terms of reference. All resolutions passed by the
committees will be reported to the Board at the next regular
Board meeting.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established in December 1998 with
specific written terms of reference adopted on 1 January 2009
and revised on 1 April 2012, 21 December 2015, 1 January
2019 and 25 August 2022 respectively, which deal clearly
with its authorities and duties. The terms of reference of the
Audit Committee are posted on the websites of Hong Kong
Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Company respectively.
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The principal duties of the Audit Committee include, amongst
other things:

o overseeing the relationship with and engagement of the
Company'’s auditor;

o reviewing the interim and annual financial statements of
the Group;
o reviewing the Group’s financial and accounting policies

and practices;

o reviewing the Company’s financial reporting system, risk
management and internal control systems;

o reviewing the arrangements that employees of the
Company and other parties who have dealings with
the Group (such as customers, suppliers and any
other persons with whom the Group has business
relationships) can use, in confidence, to raise concerns
about possible improprieties in financial reporting,
internal control or other matters; and

o making recommendations to the Board on the
formulation of the Company’s whistleblowing policy and
anti-corruption policy, and to review their effectiveness
on a regular basis.

The Audit Committee has explicit authority to investigate
any activity within its terms of reference and the authority to
obtain external legal or other independent professional advice,
at the Company’s expense, to perform its responsibilities if it
considers necessary. It is given access to and assistance from
the employees and reasonable resources to perform its duties

properly.
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The chairman of the Audit Committee is Dr. Wang Xin, an
Independent Non-executive Director, and the members of the
Audit Committee include Mr. Ho Gilbert Chi Hang and Mr. Liu
Jingwei, who are Non-executive Directors, and Mr. Choi Fan
Keung Vic, Mr. Deng Yougao, Ms. Zhang Quanling and Ms.
Zhuge Wenjing, who are Independent Non-executive Directors.
None of the members of the Audit Committee are former
partners of the auditor of the Company.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2024, 5
physical meetings of the Audit Committee were held and
the attendance of each member is set out in the table above
under subsection “Attendance records” of the section headed
“BOARD OF DIRECTORS”.

The major work performed by the Audit Committee during the
financial year ended 31 December 2024 included, amongst
other things, the following:

o considered and approved the appointment of internal
audit service provider;

o reviewed the reports on the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group for the financial
year ended 31 December 2023 prepared by an

independent advisory firm;

o reviewed and considered the audit plan and the
remuneration of the auditor of the Company for the
financial year ended 31 December 2023;

o reviewed the final results of the Group and the audit
report of the auditor of the Company for the financial
year ended 31 December 2023 and recommended the
reappointment of the auditor of the Company;

o reviewed and made recommendation to the Board on
the Environmental, Social and Governance Report of
the Company for the financial year ended 31 December
2023;
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o reviewed the interim results of the Group and the review
report of the auditor of the Company for the 6 months
ended 30 June 2024; and

o reviewed the quarterly results of the Group for the 3
months ended 31 March 2024 and the 9 months ended
30 September 2024.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2024, the Board
had no disagreement with the Audit Committee's view on the
selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of the external
auditor.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established in February
2005 with specific written terms of reference adopted on 17
February 2005 and revised on 1 April 2012, 28 August 2013,
12 July 2018 and 25 August 2022 respectively, which deal
clearly with its authorities and duties. The terms of reference
of the Nomination Committee are posted on the websites of
Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Company
respectively.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include:

o reviewing the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at
least annually and making recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the
Company'’s corporate strategy;

o identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and selecting or making recommendations to
the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships;

o making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or reappointment of Directors and
succession planning for Directors;
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o assessing the independence of Independent Non-
executive Directors;

o reviewing the Board Diversity Policy annually and
reviewing the measurable objectives that have been
set for implementing the Board Diversity Policy, and
reviewing the progress on achieving the objectives;

o reviewing regularly the contributions made by the
Directors in discharging their responsibilities and
whether they have devoted sufficient time accordingly;

o evaluating and reviewing the committee candidates for
the Executive Management Committee recommended by
the chairman of the Executive Management Committee
among Directors and senior management members
of the Company, taking into account the Company’s
operational and management needs, and making
recommendations to the Board; and

o performing the corporate governance responsibilities of
the Board.

The Nomination Committee follows the nomination procedures
and criteria set out in the Nomination Policy, as disclosed
above, in selecting and recommending candidates for
directorship to the Board for consideration.

The Nomination Committee has explicit authority to seek any
necessary information from the employees within its scope
of duties and the authority to obtain external independent
professional advice, at the Company's expense, to perform its
responsibilities if it considers necessary.

The chairman of the Nomination Committee is Mr. Zhao
Tianyang who is also the Chairman of the Board. Members of
the Nomination Committee include Dr. Wang Xin, Mr. Deng
Yougao and Ms. Zhang Quanling, all of whom are Independent
Non-executive Directors.
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During the financial year ended 31 December 2024, 2 physical
meetings of the Nomination Committee were held and the
attendance of each member is set out in the table above
under subsection “Attendance records” of the section headed
“BOARD OF DIRECTORS”.

The major work performed by the Nomination Committee
during the financial year ended 31 December 2024 included,
amongst other things, the following:

o assessed the independence of the Independent Non-
executive Directors;

. considered and made recommendations to the Board
on the re-election of Directors at the annual general
meeting;

o reviewed and monitored the Company's compliance with
the CG Code, including the training and continuous
professional development of directors;

° considered, reviewed and made recommendation to
the Board on the Corporate Governance Report of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2023;

o reviewed the structure, size and composition of the
Board, the management structure and corporate
governance policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirement of the Company
and made recommendations on proposed changes
of Directors, committees members, management and
corporate governance policies, if any, to the Board;

o reviewed the contributions made and time devoted by
the Directors in discharging their responsibilities;

o considered and made recommendations to the Board
on the proposed change of member of the Executive
Management Committee;
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reviewed the setting up and appointment of
management positions of the Company by the Executive
Management Committee; and

considered, reviewed and made recommendations to
the Board on the proposed adoption of the revised
Inside Information Disclosure Policy and other corporate
governance documents.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established in February

2005 with specific written terms of reference adopted on 17
February 2005 and revised on 1 April 2012 and 25 August
2022 respectively, which deal clearly with its authorities and

duties. The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee

are posted on the websites of Hong Kong Exchanges and

Clearing Limited and the Company respectively.

The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee include:

66

making recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for all remuneration of
Directors and senior management of the Group;

reviewing and approving the management’s
remuneration proposals with reference to the Company’s
goals and objectives, including year-end bonus, project
bonus, share awards for employee, cash/stock risk
premium and employee’s co-investment with the Group

under the incentive constraint mechanism;

reviewing the ongoing appropriateness and relevance of
the Company’s remuneration policy and its structure of
directors and senior management;

determining, with delegated responsibility, the
remuneration packages of individual Executive Directors
and senior management and making recommendations
to the Board on the remuneration of Non-executive
Directors;
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o reviewing and approving compensation payable to
Executive Directors and senior management and
compensation arrangements relating to dismissal or
removal of Directors for misconduct;

o ensuring that no Director or any of his/her associates is
involved in deciding his/her own remuneration; and

o reviewing and/or approving the matters in relation to the
share schemes as described in Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules.

The Remuneration Committee should consult the Chairman
of the Board about their remuneration proposals for other
Executive Directors. It has explicit authority to seek any
necessary information from the employees within its scope
of duties and the authority to obtain external independent
professional advice, at the Company's expense, to perform its
responsibilities if it considers necessary.

The Company has in place a Directors and Senior Management
Remuneration Policy for determining the remuneration of
the Directors and senior management on the basis of their
expertise and experience in the industry, the performance
and profitability of the Company and the Group, and with
reference to the remuneration benchmarks of other local and
domestic companies and the prevailing market conditions.
Executive Directors and senior management also participate in
discretionary bonus arrangements based on the performance of
the Group and individuals, as well as share incentive schemes
established by the Company from time to time; however, Non-
executive Directors (including Independent Non-executive
Directors) are not eligible to participate in the share incentive
schemes of the Company.
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Non-executive Directors (including Independent Non-
executive Directors) are paid an appropriate level of fees for
their contribution to the Company in order to attract and
retain high-quality and experienced personnel to provide
independent perspectives and advice to the Board, and the
Remuneration Committee regularly conducts remuneration
reviews with reference to companies of similar business or size
and recommends appropriate remuneration adjustments to
the Board. Non-executive Directors who are invited to serve on
a committee of the Board will receive an additional standard
fee for that committee. If an individual Non-executive Director
is invited to participate in strategic formulation and business
development and other related duties of the Group, he or she
will be entitled to an annual discretionary bonus determined by
the Remuneration Committee and the Board with reference to
his or her contribution to the Company for the relevant period.

The chairlady of the Remuneration Committee is Ms. Zhang
Quanling, an Independent Non-executive Director, and
members of the Remuneration Committee include Mr. Peng
Jihai who is a Non-executive Director, and Dr. Wang Xin and
Mr. Choi Fan Keung Vic who are Independent Non-executive
Directors.

Details of remuneration paid to the Directors for the financial
year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2024, 3 physical
meetings of the Remuneration Committee were held and
the attendance of each member is set out in the table above
under subsection “Attendance records” of the section headed
“BOARD OF DIRECTORS”.
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The major work performed by the Remuneration Committee
during the financial year ended 31 December 2024 included,
amongst other things, the following:

o considered, reviewed and approved the performance
bonus distribution plan, including the incentive
mechanism and restraint mechanism, for the financial
year ended 31 December 2023 for all staffs of the
Group;

o considered, reviewed and made recommendations to the
Board on the proposals of exercise and lapse of awards
and exercise conditions of individual performance of the
awards under the share incentive plan; and

o considered, reviewed and approved the remuneration of
the Executive Directors with reference to the Directors
and Senior Management Remuneration Policy and made
recommendations to the Board on the directors’ fees and
meeting allowance of the Non-executive Directors and
Independent Non-executive Directors for the financial
year ended 31 December 2025.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary supports the Board by ensuring good
information flow within the Board and that the Board policy
and procedures are followed. The Company Secretary is also
responsible for advising the Board through the Chairman on
corporate governance and the implementation of the CG Code.
The Company Secretary is an employee of the Company and
has day-to-day knowledge of the Group’s affairs.

All Directors also have access to the advice and services of
the Company Secretary to ensure that Board procedures, and
all applicable laws, rules and regulations, are followed. The
selection, appointment and dismissal of the Company Secretary
are subject to the Board approval.
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The Company Secretary has confirmed that she has taken no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the
financial year ended 31 December 2024.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

Management is responsible for the design, implementation
and monitoring of the Group's risk management and internal
control systems, while the Board is responsible for overseeing
management in performing its duties on an ongoing basis. A
review of the effectiveness of risk management and internal
control system has been conducted annually by the Board to
cover all material controls, including financial, operational,
corporate culture, Board independence, Board diversity,
shareholders communication, environmental, social and
governance and compliance controls. Main features of the risk
management and internal control systems are described in the
sections below:

Risk Management System

The Group adopts a risk management system which manages
the risks associated with its business and operations. The
system comprises the following phases:

o Identification: ldentify type of significant risks, business
objectives and risks that could affect the achievement of
objectives (including but not limited to environmental,
social and governance risks).

o Evaluation: Analyze the likelihood and impact of risks
and evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly.

. Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure
effective communication to the Board and on-going
monitor the residual risks (including but not limited to
environmental, social and governance risks).
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The management of the Company identifies relevant major
risks through the above risk management processes. Compared
to last year, with the continuous changes in the external
environment and the continuous expansion of the business
scale and business scope of the Company, the management
believes that relevant major risks still exist, and the risk levels
have not changed significantly. Among these, “investment
business risk” has emerged as a significant new risk, while the
levels of “human resource risk” and “internal factor risk” have
decreased. The levels of other risks remain roughly the same.

Based on the risk assessment conducted in 2024, the following
significant risks to the Company have been identified and
management has developed and implemented corresponding
measures:

Investment Business Risk

The Company’s investment fields are diversified, the complex
and volatile capital market and stricter domestic and foreign
regulatory policies have imposed higher requirements for
investment strategy formulation, fund management, pre-
investment assessment, and post-investment management.
If investment risks are not managed timely and effectively,
it may affect the realization of the investment strategy and
cause certain losses to the Company. The Company pays
great attention to investment risks and has established an
investment committee to set up an investment assessment
and approval process. It has also built a professional team to
make recommendations on investment matters. The finance,
legal and other related professional teams are responsible
for managing relevant investment risks, following up on
post-investment management, regularly understanding
the operation, finance and risk management status of the
investment targets, and monitoring and analyzing business
conditions to ensure the realization of the investment strategy.
The Company will continue to monitor the changes in the
macroeconomic environment, industry laws and regulations,
dynamically analyze and formulate risk management strategies
to manage investment risks effectively.
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Parking Operations Risk

Domestic economic growth is facing downward pressure, and
market demand volatility has intensified, posing challenges to
the Company's parking business investment, construction and
operation management. In this complex situation, the Company
actively explores diversified development paths to enhance
business resilience. In terms of investment layout, the Company
vigorously promotes the long-term operation leasing model,
conducting long-term cooperation with high-quality property
owners to obtain stable parking lot resources and reduce
the uncertainty caused by short-term leasing. By purchasing
parking lot property rights, the Company focuses on the high-
quality parking lot resources in the core areas to realize the
preservation and appreciation of assets. In terms of business
model innovation, the Company strives to build parking
complexes that meet the diversified needs of consumers.
At the same time, the Company improves the information
system construction to greatly enhance operational efficiency,
reduce operating costs and increase user stickiness. Through
these measures, the Company is steadily moving forward in a
volatile economic environment, aiming to achieve sustainable
development of the parking business and create more value for
its shareholders.

Internal Control System

The Company has in place an internal control system which is
compatible with the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission 2013 framework. The framework
enables the Group to achieve objectives regarding effectiveness
and efficiency of operations, reliability of financial reporting
and compliance with applicable laws and regulations. The
components of the framework are shown as follows:

° Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and
structures that provide the basis for carrying out internal
control across the Group.

o Risk Assessment. A dynamic and iterative process for
identifying and analyzing risks to achieve the Group’s
objectives, forming a basis for determining how risks
should be managed.
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o Control Activities: Actions established by policies and
procedures to help ensure that management directives
to mitigate risks to the achievement of objectives are
carried out.

° Information and Communication: Internal and external

communication to provide the Group with the

information needed to carry out day-to-day controls.

o Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to
ascertain whether each component of internal control is
present and functioning.

Internal Auditor

The Group's compliance audit department analyzes and
independently evaluates the adequacy and effectiveness of
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems,
which should cover all significant controls, including financial,
operational and compliance controls. The Group’s compliance
audit department is independent of the Group’s daily operation
and carries out appraisal of the risk management and internal
control systems by conducting interviews, walkthroughs and
tests of operating effectiveness.

The Group outsources its internal audit work to a globally
renowned professional internal audit services provider who
reports the results of the review to the Group’s compliance
audit department and makes recommendations to improve
the identified significant system deficiencies or control
weaknesses. An internal audit plan has been reviewed by
the Board. According to the established plan, review of the
risk management and internal control systems is conducted
annually, and the results are reviewed by the Audit Committee
and reported to the Board.

The Board is responsible for allocating adequate resources to
the relevant departments of the Group in order to address
significant internal control deficiencies identified during the
review of risk management and internal control system, and
promptly implement recommendations provided by the Group's
compliance audit department.
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Effectiveness of the Risk Management and Internal
Control Systems

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group and ensuring review of the
effectiveness of these systems has been conducted annually
according to the requirements of the CG Code.

The Board, through its review and the review made by the
Group’'s compliance audit department, the management and
the Audit Committee, concluded that the risk management
and internal control systems were effective and adequate.
Such systems, however, are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss. It is also considered that the
resources, staff qualifications and experience of relevant staff
were adequate and the training programs and budget provided
were sufficient.

INSIDE INFORMATION DISCLOSURE POLICY

The Company adopted an inside information disclosure
policy (the “Inside Information Disclosure Policy”) on 21
December 2015 and revised on 18 December 2024, which sets
out the procedures for the handling and dissemination of inside
information with a view to preventing uneven, inadvertent
or selective dissemination of inside information and ensuring
shareholders and the public are provided with full, accurate
and timely information about the activities and the financial
condition of the Group. The Inside Information Disclosure Policy
covers the following:

o setting out the processes for identifying, assessing and
escalating potential inside information to the Board;

o setting out the responsibilities of officers in preserving
the confidentiality of inside information, escalating
upwards any such potential information and cascading
down the message and responsibilities to relevant staff;
and

o identifying who the Company’s authorised

spokespersons are and their responsibilities for
communications with stakeholders of the Company.
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In addition, the Company has communicated to all relevant
staff regarding the implementation of the Inside Information
Disclosure Policy.

The Board considers that the Company’s existing measures are
effective and appropriate compliance mechanisms to safeguard
the Company and its officers in discharging their disclosure
obligations in respect of inside information.

The Inside Information Disclosure Policy is posted on the
website of the Company.

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

The Company adopted a whistleblowing policy (the
“Whistleblowing Policy”) on 22 March 2012 and revised on
25 August 2022 which sets out the procedures for reporting
concerns about malpractice or impropriety in all matters related
to the Group by employees at all levels and other parties who
have dealings with the Group in any reporting format.

In addition, details of the reporting and investigation
procedures of the Whistleblowing Policy have been
communicated to all staffs of the Group through internal
seminars.

The Whistleblowing Policy is posted on the website of the
Company.

ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY

The Company adopted an anti-corruption policy (the "Anti-
corruption Policy”) on 25 August 2022 which provides
guidance to all Directors, management and employees of the
Group on how to deal with corruption, bribery and related
matters that may arise in the course of business. The Group
is committed to complying with all applicable laws and
regulations in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates in
order to prevent corruption and bribery in any of its business
transactions.
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In addition, interpretation and illustration on the scope,
applicability and enforceability of relevant laws and regulations
of anti-corruption in the jurisdictions in which the Group
operates have been communicated to all staffs of the Group
through internal seminars.

The Anti-corruption Policy is posted on the website of the
Company.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the “Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers” (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules as a code of
conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions. A reminder
is served by the Company to each Director four times a year of
the black-out period that Directors cannot deal in the securities
and derivatives (if any) of the Company.

Directors are required to notify the chairlady of the
Remuneration Committee and to receive a dated written
acknowledgement before dealing in the securities and
derivatives (if any) of the Company. In the case of the chairlady
of the Remuneration Committee herself, she must notify a
designated Executive Director and receive a dated written
acknowledgement before any dealing.

Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, the Directors have
complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
throughout the year ended 31 December 2024.

The Company has also established a written guideline no less
exacting than the Model Code for securities transactions by
relevant employees (including any employee of the Company
or director or employee of a subsidiary who, because of such
office or employment, is likely to possess inside information in
relation to the Company or the securities of the Company). No
incidence of non-compliance was noted by the Company.
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AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

During the financial year ended 31 December 2024, the
remuneration paid/payable to the Company's auditor,
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PricewaterhouseCoopers, is set out as follows: BB S &HIAT :
HK$'000
Services rendered FRr e & PR 7% BT T
Audit services EETRTS 4,029

Non-audit services: JEETIRTS ©

Interim review FhHA 2 B 350
Tax services MERT 384
Others EHih 660
5,423

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
financial statements of the Group which give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group on a going concern
basis and in presenting the annual and interim reports and
other financial disclosures required under the Listing Rules, the
Directors aim to present a balanced, clear and understandable
assessment of the Group’s position and prospects.

The statement of the auditor of the Company,
PricewaterhouseCoopers, about its reporting responsibilities on
the consolidated financial statements of the Group is set out in
the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 144 to 151 of this
annual report.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company adopted a shareholders’ communication policy
(the “Shareholders’ Communication Policy”) on 22 March
2012 and updated on 31 March 2014, 11 July 2019 and 25
August 2022 respectively, which reflects the current practices
of the Company for communication with its shareholders and
investors. Such policy aims at ensuring the shareholders and
investors of the Company are provided with ready, equal and
timely access to balanced and understandable information
about the Company, in order to enable shareholders to exercise
their rights in an informed manner, and to allow shareholders
and investors to engage actively with the Company. The
Board will review the implementation and effectiveness of the
Shareholders” Communication Policy on an annual basis.

During the year, the Shareholders” Communication Policy
has been reviewed and the Board was of the view that it
was still appropriate and effective having considered its
communication channels through which the Investor Relations
team and management of the Company can conduct ongoing
communications with shareholders and investors on business
strategy and development of the Group.

The Shareholders’ Communication Policy is posted on the
website of the Company.

The Company has adopted a dividend policy for delivering
sustainable returns to shareholders whilst retaining adequate
reserves for the Group’s future development, details of which
are disclosed under the section headed “FINAL DIVIDEND" of
the Report of the Directors of this annual report.

To foster effective communications with the shareholders
and investors, the Company provides extensive information
in its annual report, interim report, results announcements,
environmental, social and governance report and announcements,
and organizes various regular events, including investor/
analyst briefings and one-on-one and one-on-many meetings,
roadshows, media interviews and marketing activities for
investors and specialist industry forums etc. during the year.
All corporate communications are also available on the
Company's website at www.shouchengholdings.com and on
the website of Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited at
www.hkexnews.hk.
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The annual general meeting of the Company provides a useful
forum for shareholders to exchange views with the Board. All
Directors will make an effort to attend. The external auditor
is also available at the annual general meeting to address
shareholders’ queries. In case of any general meeting to
approve a connected transaction or any other transaction that
is subject to independent shareholders’ approval, members of
the independent Board committee will also make an effort to
attend to address shareholders’ queries.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2024, two
general meetings were held. One of the general meetings was
the annual general meeting held on 23 May 2024 (the “2024
AGM") and the other was the general meeting held on 31
December 2024 (the “GM") for approving, among others:

(a) the private fund management service agreement dated
22 November 2024 entered into between the Company
and Beijing Shougang Fund Co., Ltd. (tREMWE
BB/ F) (“Shougang Fund”) (the “New Fund
Management Service Agreement”) in respect of the
provision of private fund management services (including
closely related services arising from fund management,
depending on the specific transaction) by the Company
and/or its subsidiaries to Shougang Fund and/or its
associates; and

(b) the proposed annual cap amounts for each of the three
financial years ending 31 December 2027 in relation
to the transactions contemplated under the New Fund
Management Service Agreement.

The auditor of the Company, PricewaterhouseCoopers,
attended the 2024 AGM. Details of the attendance of each
Director at the 2024 AGM and the GM are set out in the table
above under subsection “Attendance records”of the section
headed "BOARD OF DIRECTORS".
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During the financial year ended 31 December 2024, the
notice of general meeting despatched by the Company to
its shareholders for the 2024 AGM was sent at least 21 days
before the meeting and the notice of general meeting for the
GM was sent at least 14 days before the meeting. Separate
resolutions were proposed at the general meetings on each
substantially separate issue, including the re-election of
individual retiring Directors, and all resolutions put to the vote
at the general meetings were taken by way of a poll. At the
general meetings, the chairman of the meetings explained the
procedures for conducting a poll and answered questions from
shareholders on voting by poll, if any. The results of the poll
were published on the websites of Hong Kong Exchanges and
Clearing Limited and the Company respectively.

SHAREHOLDERS'RIGHTS
Convene a general meeting

Shareholder(s) representing at least 5% of the total voting
rights of all shareholders of the Company having a right to vote
at general meetings can request the Directors to call a general
meeting pursuant to Section 566 of the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The request must
state the general nature of the business to be dealt with at
the meeting and may include the text of a resolution that may
properly be moved and is intended to be moved at the meeting.
Such request must be authenticated by the shareholder(s)
making it and sent to the Company in hard copy form or in
electronic form for the attention of the Company Secretary.
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Put forward proposals at shareholders’ meetings

Shareholder(s) representing at least 2.5% of the total voting
rights of all shareholders of the Company or at least 50
shareholders who have a relevant right to vote at a general
meeting can request the Company to circulate to the
shareholders of the Company a statement of not more than
1,000 words with respect to a matter mentioned in a proposed
resolution or other business to be dealt with at that meeting
pursuant to Section 580 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter
622 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The expenses shall be borne
by the shareholder(s) making the request unless the meeting
concerned is an annual general meeting and the statement is
received by the Company in time for sending with the notice
of the meeting. The request must identify the statement to be
circulated, and must be authenticated by the shareholder(s)
making it and sent to the Company in hard copy form or in
electronic form for the attention of the Company Secretary at
least 7 days before the meeting to which it relates.

Shareholder(s) representing at least 2.5% of the total voting
rights of all shareholders of the Company or at least 50
shareholders who have a right to vote on the resolution at an
annual general meeting can request the Company to give to
the shareholders of the Company notice of a resolution that
may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at that
meeting pursuant to Section 615 of the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The request must
identify the resolution of which notice is to be given, and must
be authenticated by the shareholder(s) making it and sent to
the Company in hard copy form or in electronic form for the
attention of the Company Secretary no later than 6 weeks
before the annual general meeting to which the requests relate,
or if later, the time at which notice of the meeting is given.
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Shareholders’ enquiries

Specific enquiries or suggestions by shareholders can be sent in
writing to the Board or the Company Secretary at our registered
office or by email to the Company. In addition, shareholders
can contact Tricor Tengis Limited, the share registrar of the
Company, if they have any enquiries about their shareholdings
and entitlement to dividend. Relevant contact details are set
out on page 3 of this annual report.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There is no change in the Company’s constitutional documents
during the financial year ended 31 December 2024.

82 Shoucheng Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024

IRREH
HERRAFNERNNER I BRARTH
AMPERTEFEAAINENERES
AT eI RERMBERABEBAERN REKRSE
ZEH NMEEATARNERELREEE
ERFAERQG  AEBEFBRNEFR
EER=

AR ERE S M
AAB AR ER R B E2024512831
A B A R E o



The directors of the Company (“Directors”) present their
report and the audited financial statements of the Company
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal business of the Group is infrastructure asset
management. The principal activity of the Company is
investment holding. The activities of its principal subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures are set out in notes 17 and 18 to
the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024
and the state of affairs of the Group at that date are set out in
the audited consolidated financial statements on pages 152 to
304 of this annual report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The board of Directors (the “Board”) considers sustainable
returns to shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”)
whilst retaining adequate reserves for the Group’s future
development to be an objective. Under the dividend policy
adopted by the Company, dividends may be recommended,
declared and paid to Shareholders from time to time. In
summary, the declaration of dividend is subject to the discretion
of the Board, taking into consideration of, among others, the
following factors:

. financial results;

o Shareholders’ interests;

o general business conditions and strategies;

° capital requirements;

o taxation considerations;

o contractual, statutory and regulatory restriction, if any;
and

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFEHREE

EATESES (MEF)) ZHIE2EETgREE
REARNBREWBAT ((RER)) 852024
FNANHAEFEFEZEBEZFHRE  LUH

Lo

BXEH

AEBZIFEXBKALAERENMEEERE &K
REIZFEXEBARBEER - FFEMB LR
B HME AR KREE AR ZEREINNEGES
SRR EE17R18°

E S

AEBEE2024F12R31BIEFEZ X8
RAEBERZBZV BRI N AERS
152BEFI3M4E 2 REBERIFEMEHREK

RIS

Exe ((E5g) NEREREARERR
(TR 3R ) 2R $5 i@ ) 3R B B 75 2~ SR B BY SR 2R
ZRFREREREB - RELR2IHRMANKRE
HER  ZARHEIRFHERRIEZT IR KRIK
ERB -REMS REEKEAKEFEER
EHhaE) UTEERRNBEETE !

. CURCE S

. BREEBRNKRRE ;

. BEEENK;

. MBERRARE ;

. BHEERRERS WA) ; &

HERZRARAT 2024FFR 83



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFEHREE

o any other factors that the Board may deem relevant.

Where a dividend is being declared in any particular financial
year, the total amount of payment shall not exceed 50% of the
accumulated profits available for distribution during such given
financial year.

The Board has resolved to recommend a final dividend in
the total amount of HK$120 million for the year ended
31 December 2024 (2023: HK$161 million), payable to
Shareholders whose names appear on the register of members
of the Company on Wednesday, 16 July 2025. Based on
7,284,855,440 ordinary shares of the Company (the “Shares”)
in issue as at the date of this report, such a final dividend
would amount to HK1.64 cents per Share (2023: HK2.20 cents
per Share).

Subject to Shareholders’ approval of the proposed final
dividend at the Company’s annual general meeting to be held
on Wednesday, 30 April 2025 (the “2025 AGM"), the final
dividend is expected to be paid on Thursday, 7 August 2025.

On 26 March 2025, the Company announced the declaration
of a special dividend in the aggregate amount of HK$768
million (the “Special Dividend”), comprising the first tranche
of HK$256 million (the “First Tranche Special Dividend”),
the second tranche of HK$256 million (the “Second Tranche
Special Dividend”), and the third tranche of HK$256 million
(the “Third Tranche Special Dividend”). The First Tranche
Special Dividend is payable, in cash, on 25 April 2025 to
Shareholders whose names appear on the register of members
of the Company on 14 April 2025 (the "First Record Date”).
The Second Tranche Special Dividend is payable, in cash, on
26 September 2025 to Shareholders whose names appear on
the register of members of the Company on 16 September
2025 (the “Second Record Date”). The Third Tranche
Special Dividend is payable, in cash, on 29 December 2025 to
Shareholders whose names appear on the register of members
of the Company on 18 December 2025 (the “Third Record
Date”). For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 26 March 2025.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Friday, 25 April 2025 to Wednesday, 30 April 2025 (both days
inclusive) to determine the Shareholders’ entitlement to attend
and vote at the 2025 AGM. During such period, no transfer
of shares of the Company will be registered. In order to be
eligible to attend and vote at the 2025 AGM, all transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Company’s share registrar, Tricor Tengis Limited at
17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong,
not later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 24 April 2025 for
registration.

The register of members of the Company will be closed on
Wednesday, 16 July 2025 to determine the shareholders’
entitlement to the proposed final dividend. During such period,
no transfer of shares of the Company will be registered. In
order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all transfer
forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the Company’s share registrar, Tricor Tengis Limited
at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong
Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 15 July 2025 for
registration.

For the purpose of determining the entitlements of the
Shareholders to the respective Special Dividend, the register of
members of the Company will be closed from 11 April 2025
to 14 April 2025 (both dates inclusive) (in respect of the First
Tranche Special Dividend), from 15 September 2025 to 16
September 2025 (both dates inclusive) (in respect of the Second
Tranche Special Dividend) and from 17 December 2025 to 18
December 2025 (both dates inclusive) (in respect of the Third
Tranche Special Dividend), during which period no transfer of
shares of the Company will be registered.
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In order for a Shareholder to qualify for the Special Dividend,
all transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged with the Company’s share registrar, Tricor
Tengis Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt
Road, Hong Kong no later than 4:30 p.m. on 10 April 2025
(in respect of the First Tranche Special Dividend) and/or 4:30
p.m. on 12 September 2025 (in respect of the Second Tranche
Special Dividend) and/or 4:30 p.m. on 16 December 2025 (in
respect of the Third Tranche Special Dividend) for registration.

If a Shareholder sells all of his/her shares before the First Record
Date, such Shareholder will not receive nor be entitled to any of
the Special Dividend.

If a Shareholder sells all of his/her shares after the First Record
Date but before the Second Record Date, such Shareholder will
receive or be entitled to the First Tranche Special Dividend but
not the Second Tranche Special Dividend and the Third Tranche
Special Dividend.

If a Shareholder sells all of his/her shares after the Second
Record Date but before the Third Record Date, such
Shareholder will receive or be entitled to the First Tranche
Special Dividend and the Second Tranche Special Dividend but
not the Third Tranche Special Dividend.

If a Shareholder continues to hold all of his/her shares up to
and including the Third Record Date, such Shareholder will
receive and be entitled to all Special Dividend.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024 is set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s
Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis”
on pages 8 to 10 and pages 20 to 43 of this annual report
respectively.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets and
liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set out
on page 305 of this annual report.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during
the year are set out in note 22 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DONATIONS

No charitable donation was made by the Group during the year
(2023: Nil).

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report
are:

Executive Directors

Zhao Tianyang
Xu Liang

Non-executive Directors

Wu Lishun

Li Hao

Peng Jihai

Ho Gilbert Chi Hang
Liu Jingwei

Independent Non-executive Directors

Wang Xin

Choi Fan Keung Vic
Deng Yougao
Zhang Quanling
Zhuge Wenjing

In accordance with article 102(A) of the Company’s articles of
association (the “Articles”), Mr. Xu Liang, Mr. Choi Fan Keung
Vic, Mr. Deng Yougao and Ms. Zhang Quanling will retire by
rotation at the 2025 AGM and, be eligible for re-election. Ms.
Zhang Quanling will offer herself for re-election at the 2025
AGM. Mr. Xu Liang, Mr. Choi Fan Keung Vic and Mr. Deng
Yougao will not offer themselves for re-election and will retire
at the conclusion of the 2025 AGM.
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DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

During the year and up to the date of this report, directors of
the subsidiaries of the Company include Li Wei, Zhang Meng,
Bai Jie, Chan Weng Mui*,
Deng Yishuai,

Chen Hongyuan, Chen Zhichao,
Di Jiaping, Ding Li*, Dong Ying, Du Feng, Fu
Qiang, Gao Ying, Gao Yun, Harada Masanori, Huang Hai Bin,
Jia Tingting, Kang Xu, Li Jinhui, Li Na, Lian Feng, Liang Lixia,
Lin Yan, Liu Hongyi*, Liu Manjia, Liu Quanfeng, Li Yao, Lu
Meng Ziyang, ONG KAH KOK*, Peng Cheng,
Shen Zhuolin, Song Changhai,

Peng, Lv Pengiji,
Ren Wei,
Sun Guangmin, Tian Xiangjun, Wang Jianguo, Wang Junfa*,

Song Chunsheng,

Wang Sheng, Xia Xiaohong, Xin Jianhong, Xue Jiangzhou, Yang
Di, Yang Dongmei*, Yang Shiying, Ye Qian, Yun Tao, Zhang
Baogiang, Zhang Haitao, Zhang Jianxun*, Zhang Jiben, Zhang
Jun, Zhang Lan, Zhang Qi, Zhao Weixu, Zhao Xiaotong, Zhao

Yuntao, Zhao Yuzhen, Zheng Yuegiang* and Zhu Yu.

* Ceased to be directors of relevant subsidiaries of the Company as at
the date of this report.

DIRECTORS’ INDEMNITIES AND INSURANCE

As permitted by the Articles, every Director or other officers
of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the
assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities which he/
she may sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties
of his/her office or otherwise in relation thereto.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’
liability coverage for the Directors and officers of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
2025 AGM has a service contract with the Company which
is not determinable by the Company within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions
of the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the
Shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and
its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")) as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant
to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix C3 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), were
as follows:
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Long positions in the Shares and underlying shares

of the Company

RERB RN RBRRKRGZEE

% of the total

number of

Shares in issue
as at 31.12.2024

(Note 2)
Number of Shares and 720244
underlying shares held 12A31H
Capacity in which (Note 1) LB ETRM
Name of Director interests were held HERMREAKGH®E wyzEDL
EENA HEEDZZER HizE1) Hiz22)
Zhao Tianyang Beneficial owner Shares: 600,000 0.0082
HXE BEnBEAA B1n
Share options: 2,380,000 0.0327
B An HAE
Xu Liang Beneficial owner Shares: 900,000 0.0124
Hr= ERBEEA 1
Share options: 1,700,000 0.0233
P17 BRHE
Liu Jingwei Beneficial owner Shares: 4,293,200 0.0589
22’ ERBEEA B
Wang Xin Beneficial owner Shares: 290,000 0.0040
T= BERBEBA BAn
Interest of spouse Shares: 200,000 0.0027
[ L B5
Notes: Htat
7. Each share option entitles the holder thereof to purchase 1 Share 1. RIEF2021F 11550 FH)51 2] (€%

pursuant to the terms of the Plan (as defined and described in the
section headed “Share Incentive Plan” below) which was granted on
5 November 2021.

2. As at 31 December 2024, the total number of issued Shares was 2.

7,286,015,440.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company or their respective
associates had registered any interests or short positions in the
Shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352
of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Apart from as disclosed in the sections headed “DIRECTORS’
AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES”, “SHARE
INCENTIVE PLAN" and “BONUS AWARD SCHEME" herein,
at no time during the year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, its parent company or any subsidiary of its parent
company a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors
or their respective spouses or children under 18 years of age
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements or contracts that are significant
in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company or
any of its subsidiaries, its parent company or any subsidiary of
its parent company was a party and in which a Director or his/
her connected entities had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

Pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules, the following
Directors have declared interests in the following businesses
(other than those businesses where the Directors were
appointed as directors to represent the interests of the
Company and/or any member of the Group) which are
considered to compete or are likely to compete, either directly
or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group during the year:

EFNHPFRB 2R

BB EHRAESI10E U TEFEEERSE
RUTEBF ARG (LA BEEEFESES
BRRABZESFURKRARA KR, NAEEE
ERAREADBRZET) MEFEBRSE
PAREFERNEAEREFBREZNEE

BRI ERB AR T

Description of businesses

Name of entity of the entity which are
whose businesses are considered to compete
considered to compete or likely to compete
or likely to compete with the businesses Nature of
with the businesses of the Group interest of
of the Group EBWRA the Director
EBRRAERER MAEBETR in the entity
Name of Director EZ RS 18 P55 S RT RE AR A EENERFESH
Exps BRBEZERZRE MEZBRZEN ZHEHEZMEE
Zhao Tianyang Beijing Shougang Fund Co., Ltd. Fund management Vice Chairman and
PN (“Shougang Fund")? BEeEHE General Manager
TREHESERAT BEERBALE
(TEHEE))*
Wu Lishun Beijing State-owned Capital Operation Fund management Party Secretary and
2188 and Management Company Limited* B &&E Chairman
TrREEEAEEEEFRAF BLRECRESR
Peng Jihai Sunshine Asset Management Corporation Asset management Director and General
vE8s Limited* BEEEE Manager
BHEEBERH BRI EERALE
Ho Gilbert Chi Hang Urban Parking Limited* Car park management Director
(EHE! EWEEREEFRAF FHEBEE 5%

L Such businesses may be carried out through the subsidiaries or
associates of the entity concerned or by way of other forms of
investments.
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The Board is independent from the boards of the above-
mentioned entities and is accountable to the Shareholders.
Coupled with the diligence of its Independent Non-executive
Directors whose views carry significant weight in the Board's
decisions, the Group is capable of carrying on its businesses
independently of, and at arm’s length from, the businesses of
these entities.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS UNDER THE SFO

So far as is known to the Directors and chief executive of the
Company, as at 31 December 2024, the following persons
(other than a Director or chief executive of the Company) had
or deemed to have interests or short positions in the Shares or
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of
the SFO:
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Long positions in the Shares

REABRGBZHEE

% of the

total number of
shares in issue
as at 31.12.2024

Capacity in which Number of  /£2024F12831H
Name of shareholder interests were held shares held HERTRG Notes
RERLE REREZZSR RERMHE wWyzEDL Hat
Shougang Group Co., Ltd. (“Shougang Group”) Interests of controlled 1,817,411,917 24.9438 1,7
BRNEEERAR ((HHER)) corporations
REFEZ EE
ORIX Corporation Interests of controlled 1,044,081,679 14.3299 2,7
B TtRBAERAR corporations
REFE R
Cheng Yu Tung Family (Holdings II) Limited Interests of controlled 835,485,105 11.4670 37
corporations
TEEEzER
Cheng Yu Tung Family (Holdings) Limited Interests of controlled 835,485,105 11.4670 37
corporations
REFEZ EE
Rocket Parade Limited Beneficial owner 535,485,105 7.3495 37
BmEAA
Beijing State-owned Capital Operation and Management Interests of controlled 728,035,520 9.9922 4,7
Company Limited corporations
TREFEARELEERRAT REFE R
Sunshine Insurance Group Company Limited Interests of controlled 586,944,246 8.0558 57
BHRREBRRNERAR corporations
TEEEzER
HOPU Investments Co. Il Ltd Interests of controlled 507,072,891 6.9595 6,7
corporations
A
HOPU USD Master Fund Ill, L.P. Interests of controlled 507,072,891 6.9595 6,7
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Notes:

Shougang Group is interested in all the Shares held by its indirect
subsidiaries, namely, China Gate Investments Limited (holding
899,050,068 Shares), Lyre Terrace Management Limited (holding
46,000 Shares) and Jingxi Holdings Limited (holding 918,315,849
Shares).

ORIX Corporation is interested in all the 300,748,346 Shares and
743,333,333 Shares held by its direct wholly-owned subsidiary ORIX
Asia Capital Limited and indirect wholly-owned subsidiary Mountain
Tai Peak | Investment Limited, respectively.

Rocket Parade Limited is wholly owned by NWS FM Limited
which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of NWS FM Holdings Limited.
Chow Tai Fook Life Insurance Company Limited is wholly owned
by Earning Star Limited which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Success Idea Global Limited. Both NWS FM Holdings Limited and
Success Idea Global Limited are wholly-owned subsidiaries of NWS
Service Management Limited (incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands) (“NWS Service”), which was accordingly deemed to be
interested in 535,485,105 Shares held by Rocket Parade Limited and
300,000,000 Shares held by Chow Tai Fook Life Insurance Company
Limited. NWS Service is a wholly-owned subsidiary of NWS Service
Management Limited (incorporated in the Cayman Islands), which is
wholly owned by CTF Services Limited which is held as to 73.19%
by Century Acquisition Limited. Century Acquisition Limited is a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Chow Tai Fook Enterprises Limited
(“Chow Tai Fook Enterprises”). Chow Tai Fook Enterprises is
wholly owned by Chow Tai Fook (Holding) Limited, which is held as
to 81.03% by Chow Tai Fook Capital Limited, which in turn is held
as to 48.98% and 46.65% by Cheng Yu Tung Family (Holdings)
Limited and by Cheng Yu Tung Family (Holdings Il) Limited
respectively.

Beijing State-owned Capital Operation and Management Company
Limited is interested in 728,035,520 Shares held by its indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary BSCOMC Operation Limited (formerly
known as Beijing State-owned Capital Operation and Management
Investment and Operation Limited).

#is :
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1FH 2 2 EF300,748,346 52 B 17} 743,333,333
BRG S #m o

Rocket Parade LimitedEINWS FM Limited = &
H#EH > TINWS FM LimitedZNWS FM Holdings
LimitedZz 2 EMB L5 e B AENFRER
RA B HEarning Star Limited 2 E# 5 - 1
Earning Star Limited#Success Idea Global
LimitedZ £ B} /& 2\ &] e NWS FM Holdings
Limited & Success Idea Global Limited#5ZNWS
Service Management Limited (J*Z/8 @& % B
E:Fm1z) (TNWS Service ) 2 2 EH1E L
&) - AT # #2A Rocket Parade Limitedfr#F
B H9535,485, 1058 R 17 K 1 B A #8 N 55 1R g
B R A B Ff % B H9300,000,00088 fR 17 A
o NWS ServiceZ #iBIZIRH EEFRA
B (RESHEAMUET) 2L ENE L
TIHBIZREEEERAGIHAEAAEEIEE
RAG2E#HE  TMEAXEEEERRAEH
Century Acquisition Limited?7A73.19% B # >
fiCentury Acquisition Limitedfl /5 A #5152
BRAE ([BAELEE) 22 ENELE e
BAIEEEREAE (HER) ERAE L EH#
B A A (FER) B R 5 fChow Tai Fook
Capital Limited#35E81.03%R# > TiChow
Tai Fook Capital Limited#Cheng Yu Tung
Family (Holdings) Limited®Cheng Yu Tung
Family (Holdings 1l) Limited 3 5l/#5 548.98 % %%
46.65% R 1 o

WREAEEF EEEEFRAGTREBES
BB AFBSCOMC Operation Limited (57
BIREAEREELSHERAG) Fisd =z
728,035,520 B 17 HHEF 7 ©

HERZRARAT 2024FFR 95



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFEHREE

5. Sunshine Insurance Group Company Limited is interested in
334,142,000 Shares and 252,802,246 Shares held by its wholly-
owned subsidiary Sunshine Property and Casualty Insurance
Company Limited and 99.99%-owned subsidiary Sunshine Life
Insurance Corporation Limited, respectively.

6. HOPU Investments Co. lll Ltd ("HOPU Investments”) is interested
in 507,072,891 Shares held by its indirect wholly-owned subsidiary,
Soteria Financial Investment Company Limited (“Soteria Financial
Investment”). Soteria Financial Investment is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Soteria Financial Holding Company Limited, which in
turn is a wholly-owned subsidiary of HOPU USD Master Fund Ili, L.P,
a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of HOPU Investments.

7. As at 31 December 2024, the total number of issued Shares was
7,286,015,440.

December 2024, the
Company had not been notified of any person (other than

Save as disclosed above, as at 31

a Director or chief executive of the Company), who had any
interest or short position in the Shares or underlying shares of
the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER'S INTEREST IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “CONNECTED
TRANSACTION AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS” below, at no time during the year had
the Company or any of its subsidiaries, and the controlling
shareholder (as defined under the Listing Rules) or any of
its subsidiaries entered into any contract of significance or
any contract of significance for the provision of services to
the Company or any of its subsidiaries by the controlling
shareholder or any of their subsidiaries.
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PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, there
is a sufficiency of public float of the Company’s securities as
required under the Listing Rules as at the date of this annual
report.

SHARE INCENTIVE PLAN

A share incentive plan (the "Plan”) was adopted by the
Company on 3 November 2021, the purposes of which
are to align the interests of employees of the Group, the
Company and the Shareholders for the Company's long-
term development, to attract, motivate and retain talents, to
establish and improve the long-term incentive mechanism of
the Company, with a view to achieving the objectives of further
enhancing Shareholders’ value.

The selected employees under the Plan are limited to Directors
and senior management, core management, technical and
business personnel of the Company and its branches and
subsidiaries, but excluding non-executive Directors or other
personnel subject to restrictions of applicable regulations (the
“Plan Selected Employees”).

Subject to any early termination in accordance with the Plan,
the Plan shall be valid and effective for a term of 6 years from
5 November 2021, being the date on which the Board resolved
to make the initial grant of award (the “Award”) of right to
purchase Shares at the agreed exercise price within the exercise
period, subject to fulfillment of the relevant exercise conditions,
pursuant to the Plan (the “Share Options”), and ending on 4
November 2027 (both dates inclusive).

The total number of Shares which may be awarded upon the
exercise of Share Options granted under the Plan shall be no
more than 173,139,000 Shares (the “Plan Awarded Shares”),
representing approximately 2.38% of the issued Shares as at
the date of this annual report. The maximum number of Shares
awarded and to be awarded upon the exercise of Share Options
(including exercised or unexercised) granted to any individual
Plan Selected Employee under the Plan shall be no more than
1% of the total number of issued Shares.
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Pursuant to the Plan, Shares for the Award shall be acquired
in the secondary market by the trustee utilizing the Company’s
internal resources provided to the trustee to satisfy the transfer
of Shares to the Plan Selected Employees upon the exercise
of Share Options granted under the Plan. The trustee shall
hold such Shares on trust pursuant to the trust deed entered
into with the Company until the Shares are vested in the Plan
Selected Employees in accordance with the Plan. The trustee
shall not exercise any voting rights in respect of any Shares held
under the trust (the “Shoucheng Employee Share Award
Trust”) (including but not limited to the Shares in respect
of the Award, any bonus Shares and scrip Shares derived
therefrom).

The exercise price of a Share Option under an Award shall not
be lower than any nominal value of the Shares and shall not
be lower than the higher of the following: (1) the closing price
of the Shares on the relevant grant date; and (2) the average
closing price of the Shares on the 5 trading days prior to the
relevant grant date.

The Share Options under an Award shall only be exercised
on a trading day (unless prohibited by the relevant Listing
Rules) after 24 months from the relevant grant date. The
exercise of any Share Option by a grantee shall be subject to
the satisfaction of the exercise conditions as specified in the
Plan, including, among others, the Company's performance
and the individual grantee’s performance of each year during
the grant and the exercise periods. In respect of each grant,
upon satisfaction of the exercise conditions as provided
under the Plan, the Share Options under an Award shall
become exercisable in average in three exercise periods in
the proportion of 33%, 33% and 34% respectively. The Plan
Selected Employee shall exercise all his/her Share Options by
the last trading day on the 60th month from the relevant grant
date.
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The movements in the Share Options granted during the year

are set out as follows:
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FARTFHRMPELESBERNOT :

Number of Share Options
R EAEHE
Outstanding Outstanding
as at as at
1 January 31 December
2024 2024
HE Granted BE
20245 during 2024
Category of Plan Selected Employees/Name 118 the year Exercised Lapsed 12A318
HEEEREER /e RITHE REART g7 BXY KTHE
Directors:
g%
Zhao Tianyang 7,000,000 = = 4,620,000 2,380,000
HXRE
Xu Liang 5,000,000 - - 3,300,000 1,700,000
e
Five highest paid individuals (excluding one Director 20,900,000 - - 13,794,000 7,106,000
of the Company) during 2024 "2
RWUERFHEENELEA (FEEFAT-LESR) 7!
Other employees: 91,320,000 - - 61,520,400 29,799,600
HfhfEs
Total 124,220,000 Mere - - 83,234,400 40,985,600
EE 1)

Further details of the Plan are set out in note 23 to the

consolidated financial statements.

Notes:

1. On 5 November 2021, 138,500,000 Share Options (each Share
Option entitling the holder thereof to purchase 1 Share) were

granted to 50 Plan Selected Employees under the initial grant of

the Plan at an exercise price of HK$1.624 per Share (subject to

adjustments pursuant to the Plan, details of such adjustments are
set out in the circular of the Company dated 18 October 2021). The
Share Options shall be valid commencing from 5 November 2021

and ending on 4 November 2026. The closing price of the Shares on

4 November 2021 was HK$1.620.

AHBNESHERRGAMBRRNON

23

mtat -

FR202141155H 2 138,500,00017 iR 17 B 1

(B RGERERTFRFENBE1RRG
BIHER) IRIE A 51 209 & K IZ T2 MR 1.624
BITHIITRABIS (IR#E X2 R T £7756
B S IEH I AL HAIA20214E10
HI8HBIEERA) B F5054 5+ 2IETF RS -
BRI EIEE20214 11 55HEZE20264E1154
HIEBER - RIFIK202141154H B9 1B

1.620&7T ©
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On 2 November 2022, 25,800,000 Share Options were granted to
20 Plan Selected Employees under the reserved grant of the Plan
at an exercise price of HK$1.560 per Share (subject to adjustments
pursuant to the Plan, details of such adjustments are set out in the
circular of the Company dated 18 October 2021). The Share Options
shall be valid commencing from 2 November 2022 and ending on
1 November 2027. The closing price of the Shares on 1 November
2022 was HK$1.440. Due to the change of value in the grant
of Share Options upon verification, 400,000 Share Options were
deducted from the total proposed reserved grant of 26,200,000
Share Options as stated in the announcement of the Company
dated 2 November 2022.

Please refer to note 23 to the consolidated financial statements for
the fair value of the Share Options at the date of grant and the
accounting standard and policy adopted.

2. One of the five highest paid individuals during the year ended 371
December 2024 was a Director of the Company, whose interests in
the Share Options had been disclosed separately under “Directors”
in the table above and not aggregated to the “Five highest paid
individuals during 2024”. The five highest paid individuals during
the year had a total of 25,900,000 Share Options as at 1 January
2024, among which 17,094,000 Share Options have lapsed and
8,806,000 Share Options have not been exercised during the year.

3. No Share Options granted to the Plan Selected Employees were
cancelled during the year ended 31 December 2024.

As at 31 December 2024, a total of 173,138,000 Shares
were acquired by the trustee and held under the Shoucheng
Employee Share Award Trust and no Plan Awarded Shares have
been exercised under this trust in accordance with the Plan.

BONUS AWARD SCHEME

A bonus award scheme (the “Scheme”) was adopted by the
Company on 22 June 2020 (the "Adoption Date”) for the
purposes of providing the employees (including the Executive
Directors) of the Company or its subsidiaries (the “Selected
Employees”) with bonus in form of Shares in order to
encourage and retain them for achieving performance goals
and to promote the pursuit of long-term interests of the Group,
while reinforcing direct alignment of the Selected Employees
with interests of Shareholders and the Company.
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The Scheme shall be valid and effective for a term of 10 years
commencing on the Adoption Date, and ending on 21 June
2030 (both dates inclusive).

The Scheme shall be subject to the administration of the
Remuneration Committee and the administration committee
specifically established by the Remuneration Committee for the
Scheme (the “Administration Committee”) and shall comply
with the rules of the Scheme (the “Scheme Rules”) and the
trust deed dated 22 June 2020 entered into between the
Company and the trustee (the “"Trust Deed”).

Pursuant to the Scheme Rules, the Administration Committee
may select the Selected Employee to participate in the Scheme.
The Administration Committee may also give instructions to
the trustee to acquire such number of Shares on the Stock
Exchange for granting to the Selected Employees pursuant to
the Scheme Rules.

The Administration Committee is entitled to impose any
conditions (including a period of continued service within
the Group after any award of Shares under the Scheme (the
“Awarded Shares”)) as it deems appropriate with respect
to the entitlement of the Selected Employee to the Awarded
Shares. Subject to the Scheme Rules and the fulfillment of all
vesting conditions to the vesting of the Awarded Shares on a
Selected Employee as specified in the Scheme and the letter of
award which sets out details of the award, including but not
limited to the number of Awarded Shares, the vesting schedule
and the exercise price (if applicable), the trustee shall transfer
the Awarded Shares to such Selected Employee on the date (the
"Vesting Date”) on which his/her entitlement to the Awarded
Shares is vested in such Selected Employee in accordance with
the Scheme Rules.

The trustee shall not exercise the voting rights in respect of any
Shares held by it under the trust constituted by the Trust Deed
(the "Trust”) (including but not limited to the Awarded Shares,
any bonus Shares and scrip Shares derived therefrom).
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The maximum number of Shares which can be awarded REZFEITIEFTHNESRHHBE AKX
under the Scheme is 0.5% of the issued share capital of the AN IMWBH B TR EMO.5% (B
Company as at the Adoption Date (being 34,627,883 Shares, 34,627,883k & EH EARFHR A ERTT
representing approximately 0.48% of the issued Shares as at RR{D4BE(M0.48%) > MIRIE &8I Bl #% F &
the date of this annual report) and the maximum number of EREEMNESKRNDHEEAXAT KRB
Shares which can be awarded to a Selected Employee under the B #1TARZAMI0.1% (BN6,925,5768%) °
Scheme is 0.1% of the issued share capital of the Company as

at the Adoption Date (being 6,925,576 Shares).

The movements in the Awarded Shares granted during the year F£REFTHEBRMDEEFH B HANT :
are set out as follow:

Number of Awarded Shares

RERHUE
Unvested Unvested
as at as at
1 January 31 December
2024 (e ) Granted 2024
HE20E during 120245
Category of Selected Employees 1B1H the year (o2 Vested "7/ Lapsed 12A318
ETESER HRGE U REREF EHRE BXH HRE B
Directors: - - - - -
%!
Five highest paid individuals(””f“’f : = 2,600,000 = = 2,600,000
R0UERFHTEHELMEA
Other employees: - 4,450,000 - - 4,450,000
HitfES .
Total - 7,050,000 (re5) - - 7,050,000
oz (Hizt5)
Aa
Notes . Vi=2m
1. No Shares have been granted under the Scheme from the Adoption 1. R4 H B ZE20244E 15 1 H 1F » i #E R 1E % 51
Date to 1 January 2024. IR F TR -
2. The fair value of the Awarded Shares granted to Selected Employees 2. BLE2024FE 12531 HIFEER KRG G ETE
during the year ended 31 December 2024 is HK$1.460 per Share. EERRHIIEE R GG Z A A BEAGRT.460
Please refer to note 36.18 to the consolidated financial statements BT o BEEI R TEFE T HAI A MEE LR AR
for the fair value of the Awarded Shares at the date of grant and & ERFIE R 22 S SR E N
the accounting standard and policy adopted. 3£36.18
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3. Since there were no Awarded Shares vested during the year ended
31 December 2024, there is no weighted average closing price of
the Shares in respect thereof for the year.

4. One of the five highest paid individuals during the year ended 31
December 2024 was a Director of the Company. No Awarded Shares
were granted to the aforementioned Director.

5. On 27 March 2024, a total of 7,050,000 Awarded Shares were
granted to the Selected Employees. The closing price immediately
prior to the date of grant was HK$1.450 per Share. The Vesting
Date for the 7,050,000 Awarded Shares is 2 January 2025, the
closing price on the Vesting Date was HK$1.050 per Share.

6. No Awarded Share granted to the Selected Employees were
cancelled during the year ended 31 December 2024.

From the Adoption Date to 31 December 2024, a total
of 26,506,000 Shares were purchased by the trustee and
no Awarded Shares have been vested under this trust in
accordance with the Scheme.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements that will or may result in the
Company issuing shares or that require the Company to enter
into any agreements that will or may result in the Company
issuing shares were entered into by the Company during the
year or subsisted at the end of the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company
bought back a total of 40,856,000 Shares on the Stock
Exchange at an aggregate consideration of HK$58,736,737.57.
All such bought back Shares were subsequently cancelled.
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Particulars of the Shares bought back during the year are set

AEEARBRMONFENT :

out below:
Price paid per Share
BRI ZER
Aggregate
Highest Lowest Consideration
Number of 1) =K LB
Month Shares bought back (HK$) (HKS$) (HK$)
A [E] fE e 17 8 B &) (&) &)
January 2024 9,496,000 1.62 1.35 14,242,925.73
202451 8
February 2024 8,560,000 1.60 1.36 12,813,924.07
2024428
April 2024 7,896,000 1.54 1.40 11,819,393.24
20244548
May 2024 2,254,000 1.45 1.35 3,152,132.06
2024458
June 2024 3,262,000 1.38 1.32 4,434,663.89
2024468
July 2024 6,470,000 1.38 1.33 8,748,081.20
20244578
August 2024 736,000 1.33 1.29 961,154.57
2024488
September 2024 1,022,000 1.39 1.28 1,367,746.89
2024494
December 2024 1,160,000 1.06 0.99 1,196,715.92
20245128
Total 40,856,000 58,736,737.57
B

The Directors considered that such Shares bought back
reflected the Company’s recognition of its own value and its
confidence in the long-term prospects of the industry and

would, ultimately, benefit the Company and create value to the

Shareholders.
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Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed securities (whether on the Stock Exchange or
otherwise) during the year.

DISTRIBUTION RESERVES

At the end of the reporting period, the Company has reserves
available for distribution as calculated in accordance with
the relevant provisions of the Companies Ordinance, details
of which are set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the percentage of
revenue from rendering of services of the Group attributable to
the five largest customers in aggregate is less than 30%.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the percentage of
purchases of the Group attributable to the five largest suppliers
in aggregate is less than 30%.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The following connected transaction and continuing connected
transactions were recorded during the year and up to the date
of this annual report:
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Connected Transaction
Sale and Purchase Agreement dated 18 December 2024

On 18 December 2024, Fine Power Group Limited (“Fine
Power"”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a sale and purchase agreement (the “Sale and
Purchase Agreement”) with Shougang Holding (Hong
Kong) Limited (“Shougang Holding"”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Shougang Group, pursuant to which Fine Power
has conditionally agreed to sell, and Shougang Holding has
conditionally agreed to purchase, 606,927,640 ordinary
shares (“Shougang Resources Share(s)”) of Shougang
Fushan Resources Group Limited (“Shougang Resources”),
representing approximately 11.92% of the entire issued share
capital of Shougang Resources as at 18 December 2024, at a
consideration of HK$1,456,626,336 (representing HK$2.40 per
Shougang Resources Share) (the “Proposed Restructuring”).

The Sale and Purchase Agreement and the Proposed
Restructuring contemplated thereunder, which involves the
transfer of the Group’s interests in Shougang Resources to
Shougang Holding, align with the Company's future overall
development strategy. This further optimizes the Company's
asset structure and marks another significant step on the path
of strategic transformation.

Given that Shougang Group is a substantial shareholder of
the Company, Shougang Holding being a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Shougang Group is a connected person of the
Company under the Listing Rules as at the date of the Sale
and Purchase Agreement. Therefore, the entering into of the
Sale and Purchase Agreement and the Proposed Restructuring
contemplated thereunder constituted a connected transaction
of the Company under the Listing Rules.

All the conditions precedent set out in the Sale and Purchase
Agreement have been satisfied and completion of the Proposed
Restructuring (the “Completion”) took place on 3 February
2025.
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Details of the Sale and Purchase Agreement, the Proposed
Restructuring and the Completion were disclosed in the
announcements of the Company dated 18 December 2024 and
3 February 2025 and the circular of the Company dated 11
January 2025.

Continuing Connected Transactions

2020 Master Agreement dated 18 November 2019
and 2024 Master Agreement dated 22 November

(a)

2024
(i)

On 18 November 2019, the Company and
Shougang Fund entered into a private fund
management service agreement (the “2020
Master Agreement”) in respect of the provision
of private fund management services by the
Company and/or its subsidiaries to Shougang
Fund and/or its associates for a term commencing
from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2024.
Given that Shougang Group is a substantial
shareholder of the Company, Shougang Fund
being a wholly-owned subsidiary of Shougang
Group indirectly holding approximately 16.74%
of the number of Shares in issue of the Company
as at the date of the 2020 Master Agreement is
a connected person of the Company. Therefore,
the 2020 Master Agreement and the transactions
contemplated thereunder constituted continuing
connected transactions of the Company under the
Listing Rules.

The transaction amounts under the 2020 Master
Agreement during the term of the agreement
were subject to the following annual caps:
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For the year ended 31 December

HENBNALEE
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
NE# NEH NEH NEH# NE#
Provision of private fund management
services
RUMSESEERE 358,000,000 51,000,000 701,000,000 851,000,000 924,000,000
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Pursuant to the 2020 Master Agreement, the
provision of private fund management services
shall be priced between either (i) 0.1% and
2% of the capital commitment or the capital
contribution of the partnership each year (as
determined under the respective partnership
agreements) for urban renewal related funds; or
(i) 0.5% and 2% of the capital commitment or
the capital contribution of partnership each year
(as determined under the respective partnership
agreements) for any other types of funds.

Details of the continuing connected transactions
contemplated under the 2020 Master Agreement
were disclosed in the announcement of the
Company dated 18 November 2019 and in the
circular of the Company dated 28 November
2019.

On 22 November 2024, the Company and
Shougang Fund entered into a new private fund
management service agreement (the “2024
Master Agreement”) to continue the provision
of private fund management services by the
Company and/or its subsidiaries to Shougang
Fund and/or its associates under the 2020 Master
Agreement for a term commencing from 1
January 2025 to 31 December 2027. Given that
Shougang Group is a substantial shareholder
of the Company as at the date of the 2024
Master Agreement, Shougang Fund being a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Shougang Group is
a connected person of the Company. Therefore,
the 2024 Master Agreement and the transactions
contemplated thereunder constituted continuing
connected transactions of the Company under the
Listing Rules.
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The transaction amounts under the 2024 Master
Agreement during the term of the agreement are
subject to the following annual caps:
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For the year ending 31 December

BENAMNBLEE
2025 2026 2027
RME RMB RMB
NEE NEE ANEE
Provision of private fund management services
REMSESERRE 214,000,000 155,000,000 110,000,000

Pursuant to the 2024 Master Agreement, the
provision of private fund management services
shall be charged (i) in respect of infrastructure
asset management related funds, in the range of
0.1% to 2% of the capital commitment, paid-
in capital contribution, net value or investment
amount/investment costs of the fund per year (as
determined under the individual fund transaction
documents); and (i) in respect of other funds,
in the range of 0.5% to 2% of the capital
commitment, paid-in capital contribution, net
value or investment amount/investment costs
of the fund per year (as determined under the
individual fund transaction documents).

Details of the continuing connected transactions
contemplated under the 2024 Master Agreement
were disclosed in the announcement of the
Company dated 22 November 2024 and in the
circular of the Company dated 9 December 2024.
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Carpark Operation Contractor Agreements

As stated in the announcement of the Company
dated 1 November 2018 and in the circular of the
Company dated 28 November 2018, Urban Parking
(Beijing) Limited (B (b R) FEEEBR QB
“Urban Parking Beijing”), which became a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company upon completion of
the acquisition of the entire equity interest in Urban
Parking Beijing (i.e. on 28 December 2018) by E Park
Ltd. (BEf2E (tR) KBE

entered into three carpark

Investment Management Co.,
BEAFREAT > “E Park”),
operation contractor agreements dated 1 April 2015
(the “Carpark Operation Contractor Agreements”)
with each of Beijing Chong WeneNew World Properties
Ltd. SEREX e LR EMERE R
“Beijing Chongwen"”), Beijing Chong Yu
Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. JtREREME
B2 AE/AT > “Beijing Chongyu”) and China New
World Electronics Ltd. (FEMEREFHBR QD
“China New World Electronics”), each of which is a
subsidiary of New World Development Company Limited
("New World Development”), which in turn was a

Development Co.,
BIRASF

substantial shareholder of the Company as at the date
of the Carpark Operation Contractor Agreements and is
an associate of certain substantial shareholders of the
Company as at the date of this annual report. Given that
each of Beijing Chongwen, Beijing Chongyu and China
New World Electronics is a connected person of the
Company. Therefore, the entering into of the Carpark
Operation Contractor Agreements and the transactions
contemplated thereunder constituted continuing
connected transactions of the Company under the
Listing Rules.
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Pursuant to the Carpark Operation Contractor
Agreements, the initial term is 36 months commencing
on 1 April 2015 and expiring on 31 March 2018, after
which Urban Parking Beijing may opt to (and with
respect to the year commencing 1 April 2018, has opted
to) renew the respective Carpark Operation Contractor
Agreements for a successive period of one year each,
until 10 years from the date of the agreement, subject
to any framework agreement applicable to Urban
Parking Beijing and re-compliance with the Listing Rules
at the relevant time; and Urban Parking Beijing will
provide carpark operation services to Beijing Chongwen,
Beijing Chongyu and China New World Electronics
for different sections of the carparks in Beijing New
World Department Store Phase 1 and Phase 2 (”Beijing
Carparks”) in return for income from parking, car
detailing, rental fees in the car park, advertising revenue
and other service incomes subject to the following
payments of fees (the “Carpark Operation Contractor
Fees”):

1 April 2015 to
31 March 2017
H2015548 10 £2017%£3H31H
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Subsequent

2-year period

from 1 April 2017
2017F4R1BEEE B FH

Beijing Chongwen

RMB1,166,975 per year

Approximately 5% increase

IEREX B AE¥1,166,9757T LB#I5%

Beijing Chongyu

RMB1,900,000 per year

Approximately 5% increase

IERER sS4 AR ¥1,900,0007T LA#5%

China New World Electronics

REHH R E

RMB733,025 per year
SFE ARE®T733,0255T LE5A45%

Approximately 5% increase
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—-—— H
EEEREE
Pursuant to the Carpark Operation Contractor REZEFEREERREHE =
Agreements, the Carpark Operation Contractor Fees are BEZEEANEERTUTFEE LR
subject to the following annual caps: FR& :
1 April 2015 1 April 2017 1 April 2019 1 April 2021 1 April 2023
to 31 March 2017 to 31 March 2019 to 31 March 2021 to 31 March 2023 to 31 March 2025
201554R18 2017F4R18 2019%4F1H 202154518 2023F481H
F2017F38318  E2019%38318  F2021%3831H  F2023%3H31H  X2025%3H31H
RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
AEE ARE AEE AEE NEE
Carpark Operation Contractor Fees 3,800,000 3,990,000 4,189,500 4,398,976 4,618,924
PEREEANHBER
Details of the continuing connected transactions ZEFHIBEERNEBERETNNE
contemplated under the Carpark Operation Contractor EBREXRZZHEEAERALBBHA
Agreements were disclosed in the announcement dated 2018F 1MMATHHN A E R BEHE%A2018
1 November 2018 and in the circular of the Company F11H28BERANIEHIFE -

dated 28 November 2018.
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(c)

Parking Lots Cooperation Agreement dated 28
October 2020

On 28 October 2020, E Park entered into a parking
lots cooperation agreement (the “Parking Lots
Cooperation Agreement”) with Beijing Shoushi
Changtai Operation Management Co., Ltd. Gt RE#1 &
HEEEIEAMR AT > “Shoushi Changtai”) in relation
to the continuing connected transactions involving
entrusting the management and leasing of the parking
lots under the Chang'an Mills (an urban renewal project
in New Shougang High-end Industry Comprehensive
Service Park fTEMEHEXLSIRFEE > "Shougang
Park”), the “Project”) by Shoushi Changtai to E Park.
Pursuant to the Parking Lots Cooperation Agreement,
Shoushi Changtai will entrust the management of
the parking lots under the Project to E Park and shall
pay E Park an annual management fee (the “Annual
Management Fee”) and shall be entitled to all the
revenues generated therefrom for the first five years
(the "Entrusted Management Period”) and Shoushi
Changtai shall lease the parking lots under the Project to
E Park for operation and management for the remaining
years (the “Lease Period”), during which E Park shall
be entitled to all the revenues and shall pay to Shoushi
Changtai a specified percentage of the profit generated
from operating the parking lots under the Project (the
“Annual Variable Lease Payment”). The initial term
of the Parking Lots Cooperation Agreement shall be
ten years commencing from the day after the date of
completion and successful acceptance of construction
of all parking lots under the Project, which shall be
extended automatically for another ten years provided
that E Park has not breached any specific terms as
stipulated in the Parking Lots Cooperation Agreement.

()
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The entering into of the Parking Lots Cooperation
Agreement is for that the industrial/office parking
is the key focus of the Company and the Company
will work with Shoushi Changtai to build parking lots
with international green standard under the guidance
of the goal of unified brand image, service model,
management standards, operation and maintenance
support, and internal control and supervision of
Shougang Park.

The cap amounts of the Annual Management Fee during
the Entrusted Management Period and the Annual
Variable Lease Payment during the Lease Period are as
follows:

EEBCERENEIIRRREE
MABREFERTARNERMBA LR
B UREEHEE BT RE— R
HBRERAG— EERER— BEEIR
M- RNEBEER—HNERNIET
ARBREENERBTFERRERE
BRENFEES-

ZEEEANFEFEEEEREERN
FEIIFEREEH LRIIENT

During the
Entrusted
Management During the
Period Lease Period
REXEERAR REEHA
RMB RMB
AR AR
Annual Management Fee payable to E Park 6,000,000 =
N FTEEENFEEEREE
Annual Variable Lease Payment payable by E Park - 6,000,000

BEERXMNEEIIFEEES
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On 3 January 2023, E Park, E Park Operation
Management Co., Ltd. (B8 (IR) BE &2
BPR/AB > "E Park Operation”, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of E Park) and Shoushi Changtai entered
into a supplemental agreement of the Parking
Lots Cooperation Agreement (the “Supplemental
Agreement”) to amend the commencement date of
the Entrusted Management Period, being 12 months
from the day after the date of completion and successful
acceptance of construction of all parking lots under the
Project, which was initially fixed on 11 March 2022 to 1
October 2022 after arm’s length negotiations between
E Park, E Park Operation and Shoushi Changtai taking
into consideration factors including the operation of the
parking lots of the Project was later than the completion
of the construction. Accordingly, the period end date
for each of the annual cap under each of the Entrusted
Management Period and the Lease Period will be by
30 September each year starting from 2023 and by 30
September each year starting from 2028. In addition,
pursuant to the Supplemental Agreement, E Park
assigned all its rights and obligations under the Parking
Lots Cooperation Agreement to E Park Operation.
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On 30 June 2023, E Park Operation and Shoushi
Changtai entered into a second supplemental agreement
(the “Second Supplemental Agreement”), pursuant
to which, the parties agreed to further revise certain
terms of the Parking Lots Cooperation Agreement which
was amended, modified and supplemented by the
Supplemental Agreement (the “Previous Agreement”).
Subject to termination in accordance with the terms
of the Previous Agreement as amended, modified and
supplemented by the Second Supplemental Agreement
(the “Amended Agreement”), the initial term of the
Amended Agreement shall be five (5) years and shall
be extended automatically for another five (5) years
and further extended for another ten (10) years in
accordance with the Amended Agreement, pursuant to
which, (i) the Entrusted Management Period shall be
amended to nine (9) months from 1 October 2022 to
30 June 2023; (ii) the Lease Period shall be amended
such that the initial lease period shall be from 1 July
2023 to 30 September 2027 (the “Initial Lease
Period”), and shall be extended automatically for five
(5) years (the “"Extended Lease Period”). Upon expiry
of the Extended Lease Period, the Lease Period will
be further extended for ten (10) years thereafter (the
“Further Extended Lease Period”) provided that E
Park Operation has not breached any specific terms
as stipulated in the Amended Agreement; (iii) the
management fee during the Entrusted Management
Period shall be settled as previously and mutually agreed
in accordance with the Previous Agreement; and (iv)
the Annual Variable Lease Payment shall be amended
to an annual fee representing 70% of the profit (before
tax) generated from the operation of the parking lots
under the Project during the Initial Lease Period, and
an annual fee representing 65% of the profit (before
tax) generated from the operation of the parking lots
under the Project during the Extended Lease Period and
the Further Extended Lease Period after arm’s length
negotiations between E Park Operation and Shoushi
Changtai. Accordingly, the period end date for each
of the annual cap under the Entrusted Management
Period and the Lease Period will be changed as result
of the amendments in accordance with the Amended
Agreement.
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After the abovementioned amendments, the Group will
operate the Project independently and share the revenue
generated from the operation of the parking lots under
the Project, which will further enhance the Group's
ability to control the high-quality underlying assets.

The annual caps and the respective period/year end date
thereof are set out below:

During the
Entrusted
Management
Period
REFTEES

For the nine For the three
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BB LHESIR ZEENEFEESR
HAERE2EETESTREFEER
AN RBE-—DRBALERHRNNEBERE
BEENZEERE]-

FELRREXBHBFLERB

g -

During the Lease Period

RAEH

months from
1 October 2022 to

months from
1 July 2023 to

For each year from
1 October 2023 to

For each year from
1 October 2027 to

30 June 2023 30 September 2023 30 September 2027 30 September 2042
B2022F10A1H B2023%7R1H
E2023F6A30H2 F023F9A30H2  §FBE2023F1018  §FH2027%10A18
9f@n 38R £202759A30R £204259A308
RMB RMB RMB RMB
NEE ANEE ANEE ANEE
Management Fee payable to
E Park Operation
EATREEEENEERE 4,500,000 - - -
Variable Lease Payment payable
by E Park Operation
BREBERIMNFEEES - 1,500,000 6,000,000 6,000,000
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Given that Shougang Group is a connected person of
the Company and indirectly holds approximately 48.86%
interest in Shoushi Changtai, Shoushi Changtai is a
connected person of the Company by virtue of it being
an associate of the connected person of the Company as
at the date of the Parking Lots Cooperation Agreement
and hence, the transactions contemplated under the
Parking Lots Cooperation Agreement constituted
continuing connected transactions of the Company

under the Listing Rules.

Details of the continuing connected transactions
contemplated under the Parking Lots Cooperation
Agreement and Amended Agreement were disclosed in
the announcements of the Company dated 28 October
2020, 9 November 2020 and 30 June 2023.

Continuing Connected Transactions Pursuant to
Rule 14A.60(1) of the Listing Rules

As stated in the announcement of the Company dated
29 March 2021,
Carpark Management,

the Group has, through Guangzhou
Guangzhou Wanwu and
Foshan Wanwu (as defined below, collectively, the
“Partnerships”) and its wholly-owned subsidiaries,
entered into various agreements, namely Guangzhou
Carpark Sales Agreement, Foshan Carpark Sales
Agreement, Guangzhou Carpark Management
Agreement (I), Guangzhou Carpark Management
Agreement (ll) and Foshan Carpark Management
Agreement (as defined below, collectively, the
“Agreements”) with subsidiaries of China Vanke Co.,
Ltd. in respect of carpark sales services and carpark

property management services in the PRC.

Shoucheng Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024

(d)

RiEBEEaFHEE BN ENER
W/AERBDZBAENTKREEFTEEMN
E&RM48.86%Em HILtEMERKE
WERBFABBALZHBAMK A
ABZRABALT AL BREFELHR
A - FESEHRETRETZX
SERARBDZFHBAERS

FESEFEHEREEIHER T &
ETZRBERERZ ZERERER

BIH 3420206108280 ~ 2020411
B9H %2023F6830HZ 2 &EH

Zo

L EHRYFE 14A.60(1)E T HIFFAEFIE.
%

MAAT HEA2021E3829HHM A
S AEEBAEMNEEEER
BEEMNEYMEHLEY (R T
EH &8 ZERELE) REEE
MEAR  BBERNECEXRNHERASE
ZHEBABMEANFEEMUHE REE
SMEEEBRBET T —R2WBE
EMNEMEERZ BLUBAHEE
W BMNEEHBEREBZE)  BENE
HEEEBRINEHLUEESEER
#(ATXFER B ZEXBH
&) °



Guangzhou Carpark Sales Agreement

Guangzhou Shouzhong Wanwu Corporate
Management Limited Partnership (B/MNEHE
MEEEESHE L% (BERE%), "Guangzhou
Wanwu”), an indirect non-wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, Shenzhen Vanke
Gongying Investment Co., Ltd. CRIITEY
HEmKZEABRAE > "Shenzhen Gongying”)
and Guangzhou Vanke Property Management
Services Co., Ltd. (BN ERMERBEER
‘A7) > "Guangzhou Vanke") entered into an
agreement (the “Guangzhou Carpark Sales
Agreement”) on 12 December 2019, pursuant
to which Guangzhou Wanwu has entrusted
Shenzhen Gongying and Guangzhou Vanke to
provide carpark sales services in respect of 7,727
carparks situated in Guangzhou City in the PRC
from 13 November 2019 to 31 December 2025,
and Guangzhou Wanwu shall pay (i) Shenzhen
Gongying and Guangzhou Vanke an annual sales
commission fee representing 3.6% to 5% of the
annual sales revenues generated from the sales
of the carparks; and (ii) Guangzhou Vanke a
monthly fee of not exceeding RMB30,000 for the
daily operational expenses relating to the services
provided thereunder;
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(i)

Foshan Carpark Sales Agreement

Foshan Shouzhong Wanwu Corporate
Management Limited Partnership (# &
BYEEEEGBLEE (BIRE%), "Foshan
Wanwu"”), an indirect non-wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, Shenzhen Gongying
and Foshan Vanke Property Management Co.,
Ltd. (UM EMERFBRLE > “Foshan
Vanke”) entered into an agreement (the
“Foshan Carpark Sales Agreement”) on 10
April 2020, pursuant to which Foshan Wanwu
has entrusted Shenzhen Gongying and Foshan
Vanke to provide carpark sales services in respect
of 2,067 carparks situated in Foshan City in
the PRC from 1 April 2020 to 31 December
2026, and Foshan Wanwu shall pay (i) Shenzhen
Gongying and Foshan Vanke an annual sales
commission fee representing 3.6% to 5% of the
annual sales revenues generated from the sales
of the carparks; and (ii) Foshan Vanke a monthly
fee of not exceeding RMB30,000 for the daily
operational expenses relating to the services
provided thereunder;
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(iii)

Guangzhou Carpark Management Agreement (1)

Guangzhou Shouzhong Easyparking Carpark
Management Co., Ltd. (BMNEF Z HEEIF
EEABRAT > "“Guangzhou Shouzhong”),
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company and Guangzhou Vanke entered into
an agreement (the “Guangzhou Carpark
Management Agreement (I)”) on 1 December
2020 (as amended and supplemented on 17
March 2021), pursuant to which Guangzhou
Shouzhong has entrusted Guangzhou Vanke to
provide property management services in respect
of certain underground carparks situated in
Guangzhou Vanke Cloud City phases 1 and 2 for
a monthly fixed management fee of RMB310,800
from 1 December 2020 to 30 November 2024.
On 1 September 2022, Guangzhou Shouzhong
and Guangzhou Vanke entered into a further
supplemental agreement to amend the monthly
fixed management fee from RMB310,800 to
RMB298,800 as a result of a decrease in the
carparks for the property management services
under the Guangzhou Carpark Management
Agreement (I);
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(iv)

Guangzhou Carpark Management Agreement (ll)

Guangzhou Shouzhong Wanwu Carpark
Management Co., Ltd. (BN EHEYFE
S EEHBMRAT > “"Guangzhou Carpark
Management”), an indirect non-wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company and Guangzhou Vanke
entered into an agreement (the “Guangzhou
Carpark Management Agreement (II)") on 19
November 2019, pursuant to which Guangzhou
Carpark Management has entrusted Guangzhou
Vanke to provide property management and
pre-sale support services in respect of 4,324
carpark spaces situated in Guangzhou City, the
PRC (“Guangzhou Carpark Spaces”) from
19 November 2019 to 31 December 2025,
and Guangzhou Carpark Management shall
pay Guangzhou Vanke (i) a monthly property
management fee of RMB120 to RMB150 per
every unsold carpark spaces of the Guangzhou
Carpark Spaces; and (ii) a monthly entrusted
management service fee representing 10% of the
revenue from operating the Guangzhou Carpark
Spaces (the “Guangzhou Monthly Entrusted
Management Service Fee");

On 15 August 2024, through friendly negotiation
and based on the adjustment of the government’s
charging guidance price and the actual
operation of the carpark, Guangzhou Carpark
Management and Guangzhou Vanke signed
a supplemental agreement to the Guangzhou
Carpark Management Agreement (IlI), pursuant
to which Guangzhou Carpark Management
and Guangzhou Vanke agreed to adjust the
relevant fees: Guangzhou Carpark Management
shall pay Guangzhou Vanke a monthly property
management fee of RMB80 to RMB150 per
unsold parking space of the Guangzhou Carpark
Spaces per month, and shall no longer pay to
Guangzhou Vanke the Guangzhou Monthly
Entrusted Management Service Fee from 1
January 2024; and
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Foshan Carpark Management Agreement

Guangzhou Carpark Management (Foshan
Branch) and Foshan Vanke entered into an
agreement (the “Foshan Carpark Management
Agreement”) on 29 December 2020, pursuant
to which Guangzhou Carpark Management
(Foshan Branch) has entrusted Foshan Vanke
to provide property management services in
respect of 1,338 underground carpark spaces
from 1 September 2020 to 31 August 2021,
and Guangzhou Carpark Management (Foshan
Branch) shall pay a fixed monthly management
fee of RMB93,660 to Foshan Vanke for the
services provided thereunder. On 12 November
2021, Guangzhou Carpark Management
(Foshan Branch) and Foshan Vanke entered into
an agreement to renew the Foshan Carpark
Management Agreement to extend the term
thereof to 31 August 2024. As none of the
applicable percentage ratios (as defined in the
Listing Rules) in respect of the annual caps for
the renewal agreement for the three years ending
31 August 2024 exceeds 1%, the entering into
of the aforesaid renewal agreement and the
transactions contemplated thereunder constitute
fully exempted de minimis continuing connected
transactions pursuant to Rule 14A.76 of the
Listing Rules, and therefore are fully exempted
from the independent shareholders’ approval,
annual review and all disclosure requirements
pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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On 2 December 2022, Guangzhou Carpark
Management (Foshan Branch), Foshan Vanke
and Guangzhou Shouzhong (Foshan Branch)
entered into a Rights and Obligations Assignment
Agreement, pursuant to which, Guangzhou
Carpark Management (Foshan Branch) agreed
to assign all its rights and obligations under the
Foshan Carpark Management Agreement to
Guangzhou Shouzhong (Foshan Branch) with
effect from 1 November 2022.

On 31 August 2024, Guangzhou Parking
Management Company (Foshan Branch) and
Foshan Vanke signed an agreement to renew the
Foshan Carpark Management Agreement and to
extend its term to 31 August 2027. As none of
the applicable percentage ratios (as defined in
the Listing Rules) in respect of the annual caps
under the renewal agreement for the three years
ending 31 August 2027 exceeds 1%, the entering
into of the aforesaid renewal agreement and the
transactions contemplated thereunder constitute
fully exempted de minimis continuing connected
transactions pursuant to Rule 14A.76 of the
Listing Rules, and therefore are fully exempted
from the independent shareholders’ approval,
annual review and all disclosure requirements
pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Shenzhen Wanwu Growth Consultancy Services Co.,
Ltd. CRIIT B ESEHIRFBEER LB > “Shenzhen
Wanwu”) is a substantial shareholder of each of the
Partnerships. As the relevant percentage ratios in respect
of each of the Partnerships were less than 5% for the
financial year prior to 2020, the Partnerships were
insignificant subsidiaries of the Company under Rule
14A.09(1) of the Listing Rules and therefore Shenzhen
Wanwu was not a connected person of the Company
under the Listing Rules. Based on the annual results
announcement of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2020, which was published by the Company
on 26 March 2021, the Partnerships have ceased to be
insignificant subsidiaries of the Company under Rule
14A.09(1) of the Listing Rules and Shenzhen Wanwu
has become a connected person of the Company at the
subsidiary level under the Listing Rules.

Given that Shenzhen Gongying, Guangzhou Vanke and
Foshan Vanke are fellow subsidiaries of and therefore
associates of Shenzhen Wanwu, the continuing
transactions contemplated under the Agreements
constituted continuing connected transactions of the
Company under the Listing Rules.

Details of the continuing connected transactions
contemplated under the Agreements were disclosed in
the announcements of the Company dated 29 March
2021 and 27 May 2021.
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Provision of Executive Partnership Services
under the Lvhe Partnership Agreement dated 31
December 2021

As stated in the announcement of the Company
dated 31 December 2021, Beijing Heshou Investment
Management Co., Ltd. Gt RESKEEEBEARAR
“Beijing Heshou"”), a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, entered into a partnership agreement
(the “Lvhe Partnership Agreement”) with Shougang
Fund and China Life Investment Management Company
Limited (ISR ERBEEETIEBRAE "China
Life Investment”) for the establishment of a limited
partnership with proposed name of Beijing Lvhe
Equity Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership)
(IRGeRERESBEE (BRE®), "Lvhe
Partnership”) to engage in investment management
services. Pursuant to the Lvhe Partnership Agreement,
Beijing Heshou shall provide executive partnership
services (“Executive Partnership Services”) to Lvhe
Partnership during the initial term of eight years of the
Lvhe Partnership commencing from the date specified
in the capital contribution payment notice on which
the second instalment of capital contribution is due to
be made by the partners pursuant to the terms of the
Lvhe Partnership Agreement (the “Initial Term"”), in
return for the executive partnership fee which shall be
calculated as 0.5% per annum of each limited partner’s
remaining paid-in capital contribution and shall be
borne by each limited partner during the term of Lvhe
Partnership.
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EFEFHREE
Pursuant to the Lvhe Partnership Agreement, the RESGCEEHE BB bEY
executive partnership fee during the Initial Term of Lvhe BHARNRITEZEERMNEFLEB
Partnership will not exceed the following annual caps: BTFEE LR
Annual Caps
For the year ending 31 December of Executive Partnership Fee
HE12A31BLLEE RITEBEBHRMNEE LR
(RMB’000)
(ANE¥FT)
2022 4,375
2023 12,500
2024 22,500
2025 27,500
2026 27,500
2027 23,125
2028 20,000
2029 7,500
2030 3,125
Provision of Executive Partnership Services under the SEEEHEBETREHUTEABER
Lvhe Partnership Agreement can synergise with the main AR 75 RE $0 173 (B A A B AY = FE AR
business sector of the Company.
Given that Shougang Fund is a substantial shareholder HREHEERAERRAZEEREM
and therefore a connected person of the Company, the AEBERBDZEAEANL B8
provision of Executive Partnership Services under the HEETMREHBTEBESHERBBENR
Lvhe Partnership Agreement constituted continuing RABR EHRA THFERERS
connected transactions of the Company under the
Listing Rules.
Details of the continuing connected transactions HEoBHEE MTRET ZRHERE
contemplated under the Lvhe Partnership Agreement RENFHBERAABHEA#R20214F
were disclosed in the announcement of the Company 12A31BASEHIFE-

dated 31 December 2021.
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Investment Advisory Agreement dated 29 June
2022

As stated in the announcement of the Company dated
29 June 2022, Shouhe Limited, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into an investment
advisory agreement (the “IA Agreement”) with ORIX
Asia Asset Management Limited ("OAAM"), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of ORIX Corporation. Pursuant
to the IA Agreement, OAAM was appointed as the
investment advisor of Shouhe Limited for the provision
of certain investment advisory and other services (the
“IA Services”) for a term not longer than 3 years
commencing from the date of the IA Agreement in
return for an advisory fee (the “Advisory Fee”) to
be calculated and accumulated daily at the rate of
0.5% per annum of the total contributed subscription
amount of an investment fund to be formed, managed
and confirmed by Shouhe Limited with the principal
investment objective as set out in the IA Agreement.

The annual caps of the Advisory Fee payable to OAAM
by Shouhe Limited under the IA Agreement are as
follows:

()

HE%202265290 89K EE 15 3%

WAAT HEA2022E6829HHA
ER KA ZEEE2EWRB AR
BEEERADHEBNTENEESIE
BRAS BMATKRMDERATZE
BEE2ENBAT TOAAM ) 5T &
EinE ((ERE)) - RIERERR
OAAMBEZERABEEBRABDZEKE
B BREWEZHEAEBBIF
BHARRIE (R LR BB M E MRS
(T EERRTS.) » ERRIR > WEIZ R
PFHEGERAAMNIL BB KRERD
MR EE S HNAREE0. 5% N EF] X
FETSHEBNERE ((ERE))
ZEREERE2FEREERHENKE

EE

BEEERADRBEKBEHZEROAAM
XAUNNBEEEFELRUT

For the year ended 31 December

HENANMBLEE
2022 2023 2024
UsD UsD UuspD
e e E7
Annual caps of Advisory Fee 150,000 1,000,000 1,000,000

BEEBENFEE LR

The entering into of the IA Agreement helps the
Group realizing a closed-loop asset management cycle,
continuously releasing its operational benefits and
bringing substantial returns to investors.
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Given that ORIX Corporation is a substantial shareholder
of the Company and OAAM is a subsidiary of ORIX
Corporation, OAAM is therefore a connected person of
the Company under the Listing Rules as at the date of
the IA Agreement. Therefore, the provision of the IA
Services under the IA Agreement constituted continuing
connected transactions of the Company under the
Listing Rules.

Details of the continuing connected transactions
contemplated under the IA Agreement were disclosed
in the announcement of the Company dated 29 June
2022.

Provision of Fund Management Services under
the Shoushi Partnership Agreement dated 20
September 2022

As stated in the announcement of the Company dated
20 September 2022, Beijing Shouyuan Investment
Co., Ltd. (B RBEEBRAE
Investment”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the

“Shouyuan

Company, as a limited partner entered into a partnership
agreement (the “Shoushi Partnership Agreement”)
with Beijing Shougang Industrial Investment Private Fund
Management Co., Ltd. SR EMEXRENEESE
EEPRAB > “Shougang Industrial Investment”) as
the general partner and executive partner, Shougang
Fund and Beijing Shijingshan Modern Innovation
Industry Development Fund Co., Ltd. QR ASLE
RUEBIWEXEZEREESBRAR), each as a limited
partner, for the establishment of a limited partnership
in the PRC with the proposed name of Beijing Shoushi
Science Fiction Industry Equity Investment Fund
(Limited Partnership) (IR EGRLIEXEREREE
& (BE&%), “Shoushi Partnership”).
to the Shoushi Partnership Agreement, Beijing Jingxi

Pursuant

Venture Capital Fund Management Co., Ltd. JQER=R
FARIXKREESEEBMRAR " "Jingxi Venture”), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, shall be the

)
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manager of the Shoushi Partnership and shall provide
the daily operation and management services (“Fund
Management Services”) to Shoushi Partnership for the
term of the Shoushi Partnership for a management fee
(the “Management Fee"”) in return by entering into
an entrusted management agreement (the “Entrusted
Management Agreement”) among the Shoushi
Partnership, Shougang Industrial Investment and Jingxi
Venture. The term of the Shoushi Partnership as a private
equity fund shall be 6 years commencing on the date
specified on the capital contribution payment notice on
which the first instalment of capital contribution is due
to be made by the partners pursuant to the terms of
the Shoushi Partnership Agreement, the first 4 years of
which shall be the investment period (the “Investment
Period”) and the subsequent 2 years shall be the exit
period (the "Exit Period”). The Management Fee for
(i) the Investment Period shall be 2% per annum of the
sum of the principals actually invested by the Shoushi
Partnership; and (ii) the Exit Period shall be 1.5% per
annum of the total unexited actual invested principals of
the Shoushi Partnership’s invested projects.

Pursuant to the Shoushi Partnership Agreement, the

Management Fee during the term of Shoushi Partnership
will not exceed the following annual caps:

For the year ending 31 December

W&  TEAESENBRARERA
EERENBEEMEERS ((EE
EER%E) RWEEEE ((EEE))
EREBB - BLEBRIEATLERESR
SR ABF  BAMHEBNE &
MM E —ARBHENSC B
EE REECaBRHENKIRSE
ANEBME—RRBEE > BRNAET4
FARER (REH) ' HE2128%
REH (MREHR)) - FEEEERR
BHRNAE AR ERRLRELRSEE
2%; M(NVRHBAABEREBER
BEENRRHERERLELASHEEN
1.5% o

REELEBHEZ a0GBHBEN
EEERIBBRAUNTFEE LR :

Annual Caps of
Management Fee

BE12A3MBLEFE ERENFELR
(RMB'000)

AR BFT)

2022 1,000
2023 6,000
2024 6,000
2025 6,000
2026 6,000
2027 4,500
2028 3,375
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Provision of Fund Management Services under the
Shoushi Partnership Agreement can improve asset
management standards and service quality of the Group.

Given that Shougang Industrial Investment is the general
partner of the Shoushi Partnership, Shoushi Partnership
upon established is an associate of Shougang Industrial
Investment and Shougang Group and therefore a
connected person of the Company, the provision of Fund
Management Services by Jingxi Venture to the Shoushi
Partnership under the Shoushi Partnership Agreement
constituted continuing connected transactions of the
Company under the Listing Rules.

Details of the continuing connected transactions
contemplated under the Shoushi Partnership Agreement
and the Entrusted Management Agreement were
disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated
20 September 2022.

Services Agreement dated 6 December 2022

As stated in the announcement of the Company dated
6 December 2022, Shoucheng Feisi (Beijing) Operation
(BREFR (R EEEEAR
FR/A&)), formerly known as Beijing Feisi Real Estate
Consulting Co., Ltd. (ERFBEMEFBAERL
@) (“Shoucheng Feisi”), an indirect wholly-owned

Management Co., Ltd.

subsidiary of the Company, entered into a services
agreement (the “Services Agreement”) with Shoushi
Changtai, an associate of Shougang Fund. Pursuant to
the Services Agreement, Feisi Real Estate has agreed to
provide certain tenants referral and related consulting
services (the “Services”) to Shoushi Changtai in respect
of the leasing units of the project property of Chang’an
Mills, which is operated by Shoushi Changtai and is a
fund and the first large-scale commercial office complex
project managed by the Group, for a term commencing
on 6 December 2022 and expiring on 31 December
2024 in return for a fee (the
calculated at 1.5 times of the effective monthly rent of

“Service Fee"”) to be

the leased property (inclusive of VAT).

(h)
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The annual caps of the Service Fee payable to Feisi
Real Estate by Shoushi Changtai under the Services
Agreement are as follows:

ENERRBERZHEEAFEEEE
XAUNRBEFELRAT

For the year ended 31 December

HE12A3MHILEEE
2022 2023 2024
RMB RMB RMB
N AR N
Annual caps of Service Fee 6,500,000 18,000,000 6,000,000

BRBENEE LR

The provision of Services is able to further enhance the
asset value of Chang’an Mills project and provide better
returns to investors and the Group.

Given that Shougang Fund is a substantial shareholder
of the Company, Shoushi Changtai is an associate of
Shougang Fund and therefore is a connected person of
the Company under the Listing Rules as at the date of
the Services Agreement, the provision of the Services
under the Services Agreement constituted continuing
connected transactions of the Company under the
Listing Rules.

Details of the continuing connected transactions
contemplated under the Services Agreement were
disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 6
December 2022.

Shoucheng Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024

RERBENE-—TRANTIERE
NWEEBE AREENAEEREM
BHRIEER -

RIRBHZAH AREWHESRE
ARZEIERR ENERAEHE
TZHBBAMBELHRABER
BlzEAEANLT BRHEHERTIRHR
BREAARAE N EHR TR ER
BR5 e

REGZETRETZHFERAERS
HEBEERARAB HEEA2022F128
6EHMAEHINEE -



(i)

Financial Services Framework Agreement dated

26 January 2024 and New Financial Services

Framework Agreement dated 20 December 2024

(i)

On 26 January 2024, the Company entered into
a financial services agreement (the “Financial
Services Framework Agreement”) with
Shougang Group Finance Company Limited (&
IMEFEMFHARAT > “Shougang Finance
Company”),
Shougang Group, in relation to the provision of

a wholly-owned subsidiary of

(i) comprehensive credit services, including loans,
acceptance of bills, bill discounting, guarantees
and other forms of capital financing businesses
(the "Credit Services”), (ii) deposit services (the
"Deposit Services”) and (iii) settlement services,
consultancy services and other financial services
(the "Other Financial Services”) by Shougang
Finance Company to the Group during the
period commencing from 26 January 2024 to 31
December 2024 (the “"Term”).

Pursuant to the Financial Services Framework
Agreement, the proposed maximum aggregate
daily credit balance (including the corresponding
interest accrued thereon) received by the Group
from Shougang Finance Company during the
Term is RMB400,000,000, the proposed maximum
aggregate daily balance of deposits (including the
corresponding interest accrued thereon) placed
by the Group with Shougang Finance Company
during the Term is RMB400,000,000 and the cap
for the cumulative aggregate amount of service
fees charged by Shougang Finance Company for
the provision of Other Financial Services to the
Group during the Term is RMB10,000,000.

The ongoing cooperation between the two parties
will help the Group to obtain more flexible and
effective financial related services, which will
in turn support the Group’s infrastructure asset
management business.

(i)
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(i)

Given that Shougang Group is a substantial
shareholder of the Company, Shougang Finance
Company is a connected person of the Company
by virtue of being a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Shougang Group under the Listing Rules as
at the date of the Financial Services Framework
Agreement. Therefore, the entering into of the
Financial Services Framework Agreement and the
transactions contemplated thereunder constituted
continuing connected transactions of the
Company under the Listing Rules.

Details of the continuing connected transactions
contemplated under the Financial Services
Framework Agreement were disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 28 January
2024.

On 20 December 2024, the Company entered
into a new financial services agreement
(the “New Financial Services Framework
Agreement”) with Shougang Finance Company,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of Shougang Group,
to renew the provision of (i) Credit Services, (ii)
Deposit Services and (iii) Other Financial Services
by Shougang Finance Company to the Group
during the period commencing from 1 January
2025 to 31 December 2025 (the “New Term”).

Shoucheng Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024

(i)

RERMRBERGZH BlE
EREARRNETERR -BRE
W HERABDREHERENESE
WEAE FALRE LR
BEHPBAT/ERBTNREE
AL EIt R EHRR - 5T
YEMRBERBERAET
RETZXBBHRETATZHF
BRAERS -

SRR IEZR R EIE TR ETT
ZHEBREXRZ ZHBENA
AT HEAA2024F1H28B 2 A
EHINEE o

20245128208 » KA T E
ENEEZ2EWB AT EH
B AR LR RBIES
ek (TR ARTEERZEL)
EEGRM B AT B2025%F18
TEEZE2025512831H LEHIRS
(THEFEHA)) M A E B R H()X
EIRTS ; ()RR ; K(i)E M
ERARFS o



Pursuant to the New Financial Services Framework
Agreement, the proposed maximum aggregate
daily credit balance (including the corresponding
interest accrued thereon) received by the Group
from Shougang Finance Company during the New
Term is RMB300,000,000, the proposed maximum
aggregate daily balance of deposits (including the
corresponding interest accrued thereon) placed
by the Group with Shougang Finance Company
during the New Term is RMB300,000,000 and
the cap for the cumulative aggregate amount
of service fees charged by Shougang Finance
Company for the provision of Other Financial
Services to the Group during the New Term is
RMB10,000,000.

Renewing the Financial Services Framework
Agreement and maintaining continued
cooperation with Shougang Finance Company
will help the Group expand financing channels,
optimize financial management, improve capital
utilization efficiency and reduce financing costs.

Given that Shougang Group is a substantial
shareholder of the Company, Shougang Finance
Company is a connected person of the Company
by virtue of being a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Shougang Group under the Listing Rules as at
the date of the New Financial Services Framework
Agreement. Therefore, the entering into of the
New Financial Services Framework Agreement
and the transactions contemplated thereunder
constituted continuing connected transactions of
the Company under the Listing Rules.

Details of the continuing connected transactions
contemplated under the New Financial Services
Framework Agreement were disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 20
December 2024.
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Referral Services Framework Agreements dated 20
May 2024

As stated in the announcement of the Company dated
20 May 2024, Shoucheng Feisi entered into (i) a referral
services framework agreement (the “Shougang Fund
Referral Services Framework Agreement”) with
Shougang Fund for the provision of services including
seeking potential lessees/purchasers to negotiate with
Shougang Fund and/or its associates and the relevant
clients, referring potential clients and providing
relevant consulting services to Shougang Fund and/
or its associates to facilitate Shougang Fund and the
clients to complete the signing of property contracts
in respect of the leasing/sale of project properties
owned or operated by Shougang Fund and/or its
associates which are mainly located in Shougang Park
(the “Shougang Fund Referral Services”); and (ii) a
referral services framework agreement (the “Shougang
Construction Investment Referral Services
Framework Agreement”) with Beijing Shougang
(tREHERKE
BBRATE) (“Shougang Construction Investment”),
a wholly-owned subsidiary of Shougang Group, for the
provision of services including seeking potential lessees

Construction Investment Co., Ltd.

to negotiate with Shougang Construction Investment
and/or its associates and the relevant clients, referring
potential clients and providing relevant consulting
services to Shougang Construction Investment and/
or its associates to facilitate Shougang Construction
Investment and the clients to complete the signing of
property contracts in respect of the leasing of project
properties owned or operated by Shougang Construction
Investment and/or its associates mainly located in
Shougang Park (the “Shougang Construction
Investment Referral Services”), both for a term
commencing on 20 May 2024 and expiring on 31
December 2026, respectively (collectively, the “Referral
Services Framework Agreements”).

Shoucheng Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024

1)

FH7520244E5520H B9 58 IRFEMESS

2
o7

WA AT HEA2024FE5820H9 A
SR BEREEROREG)EMES]
VEARBERGE ((BHESHESE
R#EWHE)  HERHES KR HEBE
AFERUNREHNEGEBEMARE
REEENEEYEHBE HEEE
RERE SEngilEsk HH
MEAMEEBEENARS HBEHH
EMESR HHEBEAUREEAE
FETEA MNEBETELUKREMR
HEZARE UWEEaHEsHsy
FRABEEAMENEYN (BREESHE
AR S RNERNEENZENE
REIEREMELEERRLAE (T8
HER)) ST umARBERGZ (/8
R EARBERGE) > B HE
BE/ ZEBEAFTEAUNERE
EEAMARIKEEENEEME
HAEEOEMER R REBEA
REEARE  @EMEEETNEAM
FEEHEL R, REBHEAURE
MERETE A DEHER R
HBMBANBBES P URIEMHAER
HBHART UEFEHBEERER T
RAERMMENELN ((EHEEE R
%)  EHH B BE2024E58208 8 E
2026512831 HEm (B4 (&R
BIERWMEL °



Subject to compliance with the relevant Listing Rules,
Shoucheng Feisi will charge fees for the Shougang
Fund Referral Services, which include (i) a monthly basic
service fee which is determined within the range of
RMB80,000 to RMB150,000 per month for exclusive
Shougang Fund Referral Services only; and (ii) a
commission service fee charged at (a) 1.5 to 4 times of
the monthly net rental of the deal property (where it is
not feasible or appropriate to use the monthly net rental
as the base, alternative data of the same type shall be
used) with respect to the leasing type of matters; or
(b) 2% to 4% of the property transaction amount with
respect to the sale type of matters.

Subject to compliance with the relevant Listing Rules,
Shoucheng Feisi will charge fees for the Shougang
Construction Investment Referral Services, which include
(i) a monthly basic service fee which is determined within
the range of RMB80,000 to RMB150,000 per month for
exclusive Shougang Construction Investment Referral
Services only; and (ii) a commission service fee charged
at 1.5 to 4 times of the monthly net rental of the deal
leasing property (where it is not feasible or appropriate
to use the monthly net rental as the base, alternative
data of the same type shall be used).
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The caps of the Shougang Fund Referral Services fee
for the relevant period/years payable to Shougang Fund
and/or its associates by Shoucheng Feisi under the
Shougang Fund Referral Services Framework Agreement
(the “Shougang Fund Referral Services Fee”) are as
follows:

BENETE ARG HE TANEER
/S REMAE N A E R IF AR
B/ FEMERESEARTE (8
MEEHARBE) LRWT :

From 20 May For the For the
2024 to year ending year ending
31 December 31 December 31 December
2024 2025 2026
20245
5H208#EE  #HZE2025F  HZE20265F
2024F 12H31H 12H31H
12A31H ILFE LLFE
RMB RMB RMB
ANEH ANE# NE#
Caps of the Shougang Fund Referral Services Fee 17,000,000 27,000,000 25,500,000

BRESEHARBELR

The caps of the Shougang Construction Investment
Referral Services fee for relevant period/years payable to
Shougang Construction Investment and/or its associates
by Shoucheng Feisi under the Shougang Construction
Investment Referral Services Framework Agreement
(the “Shougang Construction Investment Referral
Services Fee") are as follows:

ENERBARE HE TEWNELR
S E B A FE (45 & 72 JE B AR R A
B/ EENEmMELELAREE (g
HMEREARTEE) LERAOT

From 20 For the For the
May 2024 to  year ending year ending
31 December 31 December 31 December
2024 2025 2026
202445

5H20HEE  #HZF2025F  #HZE20265F
2024 12H31H 12H31H
128318 LEFEE LEE

RMB RMB RMB

ANE#H ANE# ANE#E

Caps of the Shougang Construction Investment
Referral Services Fee 6,400,000 10,500,000 14,000,000

EHEREARBELR
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After the signing of the Referral Services Framework
Agreements, the Group undertakes the introduction of
resources for most of the projects under construction
and operation in Shougang Park, which will in turn
further enhance the asset value of the Group’s real
estate projects under its management in Shougang
Park, and provide better returns to the investors and the
Group.

Given that Shougang Group is a substantial shareholder
of the Company, each of Shougang Fund and Shougang
Construction Investment is a connected person of
the Company by virtue of being a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Shougang Group under the Listing Rules
as at the date of the Referral Services Framework
Agreements. Therefore, the entering into of the Referral
Services Framework Agreements and the transactions
contemplated thereunder constituted continuing
connected transactions of the Company under the
Listing Rules.

Details of the continuing connected transactions
contemplated under the Referral Services Framework
Agreements were disclosed in the announcement of the
Company dated 20 May 2024.
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Property Services Framework Agreement dated 20
May 2024

As stated in the announcement of the Company dated
20 May 2024, Shougang Fund entered into a property
services framework agreement (“Property Services
Framework Agreement”) with Beijing Shoucheng
World Trade Property Management Co., Ltd. Gt E 42
HEYEEEAERAT) (“Property Company”), an
indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.
Pursuant to which, Property Company has agreed
to provide basic property services such as customer
service, security and order maintenance, operation and
maintenance of equipment and facilities, environmental
management, energy management and etc., and
other related contractual or value-added services (the
“Property Services”) to the project properties owned
or operated by Shougang Fund and/or its associates, for
a term commencing on 20 May 2024 and expiring on 31
December 2026.

The specific property fee standard is formulated by
Property Company on the basis of cost calculations
(including labor, energy, material costs etc) and in
consideration of a certain profit margin (usually
ranging from 5% to 15%) according to the type of
property (distinguishing between industrial, commercial,
apartments etc) and service standards of the specific
project, which is subject to negotiation between the
parties based on the actual operating conditions of the
project.
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The caps of the Property Services fee for the relevant
periods/years payable to Property Company by Shougang
Fund and/or its associates under the Property Services
Framework Agreement (the “Property Services Fee") are
as follows:
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MERBERBZTERHES R %
HBMBABRMGYMEASABESE[
FENMERTE ((MERBE)) L
FRINE :

From 20 For the For the

May 2024 to year ending year ending
31 December 31 December 31 December

2024 2025 2026
20245
5H20BEE  #HE2025F HZE2026F
20245 12A31H 12A31H
12A31H LEFEE LLEFE
RMB RMB RMB
AR AR ANEH

Caps of Property Services Fee

MERBE LR

The undertaking of Property Services for the projects of
Shougang Fund and its associates enhances the Group’s
core competitiveness to expand outward to undertake
more projects, further promote the Group’s long-term
development and progress in the scale and capability
of infrastructure asset operations, and provide better
returns for investors and the Group.

Given that Shougang Group is a substantial shareholder
of the Company, Shougang Fund is a connected person
of the Company by virtue of being a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Shougang Group under the Listing Rules
as at the date of the Property Services Framework
Agreement. Therefore, the entering into of the Property
Services Framework Agreement and the transactions
contemplated thereunder constituted continuing
connected transactions of the Company under the
Listing Rules.

Details of the continuing connected transactions
contemplated under the Property Services Framework
Agreement were disclosed in the announcement of the
Company dated 20 May 2024.
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In accordance with Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the
continuing connected transactions as set out above during the
year have been reviewed by the Independent Non-executive
Directors who have confirmed that the transactions have been
entered into:

(a) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group;

(b) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(0) according to the relevant agreements governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the Shareholders as a whole.

The Company followed the pricing policies disclosed in the
announcements for the continuing connected transactions as
set out above during the financial year ended 31 December
2024.

The Company’s auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC"),
was engaged to report on the Group's continuing connected
transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard
on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note
740 (Revised)

Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules”

“Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. PwC has
issued an unqualified letter containing findings and conclusions
in respect of the continuing connected transactions disclosed
by the Company in the paragraphs above in accordance with
Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The significant related party transactions which were
undertaken in the normal course of business are set out in note
33 to the consolidated financial statements. For those related
party transactions that constituted connected transactions
or continuing connected transactions (as the case may be)
(other than those described in the section above headed
“CONNECTED TRANSACTION AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS") under the Listing Rules, such transactions
were fully exempt from shareholders’ approval, annual review
and all disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’'s corporate governance practices are set out in
the Corporate Governance Report on pages 44 to 82 of this
annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL MATTERS

The Company's compliance with the relevant provisions set out
in the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide
in Appendix C2 of the Listing Rules for the financial year ended
31 December 2024 will be set out in a separate Environmental,
Social and Governance Report to be published on the websites
of the Company and Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing
Limited on the same day of publication of this annual report.

AUDITOR

PwC will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
reappointment at the forthcoming 2025 AGM. A resolution will
be submitted to the forthcoming 2025 AGM to reappoint PwC
as the auditor of the Company.

By order of the Board
Zhao Tianyang

Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
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_E
pwec

To the Members of Shoucheng Holdings Limited
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Shoucheng Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”),
which are set out on pages 152 to 304, comprise:

o the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2024;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for
the year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the
year then ended,;

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended; and

. the notes to the consolidated financial statements,

comprising material accounting policy information and
other explanatory information.
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Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“"HKICPA") and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters.
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The key audit matter identified in our audit is related to

valuation of investment properties.

HPESSPRAINNFARESFFTERAREY
EWEERER-

Key Audit Matter
RREtEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BB MR ERIEMRESSE

Refer to note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's investment
properties were measured at fair value of
HK$918,375,000. HK$33,763,000 fair value gain of
the investment properties for the year then ended,
were recorded in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

Fair value of the investment properties were
determined by the Group mainly based on the
valuation performed by external independent valuers
using the income approach.

2REGMBHREPHE140

RIZEZWOF+ZA=+—H> BEENREYE
UARBESEAHBRE18,375,000c & EZ B LE
FEREMEZ ANEBE NG AEE33,763,00070 2 5t
ARE2mEmliERe

REMEZNAEBEETENH SHXEREINSEIL
EEMURIEEETHGEREE -

Our audit procedures included:

- understanding of the management’s internal

control and assessment process of valuation
of investment properties and assessing
the inherent risk of material misstatement
by considering the degree of estimation
uncertainty and level of other inherent risk
factors;

- evaluating the competency, capabilities and
objectivity of the external independent valuers
engaged by the Group;

- obtaining the valuation reports of the
investment properties and understanding the
valuation method, significant assumptions and
data from external independent valuers;

BRPATUTHESRER -
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Key Audit Matter
RSB EE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BB NAREMRESSE

We identified valuation of the Group’s investment
properties as a key audit matter because the
determination of the fair values involves significant
judgement and estimation, particularly in selecting
the appropriate valuation methodology, significant
assumptions and data.

AL SEEREVENGEEIAEESESEE
ERARREDENRABENBE S REXHEMN
L BHEEERERENLER Z - TEBRNE
&S mE e

- involving our internal valuation expert in
assessing the appropriateness of the valuation
method, significant assumptions and data,

and evaluating mathematical accuracy of the

valuation models; and

- conducting land search on investment
properties.

Based on our audit procedures performed, we found

that the valuation of investment properties were
supportable by the available evidences.

- AERABLEERBE T ZAFETEES

FEATEBKMERNSEMY WP h N ZE
XA EANRBEATREREN K
- HREYERETEM-

REBEFMATHESER  ZANKENENLIAEE
ERREXF-

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in the annual report other than the

HER

ENBEFRAREMER
BREBRANFAAEER 1
R"RBPIFIZHBENR S

BE-HMEREE®
FTEEREVHR

consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report

thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of

assurance conclusion thereon.

BRPHGREYBRENEBERETREHME
B EATAHZEFEMERBEREMEX
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HERZRARAT 2024FFR 147



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
ERVR PR S EIE

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
Section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.
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Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as
a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within
the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and review of the audit work
performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

Shoucheng Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024
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We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear
on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Ng Ka Ho.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 26 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

mEEEBRmR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # E2024F 128318 LEEE

2024 2023
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
K et EBETFT BT T
Revenue WA 5 1,215,123 883,478
Cost of sales FIsN==3 N (708,031) (523,759)
Gross profit EF 507,092 359,719
Other income Halg A 6 362,210 458,066
Other gains, net H s mF %8 7 45,880 128,496
Provision for impairment loss FEWBR R 2 W (B
for trade receivables [ SEi=beidi] 20 - (11,279)
Administrative expenses EEER (303,284) (299,979)
Operating profit SRR 8 611,898 635,023
Finance costs MR AR 10 (116,287) (105,689)
Share of results of associates BOBERB X8 18(A) (14,194) (31,502)
Share of results of joint ventures BMLaEREZEE 18(B) (7,.316) (31,381)
Profit before income tax PR ER 1518 Al E 474,101 466,451
Income tax expense TSz 11 (85,581) (6,906)
Profit for the year EEHEF 388,520 459,545
Profit/(loss) is attributable to: LT ALESER,
(B548):
Owners of the Company KABHEBA 410,200 403,565
Non-controlling interests JEITERRE R (21,680) 55,980
388,520 459,545
The notes on pages 161 to 304 are an integral part of these S161E304E 2 fisi ARG EMHFRRZE

consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FZerEiliimER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 E(ZE2024%F12831HIEEE

2024 2023
Note HK$°000 HK$°000
k23 BT T BT
Other comprehensive (loss)/income Hth&mE (5i8) Ik
Items that have been/may be B 1#E TGS ERN
subsequently reclassified to SHEEEEZEE
profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising on TEBNEREEZ
translation of foreign operations bE 7 = %E (145,066) (116,134)
Share of exchange differences of BEBHELABDRGERT
associates and joint ventures arising  ITEEIIEFEEZ
on translation of foreign operations bE 7 = 2B (23,300) (21,288)
Items that will not be reclassified T ETEHSFEEHEREZ
to profit or loss: EE
Exchange differences arising on EMEES ZERERE
currency translation (547) (9,002)
Fair value changes on financial B BES AHAM
assets at fair value through other PHNBRGZEMEEZ
comprehensive income (“FVOCI"), NABEED
net of tax MEFRE 19(e), (f) (311,348) 277,876
Other comprehensive (loss)/income FEEMEMH
for the year (B518) Wz (480,261) 131,452
Total comprehensive (loss)/income F£EZ2ME (5i8) Kz
for the year “HE (91,741) 590,997
Total comprehensive (loss)/income M TATELEE
attributable to: (F548) W 4R (E -
Owners of the Company KRBEB A (69,514) 544,019
Non-controlling interests JEER R (22,227) 46,978
(91,741) 590,997
Earnings per share for profit EATEEANEGENZ
attributable to the owners of the SREF :
Company:
— Basic earnings per share (HK cents) —&REARZEF] GB) 12(a) 5.76 SA5Y
- Diluted earnings per share (HK cents) —&RERZEF] GB1L) 12(b) 5.76 5.57

The notes on pages 161 to 304 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ma MBI AR

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2024 /220244 12H31H

2024 2023
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
ioEza BT T BT T
Assets BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M~ FRE R 13(A) 153,875 108,069
Right-of-use assets FREEE 13(B) 2,255,139 1,823,259
Contract assets in respect of service — ERFFHFEELTHARH
concession arrangements NENEE 5 99,419 114,664
Investment properties KEME 14 918,375 841,226
Investments in associates REEATZRE 18(A) 103,050 241,364
Investments in joint ventures RN 18(B) 521,627 560,605
Investments — non-current B —JEMED 19 2,533,122 3,454,413
Prepayments and deposits ENRIERZE 20 156,994 173,854
Deferred income tax assets RIEFAISIMEE 28 35,790 30,497
Other non-current assets HIERmEEE 15 534,809 530,288
Total non-current assets ERBEEMRE 7,312,200 7,878,239
Current assets MEBEE
Trade receivables FE U BR R 20 203,092 203,648
Prepayments, deposits and other TERIE 12 & R HA
receivables P& R I8 20 396,039 253,075
Investments — current BE—RE 19 1,523,388 1,173,636
Restricted deposits 2R HITFE 21 145,885 =
Time deposits with maturity over three ZR =12 REIH >~
months EHFENR 21 1,626,752 1,751,346
Bank balances and cash RITHEGRIRE 21 2,621,727 2,262,573
Total current assets TEEEAE 6,516,883 5,644,278
Total assets BELE 13,829,083 13,522,517
Equity w
Capital and reserves B 78 R & 15
Share capital f& 7 22 12,994,847 12,994,847
Reserves # (3,574,159) (3,071,495)
Capital and reserves attributable to ZxAF)#HHE AEEKRER
owners of the Company B 9,420,688 9,923,352
Non-controlling interests JEVERE T 95,156 117,383
Total equity HERmEE 9,515,844 10,040,735

B E3MUEZWFARGREMBRK 2

BRER{D o

The notes on pages 161 to 304 are an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

4 AL

g o =

A F5 IR R

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2024 7220249 12831H

2024 2023
Note HK$'000 HK$000
k23 BT BT
Liabilities aE&
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Borrowings — non-current B —IETME 26 358,662 452,280
Bond payables — non-current FEfS &5 —IETMED 27 1,095,043 183,786
Lease liabilities — non-current HEaeE-ERE 13(B) 1,689,540 1,314,432
Deferred income tax liabilities RIEFTIEMEaE 28 121,829 105,590
Financial liabilities at fair value BARBESAERDN
through profit or loss — non-current ERAaE—IERE 25 68,231 92,519
Total non-current liabilities FRBEGERE 3,333,305 2,148,607
Current liabilities mEmaE
Trade payables FE{TRR X 24 452,750 485,585
Other payables, provision and HMEI B BE R Et
accrued liabilities I=KE 24 185,305 181,214
Contract liabilities EEOENE 68,751 58,599
Financial liabilities at fair value BAnBESAERZNE
through profit or loss — current EE— e 25 - 292,423
Tax payable P IR IE 65,080 79,540
Borrowings — current B —mEh 26 38,160 157,131
Bond payables — current FE &5 — M Eh 27 3,816 =
Lease liabilities — current ER= =N Rt 13(B) 166,072 78,683
Total current liabilities BB EEE 979,934 1,333,175
Total liabilities BEEE 4,313,239 3,481,782
Total equity and liabilities EERkaEEE 13,829,083 13,522,517

The notes on pages 161 to 304 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements on pages 152 to 304

were approved by the Board of Directors on 26 March 2025

and were signed on its behalf.

Zhao Tianyang
BX
Director

EF

FBI61E34EZMERTEEHHFRRZE

AR EBD o

BN EI152E304B 2 i3 B M B FR KT HL20255F
3E2cHESZEESHE TRESEE-

Xu Liang
Director

EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

n\ﬂ_ | EE@EJ%

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # E2024F 128318 LEEE

Note (i):

The PRC laws and regulations require companies registered in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC", for the purpose of this report shall exclude
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC (“Hong Kong"), the
Macao Special Administrative Region of the PRC and Taiwan, China) to
provide for certain statutory reserves, which are to be appropriated from the
net profit (after offsetting accumulated losses from prior years) as reported
in their respective statutory financial statements, before profit distributions
to equity holder.

All statutory reserves are created for specific purposes. The PRC company
is required to appropriate 10% of net profits to statutory reserves, upon
distribution of its post-tax profits of the current year. A company may
discontinue the contribution when the aggregate sum of the statutory
surplus reserve is more than 50% of its registered capital. The statutory
reserves shall only be used to make up losses of the company, to expand the
company’s production operations, or to increase the capital of the company.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
meRERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 E(ZE2024%F12831HIEEE

2024 2023
Note HK$'000 HK$°000
k23 BT T BT
Cash flows from operating RETEHZIRERE
activities
Cash generated from operations EXBEEMEREREE 30(a) 333,523 334,241
Income tax paid BEER (83,839) (142,439)
Net cash generated from RE RS ZIREFEE
operating activities 249,684 191,802
Cash flows from investing KRETSHZIRERE
activities
Dividends received B S 179,837 328,373
Capital reductions from joint ventures && AT HE 18(B) 13,638 38,234
Capital reduction from an associate —RERAERE 2,878 =
Interest received =L S 119,647 127,073
Withdrawal of deposits with maturity $2EZ 3@ S NEIHZ
over three months EHFR 2,539,685 464,018
Placement of deposit with maturity EHRZR3IEERNEEZ
over three months EHTTER (2,423,684) (2,064,710)
Purchase of property, plant and EEYE BRENRE
equipment 13(A) (75,941) (104,294)
Addition of financial assets at fair RERANEESAER
value through profit or loss (“FVPL") 2 &REE - (48,701)
Proceeds from disposal of financial HEZANEBEESAEBR
assets at FVPL ZEMEEZFTISMIE 98,800 572,900
Addition of financial assets at FVOCI HREBEZ A ABEST AE M
EPHNRGDZEMEE (162,505) -
Proceeds from disposal of financial HEZRAABEFT AHAM
assets at FVOC| THNREZ EMEE - 209,504
Purchase of other non-current assets BEEHEMIERHEE (28,034) (31,136)
Purchase of investment properties EELREME (36,101) (125,442)
Proceeds from disposal of investment HE—BH#EAT >
in an associate PSR IE 18(A) 140,211 =
Net cash generated from/(used in) &E;EENFRIS, (FRA) Z
investing activities WREFEE 368,431 (634,181)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

meRERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # E2024F 128318 LEEE

2024 2023
Note HK$°000 HK$'000
k23 BT BT
Cash flows from financing activities F@EFHZ2RERE
Repayment of borrowings BEGN (558,232) (514,661)
Proceeds from borrowings BRFTIEAIE 341,310 51,810
Repayment of bond payable BEENES (9.806) (4,159)
Proceeds from issuance of bond BTN ES ZP8IE
payables HRE 941,949 184,937
Placement of restricted bank deposit 77 M= RHIFE R (145,885) =
Net proceeds from financial liabilities A ABEFABRZ
at FVPL THEBBRZMEMIE
FEE 1,624 220,866
Payments for financial liabilities TR AREBESA
at FVPL BamzEsHMad = (41,961)
Repayment of lease liabilities BiEHEaE (343,812) (141,038)
Capital injection from non-controlling JEIZREZR T E
interests - 2,677
Dividends paid to the Company’s NFERBREZRE
shareholders 29 (360,041) (627,128)
Dividends paid to non-controlling ST E R B IEER
interests in subsidiaries HmZiRE - (28,742)
Net proceeds from placing of ordinary 217 @k& > Fr{3 28
shares HRE - 448,000
Payment for repurchase of shares IS BIEERRIE (58,736) (378,685)
Net cash used in financing MEEEFTRAZIREFEE
activities (191,629) (828,084)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash RERBREEEWEM
and cash equivalents (R 2) %8 426,486 (1,270,463)
Cash and cash equivalents FHZzRERIBEEEY
at beginning of the year 2,262,573 3,573,685
Effect of foreign exchange rate SMEEREE  HE
changes (67,332) (40,649)
Cash and cash equivalents FERZAERIREEEY
at end of year 21 2,621,727 2,262,573
The notes on pages 161 to 304 are an integral part of these SF161ZE304B ARG EHBHTREZE

consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL INFORMATION

Shoucheng Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability and its
shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company
and together with its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are
principally engaged in infrastructure assets management
business. The Company’s principal subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures are set out in Notes 17 and
18.

The addresses of the registered office and principal
place of business of the Company are 7th Floor, Bank
of East Asia Harbour View Centre, 56 Gloucester Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements are presented
in thousands of units of Hong Kong dollars ("HK$"),
unless otherwise stated. These financial statements have
been reviewed by the audit committee of the Company
and approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 26
March 2025.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Compliance with HKFRSs and HKCO

The consolidated financial statements of the
Company have been prepared in accordance with
all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) and requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) of
the laws of Hong Kong.

(b) Historical cost convention

The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared under historical cost convention,
as modified by the revaluation of investment
properties, financial assets and liabilities
measured at fair value (including derivative
instruments).
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ARBZEEHBRERTDRE
FTEERZEEBMHBRSEEL
(EEMBHREZEN) XEB
NERD (BEERF622E) =~
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BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

() New and amended standards adopted by
the Group

The Group has applied the following standards
and amendments for the first time for their
annual reporting period commencing 1 January
2024:

° Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current — amendments to HKAS 1

. Non-current Liabilities with Covenants —
amendments to HKAS 1

o Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback —
amendments to HKFRS 16

o Presentation of Financial Statements
— Classification by the Borrower of a
Term Loan that Contains a Repayment
on Demand Clause - Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (Revised)

° Supplier Finance Arrangements -

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7

The adoption of these amendments to accounting
standards and interpretations has no material
impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN 2

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B HRRMEE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(d)

New and amended HKFRSs issued but (d)

not yet effective

Certain new and amended accounting standards
and interpretations have been published that are
not mandatory for 31 December 2024 reporting
periods and have not been early adopted by the

Group.

MNBERESTBREH (@)

EEME R RERZ TR

RIS T B ARMBHRSER

ETHI G EREZE
SIRRIECIEMEEENE L
2024F12831HIEEE 258
TAEBRITRRIER Mo

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
RT7HEsZ &R
ZEHHAREN

Amendments to HKAS 21
and HKFRS 1

BB G ERB2158MEET K

BERAMBREENF IR

Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7

BEMBREENESR R
BIHRBEST

HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7

ERMBREERNE I
FE75EFIH109E R
BARAGHERIBTHR

HKFRS 18

BRMBREERH185%

Lack of Exchangeability

BRZ P Rt

Classification and Measurement of

Financial Instruments
THRITENDEHNGE

Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Accounting Standards — Volume 11

EEUBREE G ENNFE
HE-FNE

Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements

MBHRERNZYERE

1 January 2025

2025%181H

1 January 2026

2026%F181H

1 January 2026

2026 1H1H

1 January 2027

20271818
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BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contin
(d)

New and amended HKFRSs issued but
not yet effective (continued)

2
ued)

(d)

MANBERESTBREH (@)

EEMERRERZ TR
RIETEBMBREER (@)

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
RTIBERARZEBRAR
ZESHHRAEXN

HKFRS 19

BB BREERH195%

Amendments to Hong Kong

Interpretation 5

BB REH5RIERT

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and

HKAS 28

EBMBRESERH105EM
BR Gt H285RE5]

The Group is still assessing what the impact of the
new standards, interpretations and amendments
will be in the periods of initial application. It

is not yet in a position to stat

standards, interpretations and amendments will
have a significant impact on the Group's results of

operations and financial position
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1

(a)

Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of
financial risks: market risk (including currency
risk, interest rate risk and price risk), credit
risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall
risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's
financial performance. The Company manages its
financial risks in accordance with guidelines laid
down by its Board of Directors. The Operating
Finance Department identifies and evaluates
financial risks in close co-operation within the
Group to cope with overall risk management,
as well as specific areas, such as market risk
(including currency risk, interest rate risk and

price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

Market risk
Currency risk

The Group operates principally in Hong Kong
and in the PRC. It is exposed to foreign exchange
risk primarily with respect to Hong Kong dollar,
United States dollar (“US$”) and Chinese
Renminbi ("RMB"”) denominated transactions.
Foreign exchange risk arises where future
commercial transactions, recognised assets and
liabilities are denominated in currency that is not
the functional currency of the subsidiaries of the
Company.

Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign
currency transactions and recognised assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies other
than the functional currencies of the relevant
group entities, which expose the Group to foreign
currency risk.

RE B HRRMEE

3 HMBREBRER

3.1

(@)

M ERER

FERGHHEHEZIEYHRRE
miEER (BFEEEER F X
REREERR) - EERRR
MEBETAR AEERERERAR
EEFENEENERTHHNA
AIFEAIME WK A EREE X
ERYHRBOBETAANZE -
FABRBEESTEHIENIE
SIBEHMFB R - K&/ ER
HEAEBABEY S ER
T RERLCETER AR
B ARBEE ) LLH 5 E

w (AEEEAR FXEARK
ﬁ*ﬁﬂﬁﬁ}i) “EERBEERREE
£ RS o

)
SRR

AERTEREBRABERM
e -HEENETEERREREL
BE-ZTRARKSHENRS
Eff-HAKRBERS ERD
NEEKRGEUIIFRRQT B
ABIMEEBHNEREHE BIR
EEEXRRE-

ERBETHE AR BINER
AR EE BLUEE B BRI
FEEBLINZINBIENEE
K& 1A 4 & B RSN E &
553
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1
(a)
(i)

Financial risk factors (continued)
Market risk (continued)
Currency risk (continued)

As at 31 December 2024, some group entities
with functional currency of HK$ had considerable
amount of bank balances and cash denominated
in US$. Under the Linked Exchange Rate
System in Hong Kong, HK$ is pegged to US$,
management therefore considers that there is no
significant foreign exchange risk with respect to
US$ (2023: Same).

The following table indicates the approximate
change in the Group's profit/(loss) for the years
in response to reasonably possible changes in the
foreign exchange rates to which the Group has
significant exposure at the reporting date.

MBRAKRER (@)

3.1
)]
@

MBRBEZR &)
HGERE (E

BERRE (&

R2024F 128318 HEEE &
ABENETERSBIEAEAX
EUETHENRTERER
o RBEEENHMBEERSE
B BETHE AL SEE
2 73 b i £ 3= T AE fE B9 B2 K 4b
P& @ bx (20234 : 4R ©

TEETAEBEERF (5
1) WAL UEH RS D
K # (B 1 68 5 & L I 9 5 E B
&I ARG o

Impact on post-tax profit

RMB/HK$ exchange rate — increase
by - 3% (2023: by - 3%)

ANRMHBEER— LT
3% (20234 : 3%)

RMB/HK$ exchange rate — decrease A R H B IEER - T

by — 3% (2023: by — 3%)

3% (20234 : 3%)

HARE
2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
EIEFT BT T
4,351 3,511
(4,351) (3,511)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

(i)

Financial risk factors (continued)
Market risk (continued)
Interest rate risk

The Group holds interest bearing assets and
liabilities including cash at banks, bond payables
and borrowings. The Group is mainly exposed to
cash flow interest rate risk in relation to variable-
rate bank balances.

At 31 December 2024, if interest rates on
cash held at banks had been 25 basis points
higher/lower with all other variables held
constant, pre-tax profit for the year would
have been approximately HK$6,554,000 (2023:
HK$5,656,000) higher/lower.

Other than the financial assets at FVPL and
financial liabilities at FVPL held by the Group
which the underlying investments can be affected
by interest rates and bond payables, the Group is
not exposed to significant fair value interest rate
risk.

RE B HRRMEE

MBRKRER (@)

3.1

(if)

MBRBER &)
AN (2
el

rEBFASFREEREE &
BIRTHEE BARSRER-
AEEIZEHFIHEXRZIR
THEERER RS RN KA -

R2024F128318  HIR1TFR
RSN EEMEEMES
BREFAENERTLEAH THK
25EER BIAFEZBRRA
wEAN BN DB
6,554,0007C (20234 : &k
5,656,0007T) °

BRAEEBRRFERAABESA
Ao EMEEREAAEE
SPABREMEMEE 2 EER
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1
(a)
(iii)

Financial risk factors (continued)
Market risk (continued)
Price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk arises from
investments held by the Group and classified in
the consolidated statement of financial position
as investments (Note 19).

To manage its price risk arising from these
investments, the Group diversifies its portfolio.
Diversification of the portfolio is done in
accordance with the investment policy set by the
Group.

The table below summarises the impact of change
on the price of financial assets at FVPL and FVOCI
on the Group's equity and pre-tax profit for the
year. The analysis is based on the assumption
that the price had increased/decreased by certain
percentage with all other variables held constant.

Shoucheng Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024

MBRAKRER (@)

3.1
(@)
(iii)

MHBREEE &)
P (2
BRRER

AEBRMZERERKEESSE
BAFFARBLNGESMHR
MERANDERKRE HEE19) ©

BEERERENELEER
5 AREESTEREMEE -
REME S TR AEBT
TR E BT o

TREBTEAANBES AR
mREMEERGZEMEE
NERESHHAEBRRFEEN
REMRAR BN E - Z D
RERERRETLEXLHA
THREmMBEHEMEBERITITE
B R °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B HRRMEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3

3.1
(a)
(iii)

Financial risk factors (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Price risk (continued)

MBRKRER (@)

31 MBEAREER GE

(@) THHERE (&
(i) — ERER &

Impact on

Impact on other components
pre-tax profit of equity
HiEmEM
RAaFBENTE ARBANTE
2024 2023 2024 2023
HKS'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
BlEFT BlETor BEFT BETT
Financial assets at FVPL BARBESABEZ
EMEE
Equity securities - 5% (2023: 5%) BEASES—5% (2023: 5%) 3,996 7,011 - -
Investment funds — 5% (2023:5%)  REEE—5% (2023: 5%) 46,660 51,560 - -
Wealth management products - 1% B8 ER—1% (2023: 1%)

(2023: 1%) - 148 - -
Other securities — 5% (2023: 5%) HMEH—5% (2023: 5%) - 53,419 = =
Foreign currency forwards - 1% SNEEEI—1% (2023: 1%)

(2023: 1%) - 84 - -
Financial assets at FVOCI BARBES AR

EEANGEZERMEE
Other securities - 5% (2023: 5%) HAhzE#5—5% (2023: 5%) - - 54,939 6,690
Equity securities - 5% (2023: 5%) B ARZEH—5% (2023: 5%) = = 97,230 111,563

Pre-tax profit for the year would increase/decrease

as a result of net fair value changes on financial

assets at FVPL. Other components of equity would

increase/decrease as a result of net fair value

changes on financial assets at FVOCI.

BARBES ARG ZEME
ENFANBEERELSF
EWIRATFEE MR o
AnBESFAREMEZERZZ
TREENFIAABEEDR
e mpE AR DM,

o
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1
(b)

Financial risk factors (continued)
Credit risk

Credit risk arises from deposits with banks
and financial institutions, deposits and other
receivables, as well as credit exposures to trading
customers, including outstanding receivables.

Risk management

In order to minimise the credit risk, the
management of the Group has delegated a team
responsible for determination of credit limits,
credit approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual trade debt
and other receivable at the end of the reporting
period to ensure that adequate impairment loss
is made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard,
the directors consider that the Group's credit
risk is significantly reduced. Besides, the Group
has reduced credit risk on trade receivables by
requesting deposits to be made before service
or settlement before delivery. The Group mainly
deals with companies with a good repayment
record and reputation and also has policies
in place to assess the credit worthiness of
customers.

The Group has limited credit risk on liquid funds
as the counterparties are banks and financial
institutions which are reputable and/or with high
credit ratings assigned by international credit
rating agencies.

Credit risk mainly arises from trade and other
receivables.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1
(b)
(i)

Financial risk factors (continued)
Credit risk (continued)
Risk management (continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the top five
debtors and the largest debtor accounted for
approximately 52% (2023: 48%) and 19% (2023:
19%) of the Group's trade receivables balance,
respectively. The Group has policies in place
to ensure that sales of products are made to
customers with an appropriate credit history. The
Group normally conducts credit checks on new
customers and requires them to pay a deposit
of certain percentage of the sales amount, or to
provide the Group with a letter of credit when
placing orders.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified
approach to measuring expected credit losses
which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for
all trade receivables.

The Group recognised lifetime expected credit
loss for trade receivables carried at amortised
cost based on either individually customers who
are long overdue with significant amounts or
known insolvencies or non-response to collection
activities, or collectively assessing them for
likelihood of recovery based on ageing of the
balances with similar risk characteristics taking
into account the forward-looking information.

RE B HRRMEE

MBRKRER (@)

3.1
()
(i)

MHEREEE &)
FEmEE (&)
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R2024F 128318 AAER
ABRBRKEBADIGEERESR
& U BR R A5 BR 4952 % (20234 -
48%) F19% (20234 : 19%) ©
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1
(b)
(i)

Financial risk factors (continued)
Credit risk (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Given the track record of regular repayment
of trade receivables and good credit profiles
of customers, the directors are of the opinion
that the risk of default by these customers is
not significant, taking into account forward-
looking information on macroeconomic factors.
Therefore, expected credit loss rate of trade
receivables is assessed to be insignificant
and loss allowance provided on a collective
basis was amounted to HK$2,223,000 (2023:
HK$2,223,000).

For trade receivables relating to accounts
in which objective evidence that the debtor
faces significant financial difficulties or enters
liquidation, they are assessed individually for
impairment allowance. No specific loss allowance
was made (2023: Nil) as at 31 December 2024.

Trade receivables are written off where there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that
there is no reasonable expectation of recovery
include, amongst others, the failure of a debtor to
engage in a repayment plan with the Group.

The Group adopts general approach for expected
credit losses of financial assets at amortised
cost (other than trade receivables) based on the
Group's assessment in the risk of default of the
respective counterparties. The Group considers
these financial assets have not significantly
increased in credit risk from initial recognition.
Thus, these financial assets are classified in stage
one and only consider 12-month expected credit
losses.

Considering the history of default and forward-
looking factor, the expected credit loss is
immaterial.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1
(c)

Financial risk factors (continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group manages its liquidity risk by ensuring
it has sufficient liquid cash balances and credit

facilities to meet its payment obligations as they
fall due.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group held bank
balances and cash of HK$2,621,727,000 (2023:
HK$2,262,573,000) that are expected readily
generate cash inflows for managing liquidity risk.

In the management of the liquidity risk, the
Group monitors and maintains a level of cash
and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the
management to finance the Group’s operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. A monthly report on forecasted inflow
and outflow of cash is compiled for the directors’
review. The management monitors the utilisation
of bank and other borrowings.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has
outstanding borrowings of HK$396,822,000
(2023: HK$609,411,000) and bond payables of
HK$1,098,859,000 (2023: HK$183,786,000).
As at 31 December 2024, the Group has
available unutilised borrowing facilities of
HK$2,378,716,000 (2023: HK$1,511,310,000).

RE B HRRMEE
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RBEZ/EE

rEEBREREAGTEEN
NPREEHRREEREEY
BTHIAMXNEREMERE
HEReET AR -

R2024F 128310 A& H
FAERITEBRRBESEE
2,621,727,0007¢ (20234 : &
#2,262,573,0007T) 85t 0T BN BF
EXfRERANEERHES
JRLB

REERPESARE  AEH
CEERKMFREERRESE
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U A EEZ EEME R
RREERENGH 2T E-BAE
RMEBARERAR ML ZHK
SUHEFER -EEETER
BAIRITREMBRZER -

R2024F12831H» K&
396,822,0007% (20234 : Bk
609,411,0007T) REMNESE B
#1,098,859,0007% (20234 :
7B 1£183,786,0007T) © 7220244
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1
(c)

Financial risk factors (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative
financial liabilities. The table has been drawn up
based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest dates on which the
Group can be required to pay. The table includes
both interest and principal cash flows. To the
extent that interest flows are floating rate, the
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate
at the end of the reporting period.

In addition, the following table details the
Group's liquidity analysis for its non-derivative
financial liabilities as at 31 December 2024 and
2023. When the amount payable is not fixed, the
amount disclosed has been derived from interest
rate and foreign currency exchange rates at the
end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3

RE B HRRMEE

MBRKRER (@)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 31 MBRKEER @)
(c) Liquidity risk (continued) © THEELREE B
Repayable Carrying
on demand/ Total  amount at
less than 3 months 1-2 25 Over5 undiscounted 31 December
3 months to 1 year years years years  cash flows 2024
HRERRE/ AR ook
=fERNUA =fiR% 3 MEE it Reéme  1ANHZ
B -f ki3 f Nk a8 REE
HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
¥-lao0 Bir  EEFm Beir  EEFm Beir  EEFm
2024 2024
Non-derivative financial liabilities HieraR
Trade payables EMER 452,750 - - - - 45,750 452,750
Other payables EftEME 81,187 - - - - 81,187 81,187
Borrowings (EES 1,590 50,804 61,135 201,731 140,608 455,868 396,822
Bond payables EfiEs - 32,783 53,430 611,012 747,026 1,444,251 1,098,859
Financial liahlties at FVPL BARBENABEN
SHER - - 68,231 - - 68,231 68,231
Lease liabilities fE&R 52,575 202,085 246,336 647,358 1,350,344 2,498,698 1,855,612
Total fit 588,102 285,672 429,132 1,460,101 2,231,978 5,000,985 3,953,461
Repayable Carrying
on demand/ Total amount at
less than 3 months 1-2 25 Over5  undiscounted 31 December
3 months to 1 year years years years cash flows 2023
BEREE/ AR RonE
=BANA =ERE —EE MEE ik ReHE  12831RZ
B8 -k e hik:3 Mk &8 REE
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HK$000 HKS 000 HK$'000
BEFT BT BEFT BT BEFT BEfr BETr
2023 2023
Non-derivative financial liabilities Fiteman
Trade payables TR 485,585 - - - - 485,585 485,585
Other payables EEfHE 54,652 = = = = 54,652 54,652
Borrowings (e 12,144 166,938 59,186 224,967 246,599 709,834 609,411
Bond payables 5 - 1480 3,946 14,908 208,717 229,051 183,786
Financial liabilities at FVPL BAREES AR
SHEE - 92,519 - 292423 - 384,942 384,942
Lease liabilties iV 50,753 95,095 137,693 520,712 885802 1,690,055 1,393,115
Total At 603,134 356,032 200,825 1,053,010 1341118 3,554,119 3,111,491

The amounts included above for variable interest
rate instruments for non-derivative financial
liabilities are subject to change if changes in
variable interest rates differ to those estimates
of interest rates determined at the end of the
reporting period.

WETBREY BB TENE
EHERMEAE R BE
5t Bl E X2 I EFTE S
BeE IBANET A HA
B RET -
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2

3.3

(a)

Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that
entities in the Group will be able to continue as
a going concern while maximising the return to
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt
and equity balance. The Group's overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of
borrowings and bond payables disclosed in Note
26, 27 and equity attributable to owners of the
Company, comprising issued share capital and
reserves.

The directors review the capital structure on a
semi-annual basis. Based on recommendations
of the directors, the Group will balance its
overall capital structure through the payment
of dividends, new share issues and share buy -
backs as well as the issue of new debt or the

redemption of existing debts.

Fair value measurements of financial
instruments

Fair value hierarchy

This section explains the judgements and
estimates made in determining the fair values
of the financial instruments that are recognised
and measured at fair value in the consolidated
financial statements. To provide an indication
about the reliability of the inputs used in
determining fair value, the Group has classified
its financial instruments into the three levels
prescribed under the accounting standards. An
explanation of each level follows underneath the
table.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3

(a)

fe= A
177 g = |

3 MBRBRER@E

FA#5 SR R P 52

Fair value measurements of financial 33 EMIAZA2AEENE
instruments (continued) (#)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) @ AAEEER E
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—IRBR FRRH BZRERH =5
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EBEFT  EEFT EEFT  EEFT
Recurring fair value 1£20245 128318 K EH#
measurements as at AREENE
31 December 2024
Financial assets TRIEE
Financial assets at FVPL BAREBEFANERZ
THEE
Equity securities fe A e 5 79,919 - - 79,919
Investment funds RERE - - 933,209 933,209
Financial assets at FVOC/ BAREBEFARMZE
WHZeHEE
Other securities Hit1zg % 924,012 - 174,764 1,098,776
Equity securities fe A e 5 1,944,606 - - 1,944,606
Total &t 2,948,537 - 1,107,973 4,056,510
Financial liabilities TRIBME
Financial liabilities designated 15EAE AN BEA
at fair value through profit ~ 1EBEMNLRERE
or loss
— Third-party interest in - B=AREEERSH
consolidated funds ZEERBA A - - 68,231 68,231
Total &5t - - 68,231 68,231
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HERESIE &)

3.3 Fair value measurements of financial 33 ERMIAZAAEBMESE
instruments (continued) (#)
(a)  Fair value hierarchy (continued) @) KAABEER
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
BE—RRA BHREBR  EZRRR &t

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
EBETT  EETT  EETT  EETT

Recurring fair value 1$20235 128318 KL &

measurements as at ARBEFE

31 December 2023
Financial assets EMEE
Financial assets at FVPL BALEETA BT

THEE

Equity securities fe A e %5 140,227 - - 140,227
Investment funds RERT - - 1,031,195 1,031,195
Wealth management products 28 & @ - - 14,799 14,799
Other securities HithzE 5 1,068,371 - - 1,068,371
Foreign currency forward HNEE R R = 8,393 = 8,393

Financial assets at FVOC/ BAREBEFAARYZE

W 2 2HEE

Other securities H fth 3% 75 133,803 - - 133,803
Equity securities fe A e %5 2,231,261 - - 2,231,261
Total &t 3,573,662 8,393 1,045,994 4,628,049
Financial liabilities Edh=RE
Financial liabilities designated 15EAEAABETA

at fair value through BalNEmas

profit or loss
— Third-party interest in - B ARFEEMEHZ

consolidated funds EeHBz#n - - 384,942 384,942
Total =X - - 384,942 384,942
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3

(a)

Fair value measurements of financial
instruments (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2024,
there were no transfers between level 1 and 2
for recurring fair value measurements (2023:
other securities amounting to approximately
HK$384,825,000 were transferred from
measurement based on level 3 to level 1 as a
result of the end of lock-up period).

The Group's policy is to recognise transfers into
and transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels as
at the end of the year.

Level 1: The fair value of financial instruments
traded in active markets (such as publicly traded
derivatives, and equity securities) is based on
quoted market prices at the end of the reporting
period. The quoted market price used for financial
assets held by the Group is the current bid price.
These instruments are included in level 1.

Level 2: The fair value of financial instruments
that are not traded in an active market (for
example, over-the-counter derivatives) is
determined using valuation techniques which
maximise the use of observable market data
and rely as little as possible on entity-specific
estimates. If all significant inputs required to
fair value an instrument are observable, the
instrument is included in level 2.

Level 3: If one or more of the significant inputs
is not based on observable market data, the
instrument is included in level 3.

RE B HRRMEE

3 MBRBRER@E

33

(@

EMIRZAAREBESE
(%)
RARBEER (7

EEZE2024F128318 7 k&
EE—RRBEE KRR Z
R EEES (202346 @ BN TERT
45RO ABET 4978 15384,825,000
T EMEBHELE = RB AN
STEEBEE—RRR

AEBZBRANREHEL
REEDLAADEBEERZER
BAREH-

B—RERR ERTISEE L
TRMIE WMAREEMNITEL
ARRBRAES) 2 AnBETR
BREABERFENTISRE
iR -AEBEFRFAZEMEE
FTRZmHEREARFHRIEE-
ZETRTSETAB—RRA -

BIRRR EREREMIZES
Z2EMITA (MBITETR)
ZARBEUBERITE Z
EHERMAEINNATESZ
AEZmBHE KmESZ2ED
KBRABZ BT HIE -G
NABEHEZTAZMAE
AEHEE TN ERERE > %A
TESWHINAE ZHRRG -

BRI E—EHZEEKR
WMABBILIFRFEATREETIS
HEEE IRBEIRERIS
B ARARF

HERZRARAT 2024FFR 179



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE BRI

nix

3

180

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 Fair value measurements of financial
instruments (continued)

(b) Valuation techniques used to determine fair
values

Specific valuation techniques used to value
financial instruments include:

o the use of quoted market prices or
dealer quotes for similar instruments, if
appropriate, with adjustment for discount
of lack of marketability;

o for investment funds — stated with
reference to recent transaction prices or
the net asset values of the investment
funds;

o for other financial instruments and wealthy
management products — discounted cash
flow analysis; and

o for third-party interests in funds

consolidated by the Group - net asset
values of the fund.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE B HRRMEE

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3  HMEEAKREIR &)
3.3 Fair value measurements of financial 33 EMIAZAREBEGTE
instruments (continued) (#)
(c) Reconciliation of level 3 fair value (c) ZARARFIZHEERAIEES
measurements of financial assets EHR
The following table presents the changes in level TRENEHE2024F 20234
3 items for the years ended 31 December 2023 1283 1B LEB 2 E =R AI1E
and 2024: Bz &% :
Financial
Financial assets liabilities
THEE ERER
Third-party
interests
Wealth in fund
Investment Other management consolidated
funds securities products by the Group
F=AR
FERMEH
2EEHE
KEES HiE s BMEm A+
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETFT BT BEFT BT
At 1 January 2023 12023F181H 849,234 181,511 67,465 (87,461)
Gain/(loss) recognised inthe R 2EIRE RHED
consolidated statement of ZW&/ (§518)
comprehensive income 10,606 (13,226) 1,868 (728)
Additions NE 293,174 297,362 14,747 (340,384)
Disposal HE (97,769) (71,709) (65,365) 41,961
Exchange differences ERER (24,050) (9,113) (3,916) 1,670
Transfer to level 1 HEEE—RM - (384,825) = =
At 31 December 2023 and R2023F 128318 R
1 January 2024 20241818 1,031,195 - 14,799 (384,942)
Gain recognised in the REa2ARaRER
consolidated statement of W&
comprehensive income 30,355 12,258 - 12,235
Additions NE 45,819 162,506 - (1,624)
Disposal HE (134,190) - (14,799) 302,340
Exchange differences ERELR (39,970) = = 3,760
At 31 December 2024 120245128318 933,209 174,764 - (68,231)

HERZRARAT 2024FFR

181



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B HRR MR

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 MBRAREIE @)

182

3.3 Fair value measurements of financial 33 ERMIAZAAEBMESE
instruments (continued) (#)
(d) Valuation inputs and relationships to fair (d) FE=RRFTHEELABEES

Shoucheng Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024

value of level 3 fair value measurements

The following table summarises the quantitative

information about the significant unobservable

inputs used in recurring level 3 fair value

measurements (see (b) above for the valuation

techniques adopted):

BEZIHEHEAARBEAAEE
BIRF 7

TRBIMBBEE = RKF TR
BEZANEESEFMANIE
EHEGEEEEHERAANTE
EE R o PRI E TE (B R T
HEH X (b)e

Fair value at Range of inputs
RFFBMZAREE BERAHE
Un-observable Relationship of unobservable inputs
Description 2024 2023 inputs* 2024 2023 to fair value
FREBRRMEEY FREBZEEZEBEAR
i HRHA~ ARBEEZER
HKS'000  HK$'000
BEFT EETFT
Other securities 174,764 - Discount for lack of ~ 1.1% - N/A Increase/decrease 1% (2023: N/A) of the discount for
HihiE s marketability 1.7% A lack of marketability would decrease/increase the
Rz BHERTID fair value measured by HK$1,556,000 (2023: N/A)
B BB, HA % (2023F : FEH)
BERARBES BN,/ D HE1,556,0007
(2023%F 1 &) °
Investment funds 933,209 1,031,195  Fair value of N/A N/A Increase/decrease 10% (2023: 10%) of the fair value
REES underlying assets ~ FEH TEH of underlying assets would increase/decrease the
ENEEN fair value measure by HK$93,321,000 (2023:
NREE HK$103,119,000)
BNEENAABEEM, HL10% 20235
10%) BERALBES2EM/ BB
93,321,007 (20234 : £%103,119, 00075)
Wealth management - 14,799 Expected rate of N/A  1.25% - N/A (2023: Increase/decrease 10% of the expected
products return ~ER 2.45% rate of return would increase/decrease the fair
BYER AW EE value measure by HK$27,000)
Tfﬁ (2023%F : BHEIREILM /HA10% K EH
ARBEEEM,/ L EE27,0007) ©
Third-party interests in (68,231) (384,942)  Fair value of N/A N/A Increase/decrease 10% (2023: 10%) of the fair
fund consolidated by underlying assets ~ FEH AEA value of underlying assets in consolidated funds
the Group in consolidated would increase/decrease the fair value measure by
EZARKERMAH funds HK$6,823,000 (2023: HK$38,494,000)
ZEERBZER FEEMEHZE FEEfEHzESNEBEENAABAELN/
ENEEEEN A10% (20235 1 10%) BERAAEE
AREE ST,/ #H6,823,0007T (20234 : ¥
38,494,0007T) ©
g There were no significant inter-relationships * FREBRLEHEOAZHE

between unobservable inputs that materially affect

fair values

TEEHAABEENEKR
FERZEXBEEMG-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3

(d)

Fair value measurements of financial
instruments (continued)

Valuation inputs and relationships to fair
value of level 3 fair value measurements
(continued)

The management determined the fair value of
the investment funds with reference to recent
transaction prices or by reviewing the valuations
of the underlying investments held by respective
investment funds to assess the appropriateness of
the fair values of the investment funds.

The management determined the fair value of
the other securities classified as FVPL and FVOCI
with reference to market value at the end of
the reporting period. As at 31 December 2024,
other securities amounted to HK$153,562,000
have restriction of trading for 1 year. The fair
value measurement reflects the effect of such
restriction. Therefore, the fair value is determined
by the market price adjusted by a discount rate
for lack of marketability of 1.1% to 1.7% as at
31 December 2024. As at 31 December 2023,
these securities have no restriction of trading.

As at 31 December 2024, the fair value of the
other securities is determined to be approximately
HK$1,098,776,000 (2023: HK$1,202,174,000).

The management determined the fair value of
third-party interests in funds consolidated by the
Group with reference by reviewing the valuations
of the underlying investments held by respective
consolidated funds to assess the appropriateness
of the fair values of the consolidated funds.

RE B HRRMEE

3 MBRBRER@E

33

(d)

EMIAZAREBEGE
(#)
SRR EHEEIAIEE
BEZIHEHEAAREAAEE
HIRGF ()

EEESRIFLTRAESH
RS E NEBREERE
EERANERREMLENG
REESTAABEZEENE U
BEFLTRAEAZSHANE
(=

EEEZB2TRGEHEXD
HAZARBESIAER
HMzmhmz HME S
MhmEREETELAABE
R2024F 128310 BEA
HK$153,562,00009 EthzE %589
REMRABIF - AARBEMNS
ERMZRHINFE - EIt > 7°
2024 12B3 1 HER R EEE
11%E.7% R ZBHEMERITI0
ERBEBENMBEREBETE -
2023F12B318H > ZZEHME
&5 1 4% PR S HAPR Al o

2024128318 HhE
FHNAABERIBANBIE
1,098,776,0007c > (20234 : &
#1,202,174,0007T) ©
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3

(e)

3.4

Fair value measurements of financial
instruments (continued)

Valuation processes

The Group includes a team that performs the
valuations of financial instruments required for
financial reporting purposes, including level
3 fair values. This team reports directly to the
senior management and the audit committee.
Discussions of valuation processes and results are
held between the senior management and the
valuation team at least once every six months,
in line with the Group’'s half-yearly reporting
periods.

Changes in levels 2 and 3 fair values are analysed
at the end of each reporting period during the
half-yearly valuation discussion among the senior
management, audit committee and valuation
team. As part of this discussion, the team
presents a report that explains the reason for the
fair value movements.

Financial assets and financial liabilities
subject to offsetting, enforceable master
netting arrangements and similar
agreements

The Group has no such financial assets or
financial liabilities outstanding in the consolidated
statement of financial position which are
under master netting agreements. No material
impact on the amounts reported in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements and respective
disclosures relating to the Group’s master netting
agreements as no such contracts outstanding.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of consolidated financial statements

requires the use of accounting estimates which,

by definition, will seldom equal the actual results.

Management also needs to exercise judgement in

applying the Group’s accounting policies.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated.
They are based on historical experience and other

factors, including expectations of future events that

may have a financial impact on the entity and that are

believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

4.1
(a)

(b)

Critical accounting estimates

Estimation of the fair values of investment
properties

Information about the valuation of investment
properties is provided in Note 14.

Estimation of goodwill impairment

The Group tests whether goodwill has suffered
any impairment on an annual basis. For the 2024
and 2023 reporting periods, the recoverable
amount of cash-generating units (CGUs) was
determined based on value-in-use calculations
which require the use of assumptions. The
calculations use cash flow projections based
on financial budgets approved by management
covering a five-year period.

Cash flows beyond the five-year period are
extrapolated using the estimated growth rates
stated in Note 15. These growth rates are
consistent with forecasts included in industry
reports.

Details of impairment charge, key assumptions
and impact of possible changes in key
assumptions are disclosed in Note 15.
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CRITICAL ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(continued)

4.1
(c)

(d)

Critical accounting estimates (continued)

Estimation of the fair value and impairment
of certain financial assets

The fair value of financial instruments that are
not traded in an active market is determined
using valuation techniques. The Group uses
its judgement to select a variety of methods
and make assumptions that are mainly based
on market conditions existing at the end of
each reporting period. For details of the key
assumptions used and the impact of changes to
these assumptions see Note 3.3(a).

The loss allowances for financial assets are
based on assumptions about risk of default and
expected loss rates. The Group uses judgement
in making these assumptions and selecting the
inputs to the impairment calculation, based
on the Group's past history existing market
conditions as well as forward-looking estimates at
the end of each reporting period. Details of the
key assumptions and inputs used are disclosed in
Note 3.1.

Recognition of deferred tax asset for carried-
forward tax losses

No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of tax losses of approximately
HK$1,325,400,000 due to the unpredictability
of future profit streams. In cases where probable
taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences can be
utilised and the amounts are confirmed by the tax
authority, a deferred tax asset may be recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(continued)

4.1
(e)

Critical accounting estimates (continued)

Recognition of revenue under service
concession agreement

Revenue under service concession agreement
acts is recognised over the period of the contract
by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation,
depending on the nature of the contract, is
measured mainly by reference to the proportion
of contract costs incurred for work performed
to date to estimated total contract costs for
each contract. Management estimates the total
contract revenue and total contract costs at
the inception of each contract. As the contract
progresses, management regularly reviews
and revises the estimates of contract revenue
and contract costs if circumstances change,
such as variations in contract work, claims and
incentive payments. The increases or decreases
in estimated total contract revenue or total
contract costs resulted in the adjustments to
the extent of progress toward completion and
revenue recognised in the period in which the
circumstances that give rise to the revision
becomes known by management.
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CRITICAL ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(continued)

4.1
(f)

Critical accounting estimates (continued)
Determination of the lease term

In determining the lease term, management
considers all facts and circumstances that create
an economic incentive to exercise an extension
option, or not exercise a termination option.
Extension options (or periods after termination
options) are only included in the lease term if the
lease is reasonably certain to be extended (or not
terminated).

For leases of car parks operating rights, the
following factors are normally the most relevant:

o If there are significant penalty payments
to terminate (or not extend), the Group is
typically reasonably certain to extend (or
not terminate).

o If any leasehold improvements are
expected to have a significant remaining
value, the Group is typically reasonably
certain to extend (or not terminate).

o Otherwise, the Group considers other
factors including historical lease durations
and the costs and business disruption
required to replace the leased asset.

Most extension options in offices and vehicles
leases have not been included in the lease liability,
because the Group could replace the assets
without significant cost or business disruption.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B HRRMEE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WARSEHER
The Group has been principally engaged in infrastructure AEEBFEREERIHEEETIR
assets management business. EFo
Revenue recognised during the years are as follows: FREEDZWANDT !
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Revenue recognized under RIBEAMFERELED
HKFRS 15: BISRERBZ WA ©
Operation service income EE RN 823,446 567,807
Construction revenue from service FRIB R eT & RHEE WA
concession agreement 46,708 48,706
Fund management services income  E&EIBRFEWN 191,525 183,032
Excess return from investment funds & & &% Y BEE[O] R 101,555 194,931
1,163,234 994,476
Revenue recognized under other IRIEHth AN FET >
accounting standards: A :
Leasing income AEWAN 50,623 41,617
Investment gain/(loss) K& (518 1,266 (152,615)
Total revenue WN#E 1,215,123 883,478
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Timing of revenue recognition ST\ B 57 Y B B
— Overtime —E—ERREN 1,163,234 994,476
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R #5 ¥R R P 5E

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)

Management has determined the operating segments
based on the reports reviewed by the chief operating
decision makers that are used to make strategic
decisions and resources allocation. No operating
segments identified by the chief operating decision
makers have been aggregated in arriving at the
reportable segments of the Group.

The revenue, profit before tax, total assets and total
liabilities reported to the chief operating decision makers
are measured in a manner consistent with that in the
consolidated financial statements.

The non-current assets, operations and substantially all
of the customers are located in the China which is the
country of domicile of the relevant entities of the Group.
Accordingly, no further analysis of revenue from external
customers and non-current assets by geographical
location is presented.

Revenue from customers during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023 contributing over 10% of
total sales are as follows:

5

WA BB E R
(#)

EEERBEIEEERREERNNA
PRIEHRBERRRERDENERE
EREDE -REMEAEEZZ2RD
WE > WEMBEETBZEERRAH
Blz&EBENE-

MEBEBRRERSTZWARR
FAMB - EEREREEREURS
HUBERE-BHNARNETEN -

FRBEE -BEEREARBOTRNH
URAEEBERERZAMERK B
AL WEZFRBIIFEL ZW
ARFRBEERMENEZE—D
paRii

B E2024F K%2023F128318 1HF
E rHAEENERASERER10%
WELFTEENRATT :

2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Customer A Z2RPA N/AR7E F 241,176
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)

Contract assets

As at 31 December 2024, contract assets which are
presented as concession rights under service concession
arrangements amounted to HK$99,419,000 (2023:
HK$114,664,000).

Contract assets are initially recognised for revenue
earned from the provision of construction services for
the infrastructures during the period of construction
under the service concession arrangements. Pursuant to
the service concession agreements, the Group receives
no payment from the grantors during the construction
period. The service concession arrangement (including
the contract assets therein) are not yet due for payment
and will be settled by grant of concession rights that
entitled the Group to operate during the operating
periods of the service concession arrangements.

Contract liabilities

Contract liabilities represent advances received for the
operation service income.

Revenue recognised during the year ended 31 December
2024 that was included in the contract liabilities as at 1
January 2024 is approximately HK$36,720,000 (2023:
HK$22,517,000).

5

RE B HRRMEE

WA RDEER
=]
BREE

R2024F12HA31H 6N EEZY]
AHERBRHIAKELHE T2 RHTRE
% 71£99,419,0007T (20234 : BiE
114,664,0007T) °

ARBRVMERBEFEELHT
e it 2 32 52 AR 75 P R BN BY UR o R R
BHNEE-RERFBRHACELH
EREHBEAERRBERNEZTLEAZ
ME -REFACELHFTHEREA
ERRIA REBEBERFHFED
ZETHNEERBWNRNRFEET
EE ZERACERELIEREBE
ERBHFEEZHNEEHRNENT

A

=
EHNEEREERBWATZERK
Eo
N

FFA2024F 1 BIHZAENEBEREE
2024F12B31HIEEERIBZ WG
#781636,720,0007T (20234 : BiE
22,517,0007T) ©

HERZRARAT 2024FFR 191



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 AL

g o =]

192

R #5 ¥R R P 5E

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)

Accounting policies for revenue recognition

(a)

(b)

(c)

Operation service income

Operation service income is recognised when the
services is provided.

Revenue from the construction services under
a service concession agreement

The Group's performance in respect of
construction services creates or enhances an asset
or work in progress that the customer controls as
the asset is created or enhanced, thus the Group
satisfies a performance obligation revenue over
time, by reference to completion of the specific
transaction assessed on the basis of the surveyors’
assessment of work performed and the costs
incurred up to the end of the reporting period
as a percentage of total estimated costs for each
contract.

Revenue from the construction services under a
service concession arrangement is estimated on
a cost plus basis with reference to a prevailing
market rate of gross margin at the date of the
agreement applicable to similar construction
services rendered.

Fund management services income

Revenue from management fees are recognised
on a time-proportion basis with reference to
the net asset value of the investment funds
and managed accounts. Performance fees are
recognised on the performance fee valuation day
of the investment funds and managed accounts
when there is a positive performance for the
relevant performance period and it is determined
that it will not result in significant reversal in a
subsequent period, taking into consideration the
relevant basis of calculation for the investment
funds and managed accounts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)

Accounting policies for revenue recognition
(continued)

(d)

(e)

(f)

(9)

Excess return from investment funds

Excess return from investment fund when the
contractual conditions are satisfied, to the
extent that it is highly probable that a significant
reversed in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur.

Investment gain/(loss)

Investment income includes net gains/losses on
financial assets and liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss.

Refer to Note 36.9 for the recognition policy.

Leasing income

Refer to Note 36.22 for the recognition policy.

Financing components

The Group does not expect to have any contracts
where the period between the transfer of the
promised goods or services to the customer and
payment by the customer exceeds one year. As
a consequence, the Group does not adjust any
of the transaction prices for the time value of
money.

5

RE B HRRMEE

WA R EE R

(#)

WA FESR B S SR

(%)
(d)

(e)

)

@)

REBZELELIHR

REESHNBREREESREK
i e By 5D R 5T B IRA
RASEFGHEEAER -

RE Wt~ (E575)

KEWD (BB 8FRAR
BEFAEGZEHEERE
Bz, BERPEE

ERARSBBERFE 2 RN 3690

THEHA

ERBERBRESHEME
36.22°

HEES
EERBAIERITAER KRS
ERIRBTFERETRUMX
ZHARBE —FEMNEAEH-
I AEBRTEREEEEEE
HEBERARZER-
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6 OTHER INCOME 6 HfthA
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT T
Dividend income LIS ON 217,769 328,373
Government grant (Note) BT B (07 &E) 7,314 2,257
Interest income on bank deposits RITERF BN 128,032 127,073
Others Hib 9,095 363
362,210 458,066
Note: The amount represented government grants received W =BRARPEMASBNERESNE
from the PRC local government authorities in respect of Bl 7 & B Y /&8 /R B & ' R A B9 BURT 4
subsidising the operating costs of subsidiaries, which were B EXAEBREMBHEMBEEE
immediately recognised as other income for the year as the B BB BN A FEREAMI
Group fulfilled all the relevant granting criteria. Ae
7  OTHER GAINS, NET 7  HthW=m$gE
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT T
Exchange losses, net &R 5185 58 (18,120) (10,132)
Gain from changes in fair value of KREMELANEBEEDZ
investment properties (Note 14) Wz (B7zE14) 33,763 116,530
Gain on disposal of an investment BRE—EBME Bz G
in an associate (Note 18(A)) (H1&E18(A)) 24,245 =
Fair value gain on financial assets BARBEFNERZ
at FVPL EMEEZ ANEBERR 2,356 23,502
Fair value gain on financial liabilities ZAABESTNIEZZ
at FVPL THMEBEZANEER - 197
Others Hth 3,636 (1,601)
45,880 128,496
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B HRRMEE

OPERATING PROFIT

The Group's operating profit is stated after charging the

followings:

8 k(« EK 3 it 5";|J

FEBEE DA EMNRUT :

2024 2023
Note HK$000 HK$'000
iok=3 EEFT BT
Employee benefit expenses BERAZH FEEES
(excluding benefits and BH) K F &)
interests of directors) 9 175,589 185,556
Benefits and interests of SEEMEFE
directors 35 7,728 13,553
183,317 199,109
Amortisation of other non- HtIEmEn B EHH
current assets 31,982 21,884
Auditor’s remuneration ZEEM B &
— Audit service —BEE AR 4,029 4,369
— Non-audit service —IFE IR 1,394 870
Construction cost FES DN 39,702 41,400
Depreciation of property, plant ¥ -BENZHEITE
and equipment 13(A) 22,769 17,104
Depreciation of right-of-use CREEERE
assets 13(B) 201,719 132,003
Expense relating to short-term  j2HAE SRR X
leases 13(B) 82,996 72,419
Legal and professional expenses AR N EHEEH 19,597 16,135
Research and development mEER
expense 15,385 22,605
Service and management fees  BEEMHEBZT ZRE M
charged by Shougang Group BIEEHR 33(a) 5,312 2,990
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196

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 9
(EXCLUDING BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF
DIRECTORS)

EBEEFZH FEEESEF
)&ilk)

2024 2023
HKS$'000 HK$'000
EEFT HBIETFT
Basic salaries and allowances BEARHFH & NER 143,203 142,218
Retirement benefits scheme BREF FTEIH R
contributions 46,759 36,640
Net (reversal)/recognition of share (BEE)/RERETREEN
options granted to employees BT (14,373) 6,698
175,589 185,556
Note: Mzt -

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no forfeited
contributions were utilised by the Group to reduce its retirement
benefits scheme contributions (2023: Nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 9
(EXCLUDING BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF
DIRECTORS) (continued)

()

Five highest paid individuals

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the five
individuals whose emoluments were the highest
in the Group include one (2023: three) director(s),
whose emolument is reflected in the analysis in
Note 35. The emoluments paid/payable to the
four (2023: two) individuals during the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are as
follows:

RE B HRRMEE

EBEREFZH FEEESEF
RFlzm) ()

0]

IRESHAL

HZE2024F12B31HIEEE
rEEHEEENARATE
E—%(2023:=%) £% > Hil
ERBRHFEISZ O -BE
2024F K2023F12831H LEE
EE[ G TES (2023
F ) ALEZBSWT

2024 2023
HKS$'000 HK$'000
BT HBEFT
Salaries and all allowances and e RIDEAER
benefits in kind Higx] 7,422 4,934
Contributions to retirement BOREF 5 & R
benefit schemes 116 36
7,538 4,970

The emoluments of the highest paid individuals
fell within the following bands:

il

s AL ZB N T &

JE i

Number of individuals

B < S5 [

Emolument band

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000

HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000

HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000

71,500,001 70 &
78 1£2,000,0007%
752,000,001 E
7B #2,500,0007T
7B 1£2,500,001 5 E
7#153,000,0007T

A¥
2024 2023
4 _
- 1
- 1
4 2
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AR e B HRR MR

10 FINANCE COSTS TSR A

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
BMEFT EMEF T
Interests on bank borrowings RITERFE 20,041 38,744
Interests on bond payables FEESFE 19,088 3,008
Interests on lease liabilities HEaEHNE 77,158 63,937
116,287 105,689

11  INCOME TAX EXPENSE FRiSH sz

The amount of income tax expenses charged to the

MEEEERmERANBRZAFERX

consolidated statement of comprehensive income HMIER !
represents:
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT
Current income tax in the PRC FE BPHAPT 1SR 75,617 84,582
Deferred income tax (Note 28) IRIEFTISHR (BYa£28) 12,543 (77,357)
88,160 7,225
Over-provision for prior year UEFEEBLEEE (2,579) (319)
Income tax expense FTigtiRE sz 85,581 6,906
Hong Kong profits tax EAEAER

Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at 16.5% of the
assessable profit in 2024 (2023: 16.5%).

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has made in the

consolidated financial statements as the Group has no

Hong Kong assessable profit for both years ended 31

December 2024 and 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)
China enterprise income tax

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the
"EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT
Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is mainly 25%
for 2024 (2023: 25%).

Pursuant to the EIT Law, a 10% withholding tax is
levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from
foreign investment enterprises established in China.
The requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and
applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax
treaty between China and the jurisdiction of the foreign
investors. For the Group, the applicable rate is 5%. The
Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes on any
dividends distributable by its subsidiaries established in
China in respect of earnings generated.

The tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the
profit before income tax per the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income as follows:

1

RE B HRRMEE

PRSI (@)
= f EFRS

REPEAREMNE (THEY) MR
BE (ThEMREBRZE) RbEMSE
MABHIKRG > EHRE AN ZHEBEA
BIR2024F 2 IMEFTEA25% (2023
I 25%) o

RIFEEEMESREA EREAMREIL
HNINBRECERIEINEGEETRY
BREBHEMI0%MTEINR ZEKRE
20081 A1 HEEER  BAN20074
12831 H BB o U1 B S5 4h
REENEEZEG 2 HEERERE
B EEARENENRE - AEEYN
BEREAS% AL KEBAMRE
B2 FR B P 3t Y 37 B9 B B8 A Bl BEFT E A
MR A2 IR IR B BUANTEIITR ©

FRZRBAXEHEESEE B @K
RZERPTERANEF HIRWT -

2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$000
BT BT T
Profit before income tax expense FRPTISM A AR F] 474,101 466,451
Calculated at domestic tax rates AR E R E AN E "
applicable to profits in the MEFTEMNRIE
respective countries 96,040 85,296
Tax effect of amount which are REtEEFRIARFBR
not deductible/(taxable) in Rel iR, (BEEMR) 58
calculating taxable income: NIRBEE
Share of results of associates BLBEATES 3,549 7,875
Share of results of joint ventures b /NI 1,829 7,845
Expenses not deductible for AEHMRZ N
tax purposes 12,713 17,184
Income not taxable for tax purposes B ZEZRI WA (66,221) (150,193)
Tax loss not recognised RIERR IR 18 54,284 41,832
Utilitsation of tax lossess previously BB RWERIRFEE R
not recognised (14,034) (2,614)
Over-provision in prior year MEFERBERE (2,579) (319)
Income tax expense for the year FEMERMBAS 85,581 6,906
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EARNINGS PER SHARE 12 SkRER
(a) Basic earnings per share (@) ESREXEA
The basic earnings per share for the year is KEESRERABATLEERAR
calculated by dividing the profit attributable to BEERERTEE ARG
the owners of the Company by the weighted RURFESETEBERME
average number of ordinary shares in issue during T B B bR B R 2B 5T 2 PR
the year and excluding shares held for share FRHEE (FysE23) !
incentive plan (Note 23).
2024 2023
HK Cents HK Cents
Ml Bl
Basic earnings per share NABHEB AEMS
attributable to the owners SRELRRT
of the Company 5.76 5.57
(b) Diluted earnings per share (b) ESREERT
The diluted earnings per share for the year is rEESREERN T REH
calculated by dividing the adjusted earnings BERNARBDEBERERTAA
attributable to the owners of the Company which wAES EEMEREFEM
have taken into account the after-tax interest HBEHRBERNENEBERNE
and other related after-tax financing costs on MABRAPT S IR B R E A BRIU
potentially dilutive ordinary shares by the adjusted RABNAFECETEAR
weighted average number of ordinary shares mEFHE £ RIREME
in issue which have taken into account the AEFENSERELERE
additional ordinary shares that would have been MAAIMNEEITHE B ©
outstanding assuming that all potentially dilute
ordinary shares have been converted.
2024 2023
HK Cents HK Cents
Ml Bl
Diluted earnings per share A HEB AR
attributable to the owners SREEERA
of the Company 5.76 5.57
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B HRRMEE

12 EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued) 12 SREF @
() Reconciliations of earnings used in 0 ARSIEEREBANZETR
calculating earnings per share iR
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$°000
BEFT EMFT
Basic and diluted earnings BERELARFERERT
per share
Profit attributable to the owners FBRFABEESRELRE
of the Company used in wREERANZAAT
calculating basic and diluted A NELRET
earnings per share 410,200 403,565
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12 EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued) 12 SREM @
(d) Weighted average number of shares d EHIBzZzRHZMET
used as the denominator &
2024 2023
Number of Number of
share share
ghE 4= RnEE
‘000 ‘000
FhR FhR
Weighted average number of ERDBRANSEERER
ordinary shares used as the Bz EERMEFLISH
denominator in calculating basic  (#5%)
earnings per share (Note) 7,123,456 7,243,783
Adjustment for calculation of AEBRKE MBI E T
diluted earnings per share in BTETHEEREN
relation to options granted SREERNGHE
to employees under the share (Ht&E(e))
incentive plan (Note (e)) - 3,013
Weighted average number of EADBRERFTESRER
ordinary shares and potential RiHERANZE@ERKRE
ordinary shares used as the BT E B METHH
denominator in calculating (Htzt)
diluted earnings per share (Note) 7,123,456 7,246,796
Note: Mzt -

The weighted average number of ordinary shares adopted
in the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share for
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 have been
arrived at after deducting the shares held in trust for the
Group under the share incentive plan of the Group.

(e) Effects of share options for the year
ended 31 December 2024

Options granted to employees under the share
incentive plan are considered to be potential
ordinary shares. Certain outstanding share
options as at 31 December 2024 are not included
in the calculation of diluted earnings per share
because they are anti-dilutive for the year ended
31 December 2024.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B HRRMEE

13(A) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

13(A) ME - -BERRE

Furniture,
Leasehold fixtures and Motor
improvements equipment vehicles Total
Hi 8B
HEMEEE R&fE RE =h
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT
At 1 January 2023 1202351818
Cost A 14,275 33,939 2,657 50,871
Accumulated depreciation RetifE (6,078) (19,197) (2,657) (27,932)
Net carrying amount REZE 8,197 14,742 = 22,939
Opening net carrying amount BUEETE 8,197 14,742 = 22,939
Addition HE 91,589 12,213 492 104,294
Depreciation e (12,221) (4,793) (90) (17,104)
Disposal HE - (792) = (792)
Exchange difference ERERE (99) (1,169) = (1,268)
At 31 December 2023 120235128318 87,466 20,201 402 108,069
At 31 December 2023 2023128318
Cost A 105,562 37,670 1,419 144,651
Accumulated depreciation REE (18,096) (17,469) (1,017) (36,582)
Net carrying amount REFE 87,466 20,201 402 108,069
Opening net carrying amount HYIREFE 87,466 20,201 402 108,069
Addition RE 58,463 16,566 912 75,941
Depreciation e (16,092) (6,533) (144) (22,769)
Disposal HE - (2,990) (10) (3,000)
Exchange difference EREE (3,668) (679) (19) (4,366)
At 31 December 2024 12024128318 126,169 26,565 1,141 153,875
At 31 December 2024 120245125318
Cost A 160,357 49,122 2,116 211,595
Accumulated depreciation RetifE (34,188) (22,557) (975) (57,720)
Net carrying amount FETE 126,169 26,565 1,141 153,875

HZE2024F12B31BEEE > Em
BEEEHIREME (2023F 1 #) °

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no
impairment loss (2023: Nil) was provided for.

HERZRARAT 2024FFR 203



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

g-:-AE

AR e B HRR MR

13(A) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

204

(continued)

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method
to allocate their cost or revalued amounts, net of their
residual values, over their estimated useful lives as
follows:

Leasehold improvements  Shorter of lease term or 4 to

10 years
Furniture, fixtures and 3 to 10 years
equipment
Motor vehicles 4 years

See Note 36.6 for the other accounting policies relevant
to property, plant and equipment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B HRRMEE

13(B) LEASES

The consolidated statement of financial position shows

the following amounts relating to leases:

(i)

Amounts recognised in the consolidated

138) #HE

Z-—L—vA
w3
2

MBRREEHI AT REERE

() MEAMBRAIRERZ

statement of financial position =%
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$°000
EBIETT BIEF T
Right-of-use assets FERAEEE
Office premises BFIEYE 4,697 767
Car parking assets FEEE 2,250,442 1,822,492
2,255,139 1,823,259
Lease liabilities HEasE
Current Wikl 166,072 78,683
Non-current JETREN 1,689,540 1,314,432
1,855,612 1,393,115

Additions to the right-of-use assets during
the year ended 31 December 2024 were
HK$735,462,000 (2023: HK$14,645,000).

As at 31 December 2024, right-of-use assets
of HK$749,658,000 (2023: HK$810,062,000)
have been pledged as security for the Group's
borrowings. Please refer to Note 26 for details.

P& LWE2024F12831H Lt
FE CFREAEREERMBIE
735,462,0007c (20234 : BiE

14,645,0007T) ©

R2024F 128310 EHR%E
BEESEBMT749,658,0007T
(20234 : ¥810,062,000
) WEHARNEBERNE
ReostBEA2RME260
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13(B) LEASES (continued) 13(8) HHE (&)
(i) Amounts recognised in the consolidated (i) NEEE2EKRERERZE
statement of comprehensive income X8
The consolidated statement of comprehensive FecmEmWEmKREI T EA
income shows the following amounts relating to BEEM &%
leases:
2024 2023
Note HK$°000 HK$'000
iorza BEFT BT

Depreciation charge of FREEEZIFEER

right-of-use assets

Office premises BFiBYE 5,336 5,884
Car parking assets FEEE 196,383 126,119
8 201,719 132,003

Interest expense (included F]BBX (Gt A

in finance costs) B #5 Al A 10 77,158 63,937
Expense relating to short-  fSHATE E+ERAR X

term leases (included in GtAEEER)

administrative expenses) 8 82,996 72,419
160,154 136,356

The total cash outflow for leases in 2024 was 2024  HAEZIR& R 4EEE
HK$426,808,000 (2023: HK$213,457,000). A EM8426,808,0007C(2023 & B

#213,457,0007T) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

13(B) LEASES (continued)

(iii)

The Group’s leasing activities and how
these are accounted for

The Group leases various office premises and
car parking assets. Lease contracts are typically
made for periods of 1 to 20 years, but may have
extension options as described in (iv) below.
Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions. The lease agreements do not impose
any covenants.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-
lease components. The Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to the lease and
non-lease components based on their relative
stand-alone prices. However, for leases of real
estate for which the Group is a lessee, it has
elected not to separate lease and non-lease
components and instead accounts for these as a
single lease component.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions. The lease agreements do not impose
any covenants other than the security interests
in the leases assets that are held by the lessor.
Leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes.

The lease payments are discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate
cannot be readily determined, which is generally
the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s
incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate
that the individual lessee would have to pay to
borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of
similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment with similar terms, security
and conditions.

RE B HRRMEE

138) HHE #&)

(iii)

FEEZHEEEHREAK
AR

AEEERZERTENER
FEEE-HEGNBEZRAHE
12205 5T T X E(iv)IE
Ffrai o] 3892 5 AREHF o FH E & X
DEEHNEEGEEER L&
N EVMEFR R & 14 o FE & 17555 WL
BN AE R 3255 o

GHRESHEHERIFEERD -
FEBERBEAEHBUNER
RENIREBEIEEHEEKRIF
HEED A RAEEER
ABAEERMEMS  HEE
BEreNHEERIFEERD > M
ERZEFHEAKRFERE—ME

B&fme

HEFRRIDEER 2R L
6 F & AE AR B R R B AR ©
BRTHBEARAZHEEER
g A B 175 3 Bl 0
Rt -HEBEFTREERH
iR

HEMNREBRETRIOF
REITHIR - HEEREZA R

(FERBEBBWMIL) - AR
FAATR ARG B ERFZE > BE
BIABARREUKBRET
ERACAEEEBEREIN
BEE DUELURR B R R ARMF
BAFBETMEATNHN

EL
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13(B) LEASES (continued)

208

(iii)

The Group’s leasing activities and how
these are accounted for (continued)

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the
Group:

o where possible, uses recent third-party
financing received by the individual lessee
as a starting point, adjusted to reflect
changes in financing conditions since third
party financing was received,

o uses a build-up approach that starts with
a risk-free interest rate adjusted for credit
risk for leases held by the Group, which
does not have recent third party financing;
and

° makes adjustments specific to the lease,
e.g. term, country, currency and security.

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is
available to the individual lessee (through recent
financing or market data) which has a similar
payment profile to the lease, then the group
entities use that rate as a starting point to
determine the incremental borrowing rate.

The Group is exposed to potential future increases
in variable lease payments based on an index or
rate, which are not included in the lease liability
until they take effect. When adjustments to lease
payments based on an index or rate take effect,
the lease liability is reassessed and adjusted
against the right-of-use asset.

Shoucheng Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024
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(iii)

FEEZHEEEBREAK
AR &

HETHEERAER AER

. PRI BEB T > LUE Bl &
MALBHRENSE=7
REFAER (FHAE
URBBEZEES =7/
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. ERRMZE BEmEE
EFFARENEERR
CAHAMEE=FRE)
RBERRAER K
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

13(B) LEASES (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

The Group’s leasing activities and how
these are accounted for (continued)

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated
over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the
lease term on a straight-line basis. If the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option,
the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the
underlying asset’s useful life. While the Group
revalues its land and buildings that are presented
within property, plant and equipment, it has
chosen not to do so for the right-of-use buildings
held by the Group.

Payments associated with short-term leases of
equipment and vehicles and all leases of low-
value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis
as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases
are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less.
Low-value assets comprise IT equipment and small
items of office furniture.

Lease income from operating leases where the
Group is a lessor is recognised in income on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Extension and termination options

Extension and termination options are included
in a number of leases across the Group. These
are used to maximise operational flexibility
in terms of managing the assets used in the
Group’s operations. The majority of extension and
termination options held are exercisable only by
the Group and not by the respective lessor.

RE B HRRMEE

138) HHE #&)

(iii)

(iv)

FEEZHEEEHREAK
AR &

EREEE-—RBEENER
FHAEBERZREE  LERE
BETHE - HASEGERTE
TEBEEER AERAREE
RERMEENDEREHRET
WE-BFREEFHYE BB
RRBETH LM RIEFENT
BEEMG AEREEIHER
EREREETETEESMG.

RERSBERAAEURMME
BEEEEAENMERER XU
BHEREEREBEEPRIAMZ
M EAMEEBEA12BIUA
NS - BREESEGEENR
BB N B A E R o

HAEEAHEA BEERE
FISEEWRALEREERE
AR S U A FE SR

IEARRE R AR L1

AERTHZEEESESIE
IR LR - R F IR Z R
ERTEEAEREEMAE
ELrRERAEEE LT -
AR BB 70 SIE HA A Ko A& LE#E R T
AEBITE HBLBARNETT
fig e
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES KREME
2024 2023
Note HK$000 HK$'000
k=3 EEFT B F T
At fair value BAREE
Opening balance at 1 January 1B 1HZ 8945 5R 841,226 615,579
Addition (Note) wnE (W& 73,108 125,442
Changes in fair value recognised 4R & 2 W & 7k T FEER
in the consolidated statement  ZA A BEEH
of comprehensive income 33,763 116,530
Exchange differences BE 72 A= &8 (29,722) (16,325)
Closing balance at 31 December 7128318 Z Ak 4E 6k 918,375 841,226

Note:

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group has
acquired carpark building of HK$59,916,000 and other property of
HK$13,192,000 in Chongging and Beijing respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has acquired
carpark buildings of HK$95,625,000 and HK$29,817,000 in
Chongging and Beijing respectively.

Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income for investment properties:

et -

RELE2024F12B31BIEEE  EBEUBE
59,916,000t %513,192,0007c iR EEAIL
ROBWBEESKIEMNEMY -

MRELE2023F12B31BIEFEE  EBUBKE
95,625,000 7t A1 129,817,000t A EEMIL
RPN EERZ K

N
/!

MEREYERGEEE2ENRTRARE
28

7
o

=1

2024 2023

Note HK$°000 HK$000

Jiig=3 BT BT T

Rental income DAL ON 50,623 41,617
Direct operating expenses from HREE4SHESWAZYE

properties that generated ZEERKESRY

rental income (11,915) (10,742)
Gain from changes in fair value {REYEQNABEZH 2

of investment properties g 33,763 116,530

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no unprovided
contractual obligations for future repairs and
maintenance (2023: Nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Investment properties are held for long-term rental
yields and are not occupied by the Group. Investment
property is initially measured at cost, including related
transaction costs and where applicable borrowing costs.
Subsequently, they are carried at fair value. Changes in
fair values are presented as part of the “other gains,
net” in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income (Note 7).

Independent valuations of the Group’s investment
properties situated in Chongging, Chengdu, Beijing
and Foshan are performed by the external independent
valuers, Jones Lang LaSalle Inc. and Cushman &
Wakefield, to determine the fair value of the investment
properties as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Independent valuation of the Group’s investment
property situated in Hong Kong is performed by the
independent external valuer, AA Property Services
Limited, to determine the fair value of the investment
property as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

14

RE B HRRMEE

REWME @)

CEVEARBHSKEMFE
MIERAERER - RENEN S 2
A2 OIEERRX S MR AKREA
WEERE -BEE HEAANBET
FRoAAEEESHIEFAHMKE FEE
Z—BRAFAFREE2EB AT (M
7) e

REBEMRERE BLE LR FH LN
CEYERB LB EHEM PR
REERTETBILIGAE UBER
2024F K2023FE 12831 HEEYER
NABE

AEBURESBENREYERBE LI
L EMRE DY XEM B R AR ET
BB UEER2024F K20234F
12A3HEEMENAABE
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)
Fair value hierarchy

The following table analyses the investment properties
carried at fair value, by fair value hierarchy levels.

14

KREME @)
AREERR

TREBEETZDNRAAEETY

RZREYE-

Significant unobservable

inputs (Level 3)
JEREHIRMEZ
EEHEEA EZREKERHN)

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT

Recurring fair value measurements  &EHEMEAANBESE

Investment properties: wEYE

Carpark building — Beijing FHIFAE-IR 109,731 110,368
Carpark building — Chengdu FEHIZKIE— R 130,523 137,837
Carpark building — Chongging FEBAE-EE 347,717 269,783
Carpark building — Foshan FEIZRIE—FLL 311,688 316,838
Residential building - Hong Kong TEE-FE 5,800 6,400
Others Hth 12,916 -
918,375 841,226

The Group's policy is to recognise transfers into and
transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels as of the date
of the event or change in circumstances that causes the
transfer. There were no transfers between levels 1, 2 and
3 during the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B HRRMEE

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14 BREYE @
Fair value measurements using significant RRAEEBREEEEHRBAN
unobservable inputs (Level 3) [REEHE (B=ZREF)
Carpark Carpark Carpark Carpark  Residential
building- building- building- building- building-
Beijing Chengdu  Chongging Foshan ~ Hong Kong Others Total
BESAE- FEEAR- BERAE- BFESKE- fER-
bl & EE L &4 Eft @t
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
BETRT BETT BT Vil dvA BT BT BT
2024 2024
Opening balance at 12024518182
1 January 2024 LI 110,368 137,837 269,783 316,838 6,400 - 841,226
Acquisition HE - - 59,916 - - 13,192 73,108
Gains(losses) recognised in-+~ REMKEFERRZ
other gains, net W&/ (B8 3,061 (2,834) 28,740 5,396 (600) - 33,763
Exchange differences EREH (3,698) (4,480) (10,722) (10,546) - (276) (29,722)
Closing balance at 1202451283182
31 December 2024 HRAEER 109,731 130,523 347,117 311,688 5,800 12,916 918,375
Carpark Carpark Carpark Carpark Residential
building- building- building- building- building-
Beijing Chengdu Chongging Foshan Hong Kong Others Total
FESAE- FEEAE- BEHAE- FEZKE- -
bl Fi# B L ¥ ity Bt
HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
BEF BEFm EEFr BEFT BT BB BETn
2023 2023
Opening balance at R03F1818Z
1 January 2023 Pl 77,102 153,725 63,537 314,315 6,900 - 615,579
Acquisition HE 29,817 = 95,625 = = - 125,442
Gains(losses) recognised in+~ REMKGFERRZ
other gains, net k& / (&) 5,506 (11,501) 111,698 11,327 (500) = 116,530
Exchange differences ERER (2,057) (4,387) (1,077) (8,804) - - (16,325)
Closing balance at 1202351283182
31 December 2023 ARG 110,368 137,837 269,783 316,838 6,400 - 841,226
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)
Valuation processes of the Group

The Group’s investment properties were valued at 31
December 2024 by independent professionally qualified
valuers who hold a recognised relevant professional
qualification and have recent experience in the locations
and segments of the investment properties valued. For
all investment properties, their current use equates to
the highest and best use.

The Group’s senior management reviews the valuations
performed by the internal valuation team and
independent valuers for financial reporting purposes.

At each financial year end, the senior management:

o verifies all major inputs to the valuation;

o assesses property valuations movements when
compared to the prior year valuation; and

° holds discussions with the internal valuation team
and independent valuers.

Shoucheng Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)
Valuation techniques

The Group obtains valuations for its investment
properties at least annually.

At the end of each reporting period, the directors
update their assessment of the fair value of each
property, taking into account the most recent valuations.
The directors determine a property’s value within a range
of reasonable fair value estimates.

The best evidence of fair value is current prices in
an active market for similar properties. Where such
information is not available the directors consider
information from a variety of sources including:

o current prices in an active market for properties
of different nature or recent prices of similar
properties in less active markets, adjusted to
reflect those differences

o discounted cash flow projections based on reliable
estimates of future cash flows

o capitalised income projections based upon a
property’s estimated net market income, and a
capitalisation rate derived from an analysis of
market evidence.

There were no changes to the valuation techniques
during the year.

14

RE B HRRMEE

KREWME @
h (Rl

FEREVEF-ARHEREYER
SaEe.

RERSHR EFUEERRAH
HEEFREMNEVWENRIABEN
AL -BENGEQAABEMGSHE
WEEYXBEE

AREBEENRERESBELUNYE
EEBTHENERBRE - WREIRE
EMBEN EFNEEREEXEZHAE
NEK 81 :

. TRTENYER ERTHH
ERERIBLUIPEELED
EEMHPARER (AR
BR_EAtE RAFHERE)

. BIFARRRERER A FE G5
MmBEANFERERE

. RIEY) 2 4 5t H WA F B UL
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14 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14 KEWME B
Valuation techniques (continued) HERA (&

The following table analyses the level 3 investment TRELERMTOME=ZRRIKE
properties carried at fair value, by valuation techniques. ME RRANDBEIIR

Relationship of
Range of unobservable inputs
Property Fair value at 31 December Valuation technique(s) Unobservable inputs unobservable inputs to fair value
FBRIEEZ FBREE HE
nE R12ANAZAREE hERH HEBA FEBENEZ HREASE BARARBEZEA
2024 2023 2024 2023
HKS 000 HKS 000
EEFn EEFT

Carpark building - Befjing 109,731 110,368 Income approach Rental growth rate 2%-3% 2%-3%  The higher the rental
BERAE-IR (discounted cash flow) AEEXERE growth rate, the higher
Wik RRETE) the fair value
kRS
NEERE

Discounted rate 4.5%-5.5% 45%-5.5%  The higher the discount
ERE rate, the lower the fair
value
ERzEs
REEHUE

Carpark building - Chengdu 130,523 137,837 Income approach Rental growth rate 3% 3%  The higher the rental
EERAE-AH (discounted cash flow) AEEXERE growth rate, the higher
Wik RRETE) the fair value
ik L Edut
NEERE

Discounted rate 5.5% 5.5%  The higher the discount
ERE rate, the lower the fair
value
ERzEs
REEHUE

Carpark building - Chongging 347,117 269,783 Income approach Rental growth rate 2% 3%  The higher the rental
BERAE-EE (discounted cash flow) AEEXERE growth rate, the higher
Wik RRETE) the fair value
BEXHE
NEERE

Discounted rate 5.5% 5.5%  The higher the discount
ERE rate, the lower the fair
value
fi g
REEHUE
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14 BREYE @
Valuation techniques (continued) fh{EFRM 2
Relationship of
Range of unobservable inputs
Property Fair value at 31 December Valuation technique(s) Unobservable inputs unobservable inputs to fair value
FREBENEY FRBEEEZHE
L/ K12B31AZ AR EE R HHEEA FERENEZ HRUAEE BARRABEZER
2024 2023 2024 2023
HKS'000 HKS'000
Vol e Pl o
Carpark building - Foshan 311,688 316,838 Income approach Rental growth rate 3% 3%  The higher the rental
SEEAE-BU (discounted cash flow) k3 ESHIcES growth rate, the higher
Wit (ERRERE) the fair value
BeNREER.
NBEES
Discounted rate 6% 6%  The higher the discount
ERE rate, the lower the fair
value
EaES il
ApEEHUE
Residential building - 5,800 6,400 Income approach Term rate 2.6% 23%  The higher the term rate,
Hong Kong (term and reversionary method)  FELE the lower the fair value
ftEg-&4 Wit (BERESE) BtEEs
ApEEHE
Reversionary rate 3.1% 28%  The higher the
EHILE reversionary rate, the
lower the fair value
#RLZES
ABEEE
Others 12,916 - Market approach Comparable unit N/A NA  The higher the
Hft Bk selling price TER TER comparable unit
tENEE selling price, the

As at 31 December 2024, investment properties of
HK$53,920,000 (2023: Nil) have been pledged as

security for the Group’s borrowings. Please refer to Note
26 for details.

As at 31

December 2024, investment properties

of HK$807,702,000 (2023: HK$327,612,000) are

securitised for quasi-REITs structured asset securitisation

products. Please refer to Note 27 for details.

higher the fair value
IHENEEER AR
EEEE

HZE2024F 12831 R EYEESL
781853,920,0007T (20234 &) #HHE
HAREBERNER EBEAEALHE

Mi5E26

HE2024F12831H KREYWE
HBH#E807,702,00075C (20234
327,612,000)B# 55 5516 & 4BREITs 45
BEEERSCER -FEF2HEMNW

5527
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15 OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS 15 HMIERBEE
2024 2023
Note HK$'000 HK$000
et EEFT BT T
Intangible assets mEEE a 325,439 275,490
Goodwill mE b 130,290 133,959
Others EHith 79,080 120,839
534,809 530,288
Note: izt -
(a) The carrying amounts of intangible assets as at 31 (a) EREEZREEBENR20245F M
December 2024 and 2023 are as follows: 2023F12831HW T :
Carpark Funds
operating  Concession management
rights rights contracts Software
(Note (i) (Note (i) (Note (iii) (Note (iv) Total
FEGLEHE i ESEEAN B
(Hrzta) (&) (i) (W&t av) ot
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
BT BT BT BT BETFT
At 1 January 2023 120231818
Cost R 66,685 124,151 28,947 22,422 242,205
Accumulated amortisation Rt (40,653) (12,430) (20,861) (1,287) (75,231)
Net carrying amount REFE 26,032 11,721 8,086 21,135 166,974
Opening net carrying amount FREZE 26,032 111,721 8,086 21,135 166,974
Addition RE - = = 7,144 7,144
Transfer B = 137,182 = = 137,182
Amortisation charged BHER (4,227) (11,021) (3,060) (3,576) (21,884)
Exchange differences ERER (750) (12,091) (475) (610) (13,926)
At 31 December 2023 72023%128318 21,055 225,791 4,551 24,093 275,490

218
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RE B HRRMEE

OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS (continued) 15 HMIEREIEE (&
Note: (continued) Kiat - (48
(a) The carrying amounts of intangible assets as at 31 (a) BEEEZKREREMBENR2024FM
December 2024 and 2023 are as follows: (continued) 2023F12831BWTF : (&)
Carpark Funds
operating  Concession management
rights rights contracts Software
(Note (i) (Note (i) (Note (i) (Note (iv) Total
EHBLER i ESEEAHN it
(Hz0)) (W&t (i) (W) (Hizt(v) &t
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
BEFT BEFT BEFT BEFT BEFT
At 31 December 2023 12023%E12A31H
Cost PR 64,800 248,929 28,128 28,932 370,789
Accumulated amortisation Rt (43,745) (23,138) (23,577) (4,839) (95,299)
Net carrying amount REFE 21,055 225,791 4,551 24,093 275,490
Opening net carrying amount ENREFE 21,055 225,791 4,551 24,093 275,490
Addition RE 12,983 - - 15,051 28,034
Transfer 3 - 57,557 - = 57,557
Amortisation charged BIHER (5,489) (15,635) (2,443) (4,702) (28,269)
Exchange differences ERES (631) (5,917) (64) (761) (7,373)
At 31 December 2024 #20245%12H318 27,918 261,796 2,044 33,681 325,439
At 31 December 2024 120245128318
Cost M 77,152 300,569 28,064 43,222 449,007
Accumulated amortisation Rty (49,234) (38,773) (26,020) (9,541) (123,568)
Net carrying amount IREFE 27,918 261,796 2,044 33,681 325,439

Amortisation of intangible assets is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate their costs to their residual
values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Concession rights 10 to 30 years
Carpark operating rights 5 to 10 years
Funds management contracts 3 to 10 years
Software 3 to 10 years
See Note 36.7 for the other accounting policies relevant
to intangible assets, and Note 36.8 for the Group’s policy

regarding impairments.

BRUEEZAENERERENE
Uk El AN #ER MG AR FH
BORIEREE ¥ BN T -

R 10ZE304F
FEHIBLER 5ZE104
HEE2BEAY 3E106E
;i 3E104

ERETEENEMG A BERNFS
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STECRBEF B 8 I 5E36.8

HERZRARAT 2024FFR 219



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE BRI

mwh 3

15

220

OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS (continued) 15

Note: (continued)

(i) Carpark operating rights represent the carpark
operating rights held by E Park Investment
Management Co., Ltd. ("E Park"”), Urban Parking
Beijing Limited (“Urban Parking”) and their
subsidiaries. The rights entitled the Group to
operate a number of carparks in the PRC for 3 years
to 10 years over which the cost will be amortised.

(i) Concession rights represents right to operate a
number of carparks in the PRC for 5 to 30 years
over which the cost will be amortised pursuant to
the service concession agreements.

HERBEE (&

Miat : (#8)

)

(if)

FEBKERIEREE (I8
RREEEARAR) (TEE
BH) B OR EHEREE
RAB (TEHEE) REEN
MEARFAENFEEREE
B-AEEERETELES
BEEB3IFE10F > HEF
HIH LA o

BHEEETELEZ @R
BHISSE30EMERN - FEUH
BRBRERBFFEEH =
HIH LA ©

As at 31 December

®12831H
Region: the PRC HE : FE 2024 2023
Total numbers of projects THE @8 22 23
Total numbers of carpark lots EREEg 7,755 6,501
Minimum service concession periods BEFRR/NE 5 5
Maximum service concession periods — EEERRAE 30 30
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15 OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS (continued)

Note: (continued)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(continued)

The Group entered into service concession
arrangements with local governments or parties in
respect of its carpark projects in different locations
in Mainland China on a Build-Operate-Transfer
("BOT") basis. Under the service concession
arrangements, the Group was responsible
for construction of the carpark assets in the
construction phase and operated these carpark
assets. The Group generated cash flows over the
operation phase of these arrangements. During
the construction phase of BOT projects, the Group
recognised construction service revenue at fair
value based on construction costs plus a mark-
up margin. During the operation phase of BOT
projects, the Group operates and maintain the
carpark assets at a specified level of serviceability
on behalf of the grantors for periods ranging from
5 to 30 years (2023: 5 to 30 years) (the “Service
Concession Periods”). The carpark assets will be
transferred to the respective grantors at the end of
the Service Concession Periods for BOT. The BOT
arrangements do not contain renewal options or
any termination rights to any of the contracting
parties.

Funds management contracts represent the
contracts entered by a subsidiary of the Group,
Shoucheng Rongshi (Beijing) Fund Management
Company Limited and its subsidiaries with
other parties. The contracts granted the Group
to manage the funds held on behalf of other
contracting parties and receive management
income as return for 1 year to 10 years over which
the cost will be amortised.

Software consists of capitalised development costs
being an internally generated intangible asset.

RE B HRRMEE

15 EHthIER#BEE (2

Miat : (#8)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

)

AEEBREETERM AR
HMEWNEEIZEE > MBS
EE EEA A S BADR
BHEI RS E ek o
RERB R CE R
rEETRERRAERE
FHIBEE IKEZEFE
GEE- AEBEEETH
NEEMEREETRSE R
ERTRIEENERMEER &
EEREERMAIN LR
MBRAABEBRIERR
BURA - FERRFB 5T 1BE
NEEMRE AEEREER
BYZS IO A0 A A BB A A E
BB ERRIE WA c RS
R EEENBESME &
EBRNAREFT AESEEI0E
(2023%F : 5 E304) (ThR
BT A EEIBEEE
EMEET TR RAKF
FHISEERNIRES TR
ARSI AN EE
FHBEMA c HFEHET
BEEABO A NEREE
RE S A A% IEHE o

ESEEGNELER N
BAEERERMA (R EEE
EERABDKREKE AT A
HMALSIUZEN -ZER
MERBEAEBEENARAEM
SMARAZESRIERE
BWAERLER ZE1EE
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NARREENETLEE-
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OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS (continued)

Note: (continued)

(b)

Goodwill impairment assessment

For the purpose of impairment test of goodwill, goodwill
is allocated to groups of CGU(s). Such groups of CGU(s)
represent the lowest level within the Group for which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management purpose.
The Group has only one group of CGU(s) according to its
business operation during the year ended 31 December
2024 and 2023. Impairment review on the goodwill of
the Group has been conducted by the management as at
31 December 2024 and 2023. The Group conducted the
annual impairment test on goodwill for its group of CGU(s)
by comparing its recoverable amount to its carrying amount
as at 31 December 2024 and 2023. The recoverable amount
of the group of CGU(s) is determined based on the higher
amount of value-in-use calculations and fair value less costs
of disposal.

At 31 December 2024, the Group completed goodwill
impairment test on its group of CGU(s). The recoverable
amount of the goodwill was determined based on value-
in-use calculations. The value-in-use calculations used cash
flow projection based on financial budgets approved by
management covering a five-year period and a pre-tax
discount rate of 12% (2023: 12%). Cash flows beyond the
5-year period are extrapolated using a steady 5% (2023:
5%) growth rate of this group of CGU(s).

The balance mainly represents prepayment of expenditures
in related to certain carpark operating projects.

Shoucheng Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B HRRMEE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 16 RERNBSZEMTIA

2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$000
BT T BEF T
Financial assets ERMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost BB AARZ ERIEE
(including cash and (BEREMRIBEEEY)
cash equivalents) 4,973,765 4,556,596
Financial assets at FVOCI BraBEFAREMEZAENE
ZEMEE 3,043,382 2,365,064
Financial assets at FVPL BARNBESFABG
ZEMEE 1,013,128 2,262,985
Financial liabilities Eotei =R
Financial liabilities at amortised cost IZ# RN AAEZ S HEES 3,885,229 2,726,549
Financial liabilities at FVPL BARBEFABG
ZEMEE 68,231 384,942
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PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31

December 2024 and 2023:

Place of
incorporation or
registration/

Issued and fully

17

FEMBATE

TEREH 2024 F2023F12831H

ZEEMBAF :

Proportion of issued share/registered

Name of subsidiary operations paid share capital held by the Company Principal activities
Rz FRAARFFEETRG/
HWEARAHE REm BEITRBAR RS RERLA TEEH
Directly Indirectly
B H%
2024 2023 2024 2023
% % % %

Shoucheng Management Hong Kong HK$100,000 100 100 = = Provision of
Company Limited &% Ordinary shares management services

BRERERAT 71100,0007c BEHK REEERS

Shoucheng Services Limited Hong Kong HK$2 Ordinary shares 100 100 - - Provision of

BRRBERAT 54 AT EER management services

REERRS
Shouhe Limited Hong Kong HK$5,000,000 - - 100 100 Provision of asset
BABERAR B Ordinary shares management services
715,000,000 % B REBEEERY

Shoucheng Rongshi (Beijing) Fund The PRC RMB239,500,000 - - 100 100 Provision of private fund
Management Company Limited* FE A& 1239,500,0007 management services
(Note () REMEELERRE

BEME (IR E2ERERAH

W)

Beijing West Fund Management Co., Ltd. ~ The PRC RMB90,000,000 - - 100 100 Provision of equity
("Beijing West")* (Note (1)) ol A& 90,000,0007 investment

TRRAAAERERSER REtRERE
BlRag (TR (i)

Beijing Shoucheng Jishi Investment The PRC RMB105,049,935 - - 100 100 Provision of investment
Limited* (Note (})) FE AR #105,049,9357% management services

FTRERERRERRAR (1) RELEEERY

E Park Investment Management The PRC RMB1,182,155,326 - - 100 100 Carpark operation
Co., Ltd. (Note (i) e AR1,182,155,3267 BHpLE

BRE (IR REERERAT

(Hit)

Beijing Shouzhong Car Parking The PRC RMB220,000,000 - - 99 99 Carpark operation
Management Company Limited FE AR#220,000,0007 PEBLE
("Shouzhong Parking")* (Note ()

TRETREERERAT
(EwfeE) (#HZ0)

Beijing Lu Tong Shun Jie Car Parking The PRC RMB20,851,500 - = 80 80 Carpark operation
Management Company Limited* HE AE#20,851,5007¢ FERRE

(Note ()
TRREREEERER
BIRAR ()
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B HRRMEE

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31
December 2024 and 2023: (continued)

Place of
incorporation or
registration/

Issued and fully

17

FEMBAR (&

TEREHH2024FF2023F12831H

ZEBWBAR : (&)

Proportion of issued share/registered

Name of subsidiary operations paid share capital held by the Company Principal activities
R ssER/ FAAREEETRG/
WEAEAHE LR BEATREHR KA ERERLH TEEH
Directly Indirectly
EE fitk
2024 2023 2024 2023
% % % %

E Park (Chengdu) Car Park Management ~ The PRC RMB33,000,000 - - 100 100 Carpark operation
Company Limited* (Note () FE AR #33,000,0007 FEBLYE

BRE () FEHERERAT

)

Nanjing Qinhuaizhuyi Car Parking The PRC RMB4,000,000 - - 100 100 Carpark operation
Management Company Limited* FE AR #4,000,0007 FHEBLE
(Note (1)

AREERERFEEEERAT

)

Nanjing Shouginzhuyi Car Parking The PRC RMB44,148,000 = = 9 98 Carpark operation
Management Company Limited* ol AR %44,148,0007 FHFTE
(Note (1))

BRERLAEFEEERRAT

)

Beijing Shouyuan Xinneng Investment The PRC RMB30,000,000 - - 100 100 Provision of equity
Management Company Limited* FE AR %30,000,0007 investment
(Note () RiERE

FTREHMEREERERAR

)

Beijing Shouzhong Jingtai Transportation ~ The PRC RMB300,000,000 = = 80 80 Carpark operation
Car Parking Management Company ol AR 300,000,000 FHFTE
Limited* (Note (i)

FTREPEERBEREER
BRAR (M)

Yibo (Beijing) Private Equity Fund The PRC RMB50,000,000 - - 100 100 Provision of private fund
Management Co., Limited* ol AR #50,000,0007 management services
(Note () REMSESERRE

B OR AEESERERAT

()

Chengdu Shougang Silk Road Equity The PRC RMB10,000,000 = = 70 70 Provision of private fund

Investment Fund Management e AR #10,000,00075 management services

Co., Ltd. (Note (i)
RFEBGRREREASER
BRAR (W)

RELEESEERB
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PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Notes:
(i) Limited company established in the PRC

* For identification purposes only

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affect
the results or assets of the Group. To give details of
other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors,
result in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries have non-controlling interests
that are material to the Group.

Shoucheng Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

18(A) INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

Set out below are the associates of the Group as at 31
December 2024 which, in the opinion of the directors,
are immaterial to the Group. The entities listed below
have share capital consisting solely of ordinary shares,
which are held directly by the Group. The country of
incorporation or registration is also their principal place
of business, and the proportion of ownership interest is
the same as the proportion of voting rights held.

All of these associates are accounted for using the equity
method in these consolidated financial statements.

The carrying amounts of investments in associates as at
31 December 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

RE B HRRMEE

18(A) REHERTZKRE

DUREA A EEPR2024F1283182
MENE EERAZRELBHEAE
EMmEBIEERTARQABZRAE
HEBRAR BRAEEEEFR
ZERBZEMBRILNFMERITA
WEZTEESEMB BFMBEE#R
Z LRI BRI B 2 LEBIAR R o

REEEMBREPHABELESHER

B AABHEREm AR

BEABZRERBENR2024F
2023F12831HWMF :

Proportion of issued

Place of Principal place Measurement shares/registered capital
Name of entity incorporation of operation  method held by the Group Carrying amount Principal activities
EARFABETRE/
R SMEIhE FEERME HERE EMERZ LA REE TEEH
2024 2023 2024 2023
HKS$'000 HK$000
BT EEFT
Immaterial associates below
NTATEAMERT
Beijing Vstartup Investment and ~ The PRC The PRC Equity method 22.57% 22.57% 75,492 94,641  Leasing of shared
Development Co., Ltd.* FE HE b workplace for startups
TREEAHEEERERAF REEAARMEERR
YNl
Beijing West Business Factoring ~ The PRC The PRC Equity method 13.98% 13.98% 20,632 20,928  Provision of trade
Company Limited* (Note (a)) % El HE R financing
REEEREFRAR (W) REBZRE
Beijing Bayi Space LCD The PRC The PRC Equity method - 2.98% - 117,349 Produces and sells liquid
Technology Co., Ltd.* HE FE ik crystal materials
(Note (a) and (b)) LEMHFERSME
jt‘?/\ ERENFEH
E’&T (Wit kML)
Other immaterial associates 6,926 8,446
HEtFEAKERT
103,050 241,364
* For identification purposes only e 1B1RH 5
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18(A) INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Note (a): Management has assessed the level of influence that the

Group has on these investments and determined that it
has significant influence even though the shareholding
is below 20% because of board representation.
Consequently, these investments have been classified as
associates.

Note (b): During the year ended 31 December 2024, management

()

(i)

has disposed of these investments at a cash consideration
of HK$140,211,000, resulting in a gain on disposal of
investment in an associate amounted to HK$24,245,000
recognised as “other gains, net” in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

Commitments and contingent liabilities
in respect of associates

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not
have any material commitments and contingent
liabilities in respect of associates (2023: Nil).

Summarised financial information of

material associates
Individually immaterial associates

In addition to the interests in associate disclosed
above, the Group also has interests in a number
of individually immaterial associates that are
accounted for using the equity method.

18(A) MREHERBZIRE (#&)

Mfet(a):

mfE®b):

0]

(@ii)

EEEEHGAERNEEREN
TENKE UREBRERFREEAE
R20% EEREEFTERALKR
FERHELEREARERTE-
It BERERDBRBERE -

EEHZE2024512B31HNEERN
BIEEMNRESHEHE140,211,000
TEETEERE KMERT
EEHEATAKREN KD B
24,245,00070  ZW A E AR S 2 E K
R PR A T H AU =B EE ©

BERBE ATRAER A
afE

B IEFE2024F12A31HIEFE
B> AEBELRE T MEENE
ERNAEANEKERAREE
(20234 : 4#)

FEBEQAMBENRE

1G5 FFEABE L E]

PR EXIREBRBE QB EmI
AEBTHEREETEBIFEKR
MEABNED  UHEDEA
AR

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT
Aggregate carrying amount of BERIEERBE QB
individually immaterial associates  BREI{E 4248 103,050 241,364
Aggregate amounts of AEBEEUTEIEN
the Group's share of 4EEE .
Loss for the year FEBE (14,194) (31,502)
Other comprehensive loss Hihn2mEia (5,275) (1,304)
Total comprehensive loss 2HEEBLRE (19,469) (32,806)
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18(B) INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 18B) MEEARZIKE

2024 2023

HK$'000 HK$'000

BMEFT HMEF T

Opening balance at 1 January 1B 1BV HA%IERER 560,605 650,204

Share of losses B(hE51E (7,316) (31,381)
Capital reductions BE (13,638) (38,234)
Exchange differences bE 7 = %A (18,024) (19,984)
Closing balance as 31 December HZE12831HMERREREE 521,627 560,605

Set out below are the joint ventures of the Group
as at 31 December 2024 and 2023. The country of
incorporation or registration is also their principal place
of business, and the proportion of ownership interest is
the same as the proportion of voting rights held.

DUTF 5 AEE 20244 2023412
B31HZAE AR ZERABMILI
HMBERINAREZ T ESEMMEL
BFffEE#m LA ERFRER
EEBIARIE) o

Proportion of issued

Place of Principal place  Measurement shares/registered
Name of entity incorporation  of operation  method capital held by the Group Carrying amount Principal activities
$§EﬁﬁE%ﬁ&ﬁ/
AGES AN TELENMYE  HESE AREFZ LA kmEfE TERE
2024 2023 2024 2023
HKS'000 HK$ 000
BT BB
Guangzhou Shouzhong Wanwu The PRC The PRC Equity method 70% 70% 373,588 403,696  Carpark management services
Corporate Management Limited 5] HE 3 FEREERS
Partnership*® (Note (a))
BENERENERERABER!
(BERE®) W)
Other immaterial joint ventures The PRC The PRC Equity method 148,039 156,909
HitFEARE AT HE HE 5
521,627 560,605
e Limited company established in the PRC g RABERILZEBREEAR
e For identification purposes only e EHE 5

Note (a):

As at 31 December 2024, the Group indirectly owns
approximately 70% (2023: 70%) equity interest in
Guangzhou Shouzhong Wanwu Corporate Management
Limited Partnership* (“Guangzhou Shouzhong
Wanwu”). Pursuant to certain terms and conditions
given in the equity owners’ agreement, the financial and
operating policies of Guangzhou Shouzhong Wanwu
require approval from all equity owners. Guangzhou
Shouzhong Wanwu is jointly controlled by the Group and
another equity owner and, as such, it is accounted for as
a joint venture of the Group as at 31 December 2024 and
2023.

For identification purposes only

Htat(a): 72024FE128310 > ZEEBEE
EENETBEY XS EABLE
(ER&aR) (BEMEFEYW) O
70% (2023 1 70%)RRHE o iR IR HE 2
BANBEE B TR BEAGT B
METENZHHEREERRAL
SREEEHEA AR A R2024EM
2023128310 EMNEPEDH
FEERS—LEDRERALRE

fl AR BEBEERZ —REER
ae

* Eta# 5
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18(B) INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES
(continued)

230

(i)

(i)

Commitments and contingent liabilities
in respect of joint ventures

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have
any material commitments or contingent liabilities
in respect of joint ventures (2023: Nil).

Summarised financial information of
material joint venture

This table below provide summarised financial
information for these joint venture that is
material to the Group. The information disclosed
reflects the amount presented in the financial
statements of the relevant joint venture and
the Group’s share of those amounts. They have
been amended to reflect adjustments made by
the Company when using the equity method,
including fair value adjustments and modifications
in accordance with HKFRSs.

Shoucheng Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024

188) &

0]

@ii)

ERBZKRE (@)

ERS
afE

B IEFE2024F12A31HIEFE
EAERBLRBEXTEHERE
ENBEANAERARERE
(20234 :

ERF N EEREAR

#) o

FEREQAMBENRE

TERERDZMBENHRE
FHWT - THEMKETEE
TEMBHRRPHIFBERRTU
REBGEENDE BT RBRA
BITE RS ARG
BoHMEMCEET TRE
BREANEERBNRE(ER
MBS ER) EITHENR -



18(B) INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 18B) &

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

(i)

RE B HRRMEE

BARZIRE (@)

Summarised financial information of (i) FESEQTUBERHE
material joint venture (continued) (#2)
Guangzhou Shouzhong Wanwu Corporate EBEMNEFREYLEEESEBLE
Management Limited Partnership* (BRER)
2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$000
BT BT T
Current assets MENEE 1,054 6,724
Non-current assets EMBEE 563,962 603,593
Current liabilities mEBaE 31,319 34,185
Revenue WA 6,634 29,452
Loss for the year FEBE (14,028) (3,133)
Other comprehensive loss FEEMEEEE
for the year (18,481) (17,935)
Total comprehensive loss FEZHEEGRRE
for the year (32,509) (21,068)
Capital reduction HE (10,502) (16,370)
The above amounts of assets B EREESEE
and liabilities include the BEATRA
following:
Cash and cash equivalents REeERBEEEY 1,054 6,724
Current financial liabilities mEEMEE (FEEEN
(excluding trade and other B 0 Rz ELfth FE (< 718
payables and provisions) K3 48) - 1,143
e For identification purposes only e 1B1RH 5
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial LB ER S E RS
information to the carrying amount of the interest WMERABBNEERNE 2T
in the joint venture recognised in the consolidated REEZHER:
financial statements:
2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$000
EEFT BT T
Net assets of Guangzhou ENEREYEEE
Shouzhong Wanwu 533,697 576,132
Proportion of the Group's rEBRENETEYZ
ownership interest in B R m LA
Guangzhou Shouzhong Wanwu 70% 70%
Carrying amount of the Group's ZHAEBEREMNETEY
interest in Guangzhou w2 REE
Shouzhong Wanwu 373,588 403,696
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AR e B HRR MR

18(B) INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 18B8) MEEATZKRE B
(continued)
(iii) Individually immaterial joint ventures (i) ERFEEAREZEAT
In addition to the interest in joint venture R EXEENGE LB EmIN
disclosed above, the Group also has interests in a KEBTEAES TMERIEEK
number of individually immaterial joint ventures BERBINERE  UEEEA
that are accounted for using the equity method. IRe

2024 2023
HK$000 HK$'000
ABEFT BT
Aggregate carrying amount BRIFEFEEREE QTN
of individually immaterial REEEEE
joint ventures 148,039 156,909
Aggregate amounts of NEBEBEUTEZIEN
the Group's share of: 4eEE -
Profit/(loss) for the year EEWZ (BE) 2,504 (28,248)
Other comprehensive loss Hiér 5 k18 (5,088) (7,417)
Total comprehensive loss EEEE4E%E (2,584) (35,665)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B HRRMEE

INVESTMENTS 19 KE
2024 2023
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Hiat BMEFT HMEF T
Financial assets at FVPL BARBEFAER
ZEMEBE
Investment funds KEES a 933,209 1,031,195
Other securities Hith:E 5 b - 1,068,371
Wealth management products 2B E & c - 14,799
Equity securities NS d 79,919 140,227
Foreign currency forward ShFE = HA - 8,393
Financial assets at FVOCI BAnRBESAEMZE
WEZ EREE
Other securities HhzE s e 1,098,776 133,803
Equity securities NS f 1,944,606 2,231,261
4,056,510 4,628,049
Less: non-current portion A IERENEL 3 (2,533,122) (3,454,413)
1,523,388 1,173,636

The Group classifies the following financial assets at

financial assets at FVPL:

o debt investments that do not qualify for

measurement at either amortised cost or FVOCI;

o equity investments that are held for trading, and

o equity investments for which the entity has not

elected to recognise fair value gains and losses

through OCI.

FEERUTEREEDERBAR

BEESFABOZEMEE

. AT EURBERN A BTN
ARnBEFAHMEZERZZ

BBERE;

. RERZZREKRE ; &

. AREERBBEMEE WG
BREAREBEN D REIEIR

TRE -
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INVESTMENTS (continued)

Note (a):

Note (b):

Note (c):

The unlisted investment funds amounted to
HK$925,497,000 (2023: HK$941,410,000), with the
principal activities of the Company’s subsidiaries being
the holding of such investment funds, and the fair value
changes are included in “revenue” in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income (Note 5). The
remaining unlisted investment funds amounted to
HK$7,712,000 (2023: HK$89,785,000), and their fair
value changes are included in “other gains, net” in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income (Note
7). For the year ended 31 December 2024, the proceeds
of HK$2,877,000 from disposal of these investments due
included in “Cash flows from operating activities” in the
consolidated statement of cash flows.

It represents investment in listed securities in the PRC
of HK$1,068,371,000 as at 31 December 2023. The
fair value (loss)/gain relating to the investments are
included in “revenue” in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income (Note 5). For the year ended
31 December 2023, the purchase of HK$333,936,000
of these investments are included in “Cash flows from
operating activities” in the consolidated statement of
cash flows. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the
proceeds of HK$119,514,000 from disposal of these
investments due included in “Cash flows from operating

activities” in the consolidated statement of cash flows.

As at 31 December 2023, it represents the wealth
management products issued by banks with interests at
floating rates ranging from 1.25% to 2.45% per annum
and will mature within one year. The fair value gain
relating to the investments are included in “other gains,

"

net” in the consolidated statement of comprehensive

income (Note 7).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE B HRRMEE

19 INVESTMENTS (continued) 19 RKE#@

Note (d): It represents investment in listed equity investments in HizE(d): H#EMR2024F 128318 B
Hong Kong of HK$79,919,000 (2023: HK$140,227,000) 79,919,00075(2023 @ A&
as at 31 December 2024. The fair value gain/(loss) relating 140,227,0007T) B LR & o
to the investments are included in “revenue” in the BzREEANAAEERT, (B
consolidated statement of comprehensive income (Note 1B stAGREWRERB TR (&
5). 5) o

Note (e): As at 31 December 2024, these investments comprise Kizte): BZE2024F12B31B  ZERE
listed securities in PRC, Hong Kong and Singapore of BIE B 958,141,000 B
HK$958,141,000, HK$56,518,000 and HK$62,915,000 56,518,0007C & A& #62,915,0007T
and other unlisted securities of HK$21,202,000, SRR AR FE RN T
respectively (2023: investments comprise listed securities HEH KR E121,202,0000 E i IE
in Hong Kong and Singapore of HK$55,641,000 and EHES (2023 ZEREAESR
HK$78,162,000, respectively). For the year ended 31 #%55,641,0007C K% B 178,162,000
December 2024, the purchase of HK$162,505,000 of TC 73 BB AR B A it e AN 3R T B
these investments are included in “Cash flows from BH) cN2024F12B31HIEEFE
investing activities” in the consolidated statement of cash BEZEREBM162,505,0007T5t
flows. AGREREREXRNREEZHZIR

EME cHE20245F12H31HIEE
EEo
During the year, the following losses were recognised in FER U TEEsFAREMEEREM
other comprehensive income and profit or loss: B
2024 2023
Note HK$°000 HK$'000
By =t EIEFT BEF T
Loss recognised in other B EAth 2 U hE R
comprehensive income Z 18 (24,693) (13,622)
Dividends from the financial SFABmAPEMBAZ
assets at FVOCI recognised in kEERANBEA
profit or loss in other income Hthe2mWlmz
EMEEZRER 6 8,588 8,989
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INVESTMENTS (continued) 19 KBE @
B E2024F12B31H ZERE
BIEABN1,944,606,000 0 F
BLEHHES (20235 @ B

Note (f). As at 31 December 2024, these investments K1)
comprise listed equity investments in Hong Kong of
HK$1,944,606,000 (2023: HK$2,231,261,000).

During the year, the following gains were recognised in

2,231,261,0007T) ©

FA o U s 5E A B th 2 U S A

other comprehensive income and profit or loss: B
2024 2023
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Viok:d BT T BT T
(Loss)/gain recognised in other REMZ2mE KR m R
comprehensive income Z(E518), & (286,655) 291,498
Dividends from the financial assets 5t A38@m P EMUKA Z
at FVOCI recognised in profit or 2R B %A REESTA
loss in other income HtheEWEzcmEE
ZHRE 6 209,181 319,384
Note (g): Information about the methods and assumption used in Kiatg) ERBEERAABEFABRZE
determining fair values of the financial assets at FVPL and MEENMRAABESAZMEZE
FVOCI are provided in note 3.3. Wz EMEENF EZNBENE
B M sE3. 338 fft o
Note (h): The investments above are dominated in HK$, RMB and Kizth): BB LB AR T

Singapore dollar.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B HRRMEE

TRADE RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS, 20 FMEWERHKETEMTIE-RERE
DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES fth FE W FRIE
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
EIEFT BT T
Trade receivables FE W BR =X
— Third parties —-%=5 132,706 87,491
— Related parties —REEE AL 72,609 118,380
Trade receivables FE U BR =X 205,315 205,871
Less: Provision for impairment losses & : BB 185 (2,223) (2,223)
203,092 203,648
Prepayments, deposits and FEMRE-RER
other receivables H {th FE UK =R 1B
Prepayments and deposits FENMIEBEREE 259,055 196,140
Value added tax recoverable EIQEIbE 76,650 67,653
Other receivables HhE U EIE 216,360 163,050
Amounts due from related companies & REIHEA T 2 FIE 968 86
553,033 426,929
Less: Non-current portion o IERENEL
Prepayments and deposits FANRIEBEREE (156,994) (173,854)
Current portion mENER 396,039 253,075

The credit terms of trade receivables are normally 30
to 180 days as at 31 December 2024 (2023: 30 to
180 days). The following is an aging analysis of trade

receivables net of provision for impairment losses based

on the invoice date at the end of the year, which were

R2024F 128310 BWERAHZEE
H—FRA30FE180H (20234 : 30%F
180H)  FEWER T (ORI EEHE) 1°
FREREBEEZHH BEEMEXE
2R BHEER) 25 2 R DU

similar to the respective revenue recognition dates: S s
2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
EEFT EBIEF T
Within 60 days 60H A 50,391 79,188
61-90 days 61E90H 8,073 27,787
91-180 days 91E180H 29,560 21,248
Over 180 days iBiB180H 115,068 75,425
203,092 203,648
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TRADE RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS,
DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(continued)

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
goods sold or services performed in the ordinary course
of business. Trade receivables are recognised initially
at the amount of consideration that is unconditional
unless they contain significant financing components,
when they are recognised at fair value. The Group holds
the trade receivables with the objective to collect the
contractual cash flows and therefore measures them
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. See Note 36.9(d) for a description of
the Group’s impairment policies.

Due to the short-term nature of the trade receivables,
their carrying amounts are considered to be the same as
their fair value.

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to
measure expected credit losses which uses a lifetime
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables.
Movement in the provision for impairment losses for
trade receivables is as follow:

20

FEUWARTM R FERRIE - & K
Hith R RIE (&

FEUWERARTLIEM A EBN EE X7
BrRmEmMAFMRHEZRBEERE
B 2RI EWIR R & = E|E A
BEHEER RIFECTEAMER
DB ARBERR AEEFHERE
YRR BN ARBRANRERE
IEIRA BRI AR BB ARG E
ERAEERERRNRA  F2HE
F35E36.9(d)°

AR BWERREBIEATE  HREA
BERRAEEQAEERR-

FAEEEAEBYBREERFIRG
EHEtERMEERR RATERE
WERRERRETRMEGREE B
R ZREBRRER YU T

2024 2023

HK$'000 HK$000

BMEFT EMEF T

At 1 January R1A1H 2,223 15,610
Written-off b=t - (24,666)
Provision of impairment loss BRI - 11,279
At 31 December R12831H 2,223 2,223

Other receivables are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable within one year from the end of the reporting
period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B HRRMEE

BANK BALANCES AND CASH AND TIME 21
DEPOSITS AT BANKS

IRITRRRIREURIRITELF

=
TA

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
EIEFT BT T
Cash at bank and in hand RITERRIRE 2,463,100 1,708,321
Time deposits at banks RTTEHER 1,931,264 2,305,598
4,394,364 4,013,919

Less: time deposits with maturity B R =E8 N EIH
over three months ZEHER (1,626,752) (1,751,346)
Less: restricted deposits B RPRBIFR (145,885) =
2,621,727 2,262,573
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
EIEFT B F T

Bank balances and cash and time RITHEFRIRE UK
deposits at banks are denominated  $R{TEHITER
in the following currencies: UTHEEHE :

RMB AR 2,215,422 1,708,609
HK$ B 422,376 885,147
us$ ETT 1,756,566 1,420,163
4,394,364 4,013,919

The time deposits at banks carry interest at market rates
which range from 1.05% to 5.75% (2023: 1.30% to
5.75%) per annum.

RTEMERMAFE

» B F1.05%

Z5.75% (20234 : 1.30%%E5.75%)

ZHGERRFE-
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SHARE CAPITAL

22

g

Number of share

Share capital

iR & E & s
‘000 HK$°000
Fie BT T
Ordinary shares issued and BERTREHEEEK
fully paid:
At 1 January 2023 12023F181H 7,275,935 12,546,847
Share repurchase R 17 Bl B8 (158,762) =
Issue of new shares on R2023F1 B3 1 HEEERSD
31 January 2023 (Note (a)) BITHVRTER D (B 3Ea)) 252,802 448,000
At 31 December 2023 and 72023128318
1 January 2024 2024F1H1H 7,369,975 12,994,847
Share repurchase (Note (b)) R1n I8 (B73Eb)) (83,960) -
At 31 December 2024 122024512831H 7,286,015 12,994,847
Note (a):  On 31 January 2023, the Company placed a total of Hia#(a): $2023F1831H  ARaBEABEA
approximately 252,802,000 ordinary shares of the EREBROBERRABDEELRRTN
Company to Sunshine Life Insurance Corporation 252,802,000 @M% BB E B S
Limited* (BB AFRERMBRAF) at a placing Fi1.808 T ILEMENIBFELN
price of HK$1.80 per share. The net proceeds from the A H#448,000,000cc BAE—F
placing amounts to approximately HK$448,000,000. For M5 A2 EAEARE2023F1813
details, please refer to the Company’s announcements H&2023F1831HZ A%
dated 13 January 2023 and 31 January 2023.
Note (b): During the year ended 31 December 2024, 40,856,000 HizE(b): B E2024F12B31HILEZEE > &
ordinary shares of the Company were repurchased at a RAUBREESRKEE0.99TE
price ranging from HK$0.99 to HK$1.62 per share. The 7B¥51.627c[01#840,856,0008% 4 A B
total amount paid for the repurchase was approximately LERKD CIEFTARESENAE
HK$58,736,000. 83,960,000 shares repurchased #%58,736,000 T ° fE & 2024128
(including 44,264,000 shares repurchased in December 31THIEEE A ABERR2023F
2023) have been cancelled during the year ended 31 128 [E1§EHY44,264,0008% & @ A% AR
December 2024. The residual 1,160,000 ordinary shares 15> &3£83,960,00008 L@ IR H E
of the Company have been cancelled subsequently. sE88 o FFAY1,160,0008% [ BE iR 19
B> sFH o
g For identification purpose only & 1ERH S
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B HRRMEE

SHARES HELD FOR SHARE INCENTIVE PLAN 23 &3 ENst2IERiZR{%

Number of
Shares
Shares held for share B BB St B FRF AR 1D
incentive plan dhE - 4=
‘000 HK$°000
Fhe ABEFT
At 1 January 2023, $2023F1818 »
31 December 2023, 2023%F12831H >
1 January 2024 and 2024F1818H
31 December 2024 2024%F12831H 173,138 298,433
These shares are shares in Shoucheng Holdings Limited RENBTEIFTENEREZERERA
that are held by the Company’s trustee for the purpose BIRGABEALRBZEARMFTEZR
of granting shares under the Company’s share incentive 7 AR IR R B I BB 5T 8 M 3%
plan. Shares issued to employees are recognised on a FT2ZBRMm e -mAREEZFTHRMULE
first-in-first-out basis. FEHB A D o
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SHARES HELD FOR SHARE INCENTIVE PLAN 23  RRH#EHEh=t 8IFRiFRD (&)
(continued)
Share incentive plan B AR B 5121
The adoption of the share incentive plan (the “Plan”) KRB Z MBS (TAEHE)) B
was approved by shareholders at the general meeting R2021FE1MA3HZRR AT R
on 3 November 2021. The Plan is designed to provide HERM - AFEETRAARTNE
long-term incentives for senior managers and above REBEAE (BREANTES) REES
(including executive directors) to deliver long-term H2EY IR REAR BR[O o A5TE T
shareholder returns. Under the Plan, participants are BEUHNBEREERSFTSRNEGEEERA
granted options which only vest if certain performance AER - ZEEENERAEZSHEAE
standards are met. Participation in the plan is at the FUWERERAFRENGNER - HTF 2
board’s discretion and no individual has a contractual EREEBURIN A RBMAEHRE A
right to participate in the plan or to receive any EEFMOTERPARESEFENEERR -
guaranteed benefits. The amount of options that will ERENENHEETHEEEA -
vest depends on the Group's performance and the EREDREASGEBERE BEXR
individual grantee’s performance of each year during MI#5 A S R o
the grant and exercise periods. Once vested, the options
remain exercisable for a period of 60 months. Options
are granted under the Plan for no consideration and
carry no dividend or voting rights.
Set out below are summaries of the options granted UTHBREBEAGFEMBEHNEBEREDN
under the plan: BEE
2024 2023
Average Average
exercise price Number of exercise price Number of
per share option options per share option options
SHhEREZ ShEkEs
THIHEE fEREHE THIEE BREE
HKS ‘000 HKS ‘000
Details AR4R p::1:4 Fiz Bl T
As at 1 January K118 1.614 124,220 1.614 164,300
Lapsed during the year RERKH - - 1614 (40,080)
Forfeited during the year ~ RERRIK 1.614 (83,234) - -
As at 31 December R12B31H 1.614 40,986 1.614 124,220
Vested and exercisable R12A31HEGB R
at 31 December a7 1.614 40,986 1.624 33,580
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE B HRRMEE

SHARES HELD FOR SHARE INCENTIVE PLAN 23 RRIEHEITEIFRFRG &)
(continued)
Share incentive plan (continued) RRIE M ENEt 8 (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2024, 83,234,000 HZE2024F12831HEZEE FE
share options were forfeited (2023: 40,080,000 BRI REM ° 83,234,00015 B8
share options were lapsed) as a result of the other AR E B #2 Wt (20234 © 40,080,0001%
performance conditions have not been met, respectively. BREERR) -
Share options outstanding at the end of the year have MUTFARERERITENERENE
the following expiry dates and exercise prices: WmBBARITER
Share options
31 December
Grant Date Expiry date Exercise price 2024
20244
=R b=t ITHEER 12831H
‘000
Fhie
5 November 2021 5 November 2024 1.624 33,580
202111 85H 202411 85H
2 November 2022 2 November 2025 1.560 7,406
2022%1182H 2025%1182H
40,986
Weighted average remaining contractual life of 0.83 yearsf

options outstanding at end of period

£ SR 4R AT IR R BV IR T 85 T & 10 2 18

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
has reversed an equity-settled share-based expense of
HK$14,373,000 (2023: recognised HK$9,557,000) for
the share options under the plan in the consolidated

statement of comprehensive income.

HZE20245F 1283 1B EEE  KEH
ERGEE2mBERAELZE
THERENUEZEENRMOEEE
#%14,373,0007T (20234 : FEREE
9,557,0007T) °
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SHARES HELD FOR SHARE INCENTIVE PLAN
(continued)

Fair value of options granted

The assessed weighted average fair value at grant date
of options granted during the year ended 31 December
2024 was HK$0.34 (2023: HK$0.34) per option. The fair
value at grant date is independently determined using an
adjusted form of the Binomial Tree Approach that takes
into account the exercise price, remaining life of the
option, number of intervals, the share price at grant date
and expected price volatility of the underlying share, the
expected dividend yield and the risk free interest rate for
the term of the option.

The model inputs for options granted during the year
ended 31 December 2022 included:

(a) Grant date 2 November 2022

KT HH 2022 1182H
(b) Expiry date 2 November 2025
J& v B H#3 2025%1182H
(c) Share price at grant date HK$1.560
R HBERE 71,5607
(d) Exercise price HK$1.560
TEE 7 151.5607T
(e) Expected price volatility 39.51%
TARAB IR 1E
() Risk-free interest rate 4.37%
= E =R
(9) Expected dividend yield 7.64%
TARARR B

Shoucheng Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024
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2 November 2022

ARt Bh st BIFR AR (&)

REBREZAREE

B E2024F12831HLEEE REY
EREOHERENERENLKTG
MEFHRABEASRERESRE
0.347t (20234 : B¥0.347T) - RIKH
BIEWAAEENDFERKSHEZXE
RAEREE EFstRERENTT
FE -FGFH - BENEE - REYH
BRKRE -BEERONFERERK
i~ FEHARR B W UK EREFIRN
B 5 JEL B A = o

REZE2022F12B31HEFEREN
BIRENER G A BB

2 November 2022

2022411 82H 2022411 82H

2 November 2026 2 November 2027
202611828 2027411828
HK$1.560 HK$1.560

7 H51.5607T 7 151.5607T0
HK$1.560 HK$1.560
71,5607 11,5607
39.51% 39.51%

4.25% 4.17%

7.64% 7.64%
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RE B HRRMEE

SHARES HELD FOR SHARE INCENTIVE PLAN
(continued)

Fair value of options granted (continued)

The model inputs for options granted during the year

ended 31 December 2021 included:

(a)

(b)

(o)

(d)

(e)

(f)

(9)

Grant date
B HE
Expiry date
& v B HA

Share price at grant date

R BBENKRE
Exercise price

17168

Expected price volatility
FRHABHIKIE

Risk-free interest rate
EREAE

Expected dividend yield
TR B

5 November 2021
2021FE1185H

5 November 2024
2024FE1185H

HK$1.620
A 1E1.6207T
HK$1.624
BHE1.6247T
37.75%

0.70%

6.00%

23 REEHBISEIFRRRG (@)

REBREZ AREE E

REZE2021FE12831HIEEEREN
BERENEL S ASBIREIE

5 November 2021
2021FE1185H

5 November 2025
2025%F1185H

HK$1.620
B H1.6207T
HK$1.624
BHE1.6247T
37.75%

0.91%

6.00%

5 November 2021
2021FE1185H

5 November 2026
20265F1185H
HK$1.620
BH1.6207T
HK$1.624

BN .6247T
37.75%

1.11%

6.00%
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24 TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER PAYABLES, 24 FEAIERFR - HMETRRIE  #ER
PROVISION AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES fEstafE
2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT BT
Trade payables FETER X 452,750 485,585
Accruals FEstE R 68,022 89,982
Other payables H (I FRI8 117,283 91,232
185,305 181,214
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and ZECTRIERNVREEL R A AE
services provided to the Group prior to the end of ERENRIFRERERB 28 E
financial year which are unpaid. Trade and other FEM R H MM FRIETY 25 % 0
payables are presented as current liabilities unless FafE RIEEMRERRESHE12
payment is not due within 12 months after the reporting BEARREB - EBHERRTVEUAER
period. They are recognised initially at their fair value AEERD HERBEBRMNXZRZ
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 3N
effective interest method.
The following is an aging analysis of trade payables REXRK BREZZERAHEI ZEN
presented based on the invoice dates at the end of the R ZEREBEDTUWT ©
year:
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
ABIETFT BT
Within 90 days 90H A 112,051 221,265
91-180 days 91£2180H 48,009 39,260
181-365 days 1812365H 59,030 69,600
Over 365 days 365H MU & 233,660 155,460
452,750 485,585
The average credit period on purchase of goods is 90 KEGY 2 FHEEHRA90B K&
days. The Group has financial risk management policies B 2B 75 R B S 1R SR LURE (R K &P
in place to ensure that most of the payables are within HENFREEREREERER-
the credit timeframe.
246 Shoucheng Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024
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RE B HRRMEE

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE 25 RanEEFTAEGZEMEE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
EBETFT B F T
Financial liabilities designated EERELANBEFABRZ
at fair value through profit TRas
or loss
— Third-party interests in funds —FBZFARAEBRMmEHZ
consolidated by the Group (Note) BEeFAE 2w (a2 68,231 384,942
68,231 384,942
Less: non-current portion B IEREIE 2 (68,231) (92,519)
- 292,423
Note: izt -

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the financial liabilities arising
from funds consolidated by the Group was designated as at fair
value through profit or loss by the Group, as the Group has the
obligation to pay other investor based on the net asset value and
related terms of these consolidated investment funds.

R20245 K2023E128B318 BN A&EEE
B REBEEEFEREMGEIROEMKEES
THAEEEHZESZEHEE FILEE
BERHEEEARAABETABRZZSME
go
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BORROWINGS 26

ok
4

Bank borrowings

RITER
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
EEFT BT T
Repayable within one year and HAR—FREERRED
shown under current liabilities BEAIETIR
Secured =il 38,160 29,159
Unsecured T I = 127,972
38,160 157,131
Non-current liabilities ERBER
Secured [SEiagii 358,662 452,280
358,662 452,280
Total borrowings fETRAA%E 396,822 609,411

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s
borrowings were repayable as follows:

PR AEBZEFERBUOT

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT BT 7T

Within 1 year or repayable on demand —E R BIZ EKEE 38,160 157,131
Between 1 and 2 years 1224 48,412 40,493
Between 2 and 5 years 2FES54F 175,392 181,920
Over 5 years SEM E 134,858 229,867
396,822 609,411

As at 31 December 2024, the Company's weighted
average interest rate per annum of bank borrowings was
3.33% (2023: 3.81%).

The carrying amounts of borrowings are approximately
to their fair values.

The carrying amounts of the borrowings denominated

in RMB are approximately HK$396,822,000 as at 31
December 2024 (2023: HK$459,598,000).

Shoucheng Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024

7R2024F128B31H > KRB RITER
N FE Y ERZE%A3.33% (20234 ¢

3.81%) °

ERNREERAEAAEERES -

2024128310 BB EREE L
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BOND PAYABLES

In May 2024, the Company issued the first tranche of
3-year medium-term notes with an issuance scale of
RMB500 million (equivalent to HK$530 million) at a
coupon rate of 2.5%.

On 10 December 2024, E Park Investment Management
Co., Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
issued the parking asset quasi-REITs structured asset
securitisation product (“Quasi-REITs Structured Asset
Securitisation Product”) with aggregate principal
amount of RMB370 million at a coupon rate of 2.4% per
annum. The maturity date of the Quasi-REITs Structured
Asset Securitisation Product is 24 November 2043. The
Company has the option to buy back the product from
the investors and the investors have the option to sell
back the products to the Company every three years
during the maturity period.

27

RE B HRRMEE

B3RS

2024F58 0 AREIUAEEFIZE2.5%
HERKINETERREARKSET
(HHELBIEL5.301E7T) W3EHS
Eizleeky:

2024%F12H108 > A RBI2EFAF]
BEE (LR) REEEERABRTT
T EEEEARMEREESEHEL
BE#FSLED (HEREITSEEBEEE
BEER) AT REAAREIIE
7o EZEAE A2 4% o FEREITs 4518
MHEERSTLEMNIEBA20434F
1MB24B - AR ERBAKEECIEE
o REEEEAINHHEAE=ER
REIEIEEmM

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$000
EEFT EMEF T
Repayable within one year and EE—SFREE LI TRR
shown under current liabilities MEIBEIET
Secured =i
— Quasi-REITs Structured Asset —JEREIT 45 BIEE E
Securitisation Product BHEM 3,816 =
Non-current liabilities ERBAE
Secured B
— Quasi-REITs Structured Asset —JBREITS4S1BEE E
Securitisation Product BEED 564,993 183,786
Unsecured FIEF
- Medium-term notes — AR 530,050 =
Bond payables F& {3 & %5 1,098,859 183,786
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BOND PAYABLES (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s bond

payables were repayable as follows:

27

BI&ES (@)

RER AEBZEMEFERH
LI

2024 2023

HK$'000 HK$°000

BIEFT BT

Within 1 year or repayable on demand 19 R 2 #As} AJ 12 EREE 3,816 =
Between 2 and 5 years 1,095,043 183,786
1,098,859 183,786

The carrying amounts of the bond payables are
denominated in RMB as at 31 December 2024 and

FR20245 K%2023F 128310 B E
HSHEEEmEEMUARIEEE-

2023.
28 DEFERRED INCOME TAX 28 IRIEFRISIR
For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated MEEMBRAERZEIMS & T
statement of financial position, certain deferred tax REMRMBEERBBEERKEH - UT
assets and liabilities have been offset. The following is RIRERIBE R 2 9 UEHFF R
the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial SR®:
reporting purposes:
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Deferred income tax assets RIERIEE E (35,790) (30,497)
Deferred income tax liabilities FRIERIEGE 121,829 105,590
86,039 75,093
250 Shoucheng Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024
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28 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)

(i)

fe= A
177 g = |

28 ERIEFR1SI (&)

Deferred income tax assets (i) EREREBEEE
The major deferred income tax assets and rFER FFESHE (KH
liabilities recognised (prior to offsetting) and B WEBIRILEFMEREEKRES
movements thereon during the current and prior BEREZFBEREMRNT (M
year are restated as set out in (Note 2 (c)) in the 2(c)) -
following:
Fair value
adjustment of Lease
investments liabilities Tax losses Total

BREAR

BERAE HEaf RIEEE st

HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000

BETT BETT BETT BETT
At 1 January 2023 20231810 - 515,570 5,275 520,845
Credited/(charged) A
— to profit or loss —#Ba 24,603 (41,363) 1,240 (15,520)
Exchange differences ERER 86 (18,764) (111) (18,789)
At 31 December 2023 12023%12831H 24,689 455,443 6,404 486,536
Credited/(charged) A
— to profit or loss -1 14,483 120,661 (6,341) 128,803
- to other comprehensive income ~ —E 2 E Y (1,597) = = (1,597)
Exchange differences EREE (1,785) (15,036) (63) (16,884)
At 31 December 2024 ?2024%12831H 35,790 561,068 - 596,858
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28 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued) 28 IRIEFRISRR (&)
(ii) Deferred income tax liabilities (i) EEREGE
Fair value Fair value
adjustment  adjustment Fair value
and of other  adjustment
Concession  revaluation  non-current of  Right-of-use
rights  of properties assets  investments assets Tax losses Total
ng  HtERy
ARERE BEAR REAR
B BERER BERE BERE EREEE REss Eh
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HKS$ 000
BT BB Vi A ¥ Vi Ao i 4o ¥l A
AT January 2023 R203%1818 8,002 64,206 10,383 80,668 512,921 613) 675567
(Credited)icharged A
- to profit o loss —EH (1,695) 29258 (658) (78,115) (42,280) 613 (92,877)
Exchange differences ERER (233) (1,714) (329 (2,553) (16,232) - (21,061)
A 31 December 2023 R203%128318 6,074 91,750 9,3% . 454,409 . 561,629
(Credited)/charged A
~to proft or loss -B& 2007 (59) 3,504 11,216 124,438 2 141,346
Exchange differences EQER (246) (2.916) (482) (334) (16,100) - (20,078)
At 31 December 2024 R20245128318 8,035 88,775 12,458 10,882 562,747 - 682,897
As at 31 December 2024, the Group has unused R2024%F12A318B A& HE
tax losses of approximately HK$1,325,400,000. AHEREBEEOABE
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in 1,325,400,0007C c A EA TR
respect of the HK$1,325,400,000 tax losses due i e R =
to the unpredictability of future profit streams. 1,325,400,0007T #3 15 &5 18 12 52
Except for tax losses of HK$682,774,000 will be BRIETRIBE E - BRIR BRI B 1K
expired in 5 years, such tax losses do not have 682,774,0007C# ¢ B 5 A 5 HA
expiry date. Sh> MIBEIEI AR EIEAA o
At 31 December 2024, there were no significant 12024F128318 > RIEF I
unrecognised deferred income tax liabilities for BERAAEEZFENBERARZ
the tax that would be payable on the unremitted FOEFERASI R ZERKRE
earnings of certain Group’s PRC subsidiaries as SIEEIRIR R R AREETY
the Group is able to control the timing of the PRI R = 2 %[0l WA Bl A TE
reversal of the temporary differences and it is AIFERARR A G -
probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.
252 Shoucheng Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024
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DIVIDENDS 5]
2024 2023
HK$000 HK$'000
BEFT BEFT
Final dividend for the year ended HZE2023FE12831HLEEE
31 December 2023 of HK2.20 cents WARBAREASREERH
(2022: HK5.40cents) per fully paid share  2.271lll (20224 : 5.407&1l) 156,609 390,465
Interim dividend for the year ended HZE2024F 128310 EFE
31 December 2024 of HK2.86 cents WHEREASREERH
(2023: HK3.28cents) per fully paid share  2.8671ll (20234 : 3.287 ) 203,432 236,663
360,041 627,128

In a board resolution dated 24 August 2024, the Board
declared an interim dividend in the total amount of
HK$208 million (equivalent to HK2.86 cents per share,
based on the number of issued shares on 24 August
2024, i.e 7,287,773,440 shares) for the six months
ended 30 June 2024(2023: HK$243 million).

In a board resolution dated 26 March 2025, the Board
has recommended a final dividend in the total amount
of HK$120 million for the year ended 31 December
2024 (2023: HK$161 million) payable to shareholders
whose names appear on the register of members of
the Company on Wednesday, 16 July 2025. Based on
the 7,284,855,440 ordinary shares in issue, such a final
dividend would amount to HK1.64 cents per share
(2023: HK2.20 cents per ordinary share).

The final dividend is subject to the shareholders’
approval at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
The final dividend proposed after 31 December 2024
has not been recognised as a liability as at 31 December
2024.

The dividend distribution excludes approximately HK$9
million (2023: HK$16 million) which are received by the
treasury shares held by the Company for share incentive
plan during the year ended 31 December 2024.

E2024F8H24R 2 EE G RGEF &
EFEIREE2024FE6830H LE/N1E
BzHiREAHBE2. 08T (HHE
RERZEIE2.8678 1l Ei202448
B24BZzBRTRAOAHE BEAER
7,287,773,4408%) (20234 : B12.43

B7T) °

2025638262 EF B RET &
HEREEFIREEHZE2024F12831
BEFEZRBEREGHBE 128
(20234 : B¥1.61187T) FTH20254%
78168 (2HZ) /5K R B KRR A M
NZREB-BEAABEETZEER
7,284,855,440/ AR ER AT
BRI 6481l (20235 - SREE
B&2 2054 ©

ZARPREBFRIIBETZRES
FAREG LIEEREHMETR2024F12
A31BE#EIKk 2 RKER2024512
BBl AERABEG

KEAEFEEHE20245F12831H
IFFEAAREBERERBE TEE
BBz EARAEFERNEMN
Fr U ER B9 4 A 1#0.09/ 7T (20234 -
0.16f&7T) °
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B 5 R MI5E
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 30 SZERTAEERMEE
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Cash generated from operations () KEEBELEZRE
2024 2023
Note HKS$'000 HK$'000
iyt BEFT BEFT
Cash flows from operating RELBMELZHERE
activities
Profit before income tax BREnEREIRT 474,101 466,451
Adjustments for: HTIEEEHRE !
Interest income FIEWA 6 (128,032) (127,073)
Interest expenses FEZH 70 116,287 105,689
Dividend income REWA 6 (217,769) (328,373)
Exchange differences ERER 7 18,120 10,132
Share of results of associates BUEMEAEZER 14,194 31,502
Share of results of joint ventures BEaERTzEE 7,316 31,381
Gain from changes in fair value of RENEARBEE
investment properties W 7 (33,763) (116,530)
Depreciation of property, plant and ME-BERBEZRE
equipment 13 (4) 22,769 17,104
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEZINE 13 (B) 201,719 132,003
Amortisation of other non-current HiIERE & £
assets 15 (a) 31,982 21,884
Fair value change of financial assets BRARBESABRZ SR
at FVPL BEZAREEED (17,884) 411,005
Fair value change of financial liabilities A ABEFABRZ &5
at FVPL BREZARBEEE (12,235) (197)
Non-cash employee benefits FReRERANER-BH
expenses - share based payment % AT (14,373) 9,557
Provision for impairment losses for FEMER R B 18
trade receivables - 11,279
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets R EEERESE 2,646 =
Loss on disposal of property, RENE BERSREZEE
plant and equipment 3,000 792
Gain on disposal of investment REHE ATz W
in an associate (24,245) =

Shoucheng Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 30
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(a)

Cash generated from operations

(continued)

RE B HRRMEE

mEHERERME @

() KEEXEBELEZRE B

2024 2023
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
vt BEFT BETFT
Operating cash flows before SEESEYN KERE
movements in working capital hE 443,833 676,666
Trade receivables e IB (19,960) 23,190
Contract assets in respect of service HBEBRTFCETHERN
concession arrangements BHEE (46,708) (48,706)
Prepayments, deposits and other BAREFeREMER
receivables gL (89,520) (12,246)
Trade payables eI IR 33,376 151,825
Amounts due from related companies & ¥ BB A T 2 FE - 12,104
Amounts due from a joint venture BY—BEERRAZIA = 29,162
Other payables, provision and HitERRE BB EHE
accrued liabilities & 18,412 (26,432)
Contract liabilities =X )R 12,771 39,239
Financial assets and financial liabilities ®MEERSHER (18,681) (510,561)
Cash generated from operations REEBMELZRE 333,523 334,241
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30 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

30 IREHRERERME @

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b) mEISHZEEHIR
financing activities
This section sets out an analysis of liabilities KEDMRPMENEFERE
arising from financing activities and the EHEACEEREEREDF
movements in liabilities arising from financing o
activities for each of the years presented.
Bond Lease

payables Borrowings liabilities Total

eI &3 EE HEEE et

HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$000 HK$'000

BT BT BEFa  BEFa
At 1 January 2023 K2023F181H - 1,047,393 1,548,983 2,596,376
Financing cash flows MEBERERE 180,778 (462,851)  (141,038)  (423,111)
Acquisition - leases g == = = 14,645 14,645
Early termination - lease AR LS = S (44,037) (44,037)
Interest expenses MEEHR 3,008 38,744 63,937 105,689
Exchange differences PE R E%E - (13,875) (49,375) (63,250)
At 31 December 2023 #2023F12831H 183,786 609,411 1,393,115 2,186,312
At 1 January 2024 R2024F181H 183,786 609,411 1,393,115 2,186,312
Financing cash flows MERERE 932,143 (216,922)  (343,812) 371,409
Acquisition — leases WE—HE - = 735,462 735,462
Interest expenses MNEER 19,088 20,041 77,158 116,287
Exchange differences PERERE (36,158) (15,708) (6,311) (58,177)
At 31 December 2024 R20245F12831H 1,098,859 396,822 1,855,612 3,351,293
Please refer to the Note 3.3 (c) for the movement BAnBEFAEGZEME
of financial liability at FVPL. BEFHBERFL2RMEE3.3(0)

() Major non-cash transactions (0 FEEREXRS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
acquisition of right-of-use assets amounting to
HK$735,462,000 (2023: HK$14,645,000)

(Note 13 (B)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

COMMITMENTS
Non-cancellable operating leases

The investment properties are leased to tenants under
operating leases with rentals payable monthly. For details
of the leasing arrangements, refer to Note 13 (B).

The Group leases various office premises and car parking
assets under non-cancellable operating leases expiring
within 1 to 20 years. The leases have varying terms,
escalation clauses and renewal rights. On renewal, the
terms of the leases are renegotiated. The Group has
recognised right-of-use assets for these leases, except
for short-term and low-value leases, see Note 36.22 and
Note 13(B) for further information.

No minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases of investment properties not recognised
in the financial statements as at 31 December 2024 and
2023.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On 18 December 2024, Fine Power Group Limited,
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into the Sale and Purchase Agreement with
Shougang Holding (Hong Kong) Limited (“Shougang
Holding”), a connected person of the Company,
pursuant to which the Fine Power Group Limited has
conditionally agreed to sell, and Shougang Holding has
conditionally agreed to purchase, 606,927,640 shares of
Shougang Fushan Resources Group Limited (“Shougang
Resources”), representing approximately 11.92% of the
all issued shares of Shougang Resources as at the date
of the sale and purchase agreement. The transaction has
been completed on 3 February 2025. For details, please
refer to the announcements of the Company dated 18
December 2024, 27 January 2025 and 3 February 2025,
and the circular of the Company dated 11 January 2025.

31

32

RE B HRRMEE

HEE
R HEH ST

REYERBECEENLEATER
HERBEM -AREERHZFE
B 2BIMIEE13(B)

AEERBAIHHELCERNARZS
EEFEYMEREFEEE ME205F
AEE-MHAOBEBTEERR - BRAE
1R R B EARER) o B HA R > FHAV IR
AEMEm -AEENZERE B8
REEBEMAERIN BAEHAEEE
BRE—TERF2RMNE36.22 %
5E13(B)°

B E2024FM2023F12H31H > Wi
RUTBERRABDRERARENE T
AR ERA T2 EBWES -

HR=1E

2024128188 » AR BN — KB
2 & F/ATFine Power Group Limited
BATHEBALTEWMER (F8)
BR2E (TEHER) 8257785
BE WM o RIEZWE > Fine Power
Group LimitedBRHEMBEIEHE M
BiflEREGRGAHMEEEESHEWL
BEREBEBRAE (TBHER) O
606,927,640 0 (HELE B & &
ZITHENERENESHETRGON
£911.92% - Z X 7 B1R2025%2H3H
TR BB 2R AT R20245F12
H18H~2025%1827H4%12025%283
BEMNASG  UKRAERER20255F1
B11HERPER o
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RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 33 FRAMKALKREE
The Company's substantial shareholder with significant KRBz BEERENFERTAE
influence is Shougang Holding, which is a wholly-owned MER (DEHEERRAE (ERE
subsidiary of Shougang Group Co., Ltd., a state-owned EEEEEBEESETEREBZEE
enterprise under the direct supervision of the Beijing TtE N2ENBAR) BRAEREIN
State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration BEEBERADREBRE A (R
Commission. Shougang Group Co., Ltd., together THRAIER) U THEER EHlE
with its associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) B At AEBRTEHNERZEKR
other than the Group, will hereinafter be referred to HE ANEEHRENERET IR S
as the “Shougang Group”. Accordingly, the Group RAEERIREWT ¢
is significantly influenced by Shougang Group. The
transactions and those balances with Shougang Group
are disclosed below:
(a) Transactions with related parties (a) PFABEALIHE
Year ended 31 December
BE12A31HLEE
2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
ABEFT BT T
Shougang Group HNEE
- Management fee expenses (Note (i) —EE&ERX (#15L0i) 5,312 2,990
— Other income by the Group (Note (i) —Zs&EBE WA #:£0) 1,888 322
— Purchases by the Group — B
(Note (i) and (ii)) (Bt 3#(3i) and (i) 16,503 12,152
— Rental expenses (Note (i) —MBEmRZ (BE20) 4,062 4,676
- Rental income (Note (i)) —FE WA BTEEG) 132 132
— Services provided by the Group —AEERHB R
(Note (i) and (iii) (B1&£(3) and (iii) 325,794 563,243
Notes: Hyst -
(i) The terms of the transactions are mutually agreed (i) B2 HERTyAREBREH
between the Group and the counter parties. FHAEERE -

(ii) Shougang Group provides materials, leasing and
management services to the Group.

(iii) The Group provides fund management services to
its Shougang Group and/or its associates.

Shoucheng Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024
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33 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

33

RE B HRRMEE

R LIREE (@)

Balances with Shougang Group (b) HEENERZER
Details of balances with the Group's related EREANERRE AR 2R
companies are set out in Note 20 to the E%Hﬂﬁff\,ﬁ?éﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁzoo
consolidated financial statements.
Compensation of key management (0 FEEEASZEHM
personnel
The remuneration of key management personnel, RERAREIRAFTEBEIEA
which represents the key management personnel ENFEBEBEASZFHMOT :
of the Company during the year was as follows:
Year ended 31 December
HE12A31MALEE
2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$°000
BT T BT
Short-term employee benefits 2 HA1E E4&F) 3,360 9,646
Post-employment benefits BIREF] 18 54
3,378 9,700
The remuneration of key management personnel FTEEEBEAEZMNEHRESTE
is determined by the Remuneration Committee ETZHNEEGEE WEZ
of the Board of Directors having regard to the BB BRI 2 T IHR
market practice, competitive market position and MRER A LRI
individual performance.
Transactions with other PRC (d BHMPEKFHERSER
government-related entities X5
The Group has entered into various bank FEBTHEREBBREUR

transactions, including deposits placements,
borrowings and other general banking facilities,
with certain banks and financial institutions and
use of public utilities which are state-controlled
entities in its ordinary course of business. In view
of the nature of those banking transactions, the
directors of the Company are of the opinion that

separate disclosure would not be meaningful.

AHREHOERAREZLERR
B 2R 42 ) B RS HY SR 17 A0 < B
REETZRRTR S BT
TEEREM—ARIRITRE -
ERZFROXZHMEE K
RAEZRRBERERERRE
E&o
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 34
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

TR Z2MBR AR EBES

As at 31 December

128318
2024 2023
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Hiat EEFT BT T
Non-current assets EREEE
Investments in subsidiaries RB AT ZRE 85,881 284,924
Prepayments and deposits EBNMEBEREE 33,262 40,924
Investments — non-current RE —IE R 119,434 133,803
238,577 459,651
Current assets MENEE
Prepayments, deposits and other Ja{3 7 IE ~ 2 &
receivables R B MW RIE 122,680 138,529
Amounts due from subsidiaries & MBS 2 I8 12,704,089 12,258,345
Investments — current KE—RE = 175,312
Restricted deposits = IR &I F R 50 -
Time deposits with maturity ZR=EAANFBRZ
over three months THRIERR 1,626,752 1,751,346
Bank balances and cash RIS RIRE 656,185 532,331
15,109,756 14,855,863
Total assets BEMRE 15,348,333 15,315,514
Liabilities afE
Current liabilities REIBE
Borrowings — current B —mEh - 105,600
Other payables and accrued HiENRIBERESTEE
liabilities 13,259 11,953
13,259 117,553
Non-current liability EREIEE
Bond payable — non-current FEES—IERE 530,050 -
530,050 -
Total liabilities BEEE 543,309 117,553
Capital and reserves B A R i
Share capital [N 22 12,994,847 12,994,847
Reserves (Note) & (OaE) 1,810,177 2,203,114
14,805,024 15,197,961
Total liabilities and equity EmkBaEEE 15,348,333 15,315,514

The statement of financial position of the Company was
approved by the Board of Directors on 26 March 2025
and were signed on its behalf by:

Zhao Tianyang
X
Director

EF
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND

fe= A
177 g = |

FA#5 SR R P 52

3 FRATZMBRARKFEES

RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (#)
(continued)
Note: Hiat -
Shares held
under share Security
incentive investment Other Retained
plan reserve reserve earnings Total
R HE R By 3t 21
TREZRL HEHFEEHE Hithf RER ai
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEFT BEFT FBETFT BEFT BT
Balance at 1 January 2023 K2023F1A1H 2 &k (298,433) (42,505) 563,976 1,912,784 2,135,822
Profit for the year FEHR - - - 1,077,171 1,077,171
Fair value changes on financial BARABEHAHMZE
asset at FVOC| @z EREEL
NAEEEE - (13,623) - - (13,623)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income 20 (B8 /BREHR S (13,623) - 1,077,171 1,063,548
Share repurchase Bl - - (62,386) (316,299) (378,685)
Recognition of equity-settled share- BUEREEORN
based payments YHEHR - = 9,557 = 9,557
Dividends e - - - (627,128) (627,128)
Balance at 31 December 2023 1#20235F128318 28548 (298,433) (56,128) 511,147 2,046,528 2,203,114
Balance at 1 January 2024 1#20245F1818 2 &8k (298,433) (56,128) 511,147 2,046,528 2,203,114
Profit for the year FERF - - - 69,696 69,696
Fair value changes on financial asset A A BEFAEMZE
at Fvocl WEzEeMEEZ
NABEES = (29,483) = = (29,483)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income 2 & (§518), HHEE - (29,483) - 69,696 40,213
Share repurchase R 15 158 - - 61,190 (119,926) (58,736)
Net reversal of equity-settled BEMEGEEN
share-based payments RpXHERZE - - (14,373) - (14,373)
Dividends e - - - (360,041) (360,041)
Balance at 31 December 2024 #2024 128318 28548 (298,433) (85,611) 557,964 1,636,257 1,810,177
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35 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 35
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION
383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES
ORDINANCE (CAP. 622), COMPANIES
(DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT
BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION
(CAP. 622G) AND HK LISTING RULES)

(A)

Directors’ emoluments

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the

twelve (2023: fourteen) directors were as follows:

SEERAEAE BEBQTE
55622 553831% « £622GELR
7 BANEZENERIEE) RO
REALEHRAUEREE)

A EFM=

BfSENM+ "% (20234F
+Og) BESAZBESOT

Contributions
Share to retirement
Fees Salaries options  benefit scheme Total 2024
BIER
fig fig Bk IR At
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000
Vi s ETr Vil do E¥Tr Vil do
2024 2024
Executive directors of FRAAYITES
the Company
ZHAO Tianyang fEpN - - - - -
XU Liang #he - 3,360 - 18 3,378
Non-executive directors of RATATES
the Company
WU Lishun (Note (d) SEE W) S = S - -
PENG Jihai (Note (2) ZEE We) 360 - - - 360
LU Jingwei ISR 460 - - - 460
HO Gilbert Chi Hang GEE 425 - - - 425
LI Hao ey 570 = - - 570
Independent non-executive ~ AATBUEHGES
directors of the Company
WANG Xin Iz 570 - - - 570
CHOI Fan Keung Vic RER 520 - - - 520
DENG Yougao #55 475 - - - 475
ZHANG Quanling RRE 550 - - - 550
Zhuge Wenjing HEXE 40 - - - 420
Total emoluments kA 4,350 3,360 - 18 7,728
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(continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE B HRRMEE

BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 35 EEFARME (EEEBQEE
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION 51 55622E 5538315 « £622GE
383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES 7 FARESENERIEE) 1RF
ORDINANCE (CAP. 622), COMPANIES REALHRAUEBERKE) &)
(DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT
BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION
(CAP. 622G) AND HK LISTING RULES)
Directors’ emoluments (continued) (A) EEE &
Contributions
Share to retirement
Fees Salaries options  benefit scheme Total 2023
vl
ik it BRiE REE A32023
HKS 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000
BEFT BETT BEFT BETT BETFT
2023 2023
Executive directors of KARHGES
the Company
ZHAO Tianyang e - - 715 - 715
XU Liang #e = 3,360 510 18 3,888
Ll Wei (Note (c)) & W) = 1,698 919 18 2,635
Zhang Meng (Wote () RE (W20 = 1,729 715 18 2,462
Non-executive directors of KAREHGES
the Company
WU Lishun (Note (c) SEIE W) - - - - -
PENG Jihai (Note (¢) ¥EBWite) M = 5 S 211
LU Jingwei gk 425 - - - 425
HO Gilbert Chi Hang f8E 395 - - = 395
LI Hao & 562 = = 5 56
Independent non-executive ~ AAFBUFRFTES
directors of the Company
WANG Xin Iz 502 = = = 502
CHOI Fan Keung Vic 2ER 464 - - - 464
DENG Yougao #58 430 - - - 430
ZHANG Quanling RRE 478 = S S 478
Zhuge Wenjing HEXE 386 - - - 386
Total emoluments &8 3,853 6,787 2,859 54 13,553
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BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION
383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES
ORDINANCE (CAP. 622), COMPANIES
(DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT
BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION
(CAP. 622G) AND HK LISTING RULES)

(continued)

(A)

Directors’ emoluments (continued)

Notes:

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were mainly for their services in connection with
the management of the affairs of the Company
and the Group. The non-executive directors’
emoluments shown above were mainly for
their services as directors of the Company or
its subsidiaries. The independent non-executive
directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly
for their services as directors of the Company.

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of
the directors or the five highest paid individuals as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or
as compensation for loss of office during the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Allowance and benefits in kind include share
options.
Mr. Li Wei and Ms. Zhang Meng resigned as a

director with effect from 25 May 2023.

Mr. Wu Lishun was appointed as a director with
effect from 5 December 2023.

Mr. Peng Jihai was appointed as a director with
effect from 25 May 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION
383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES
ORDINANCE (CAP. 622), COMPANIES
(DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT
BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION

(CAP. 622G) AND HK LISTING RULES)
(continued)

(B)

(@)

(D)

(E)

Directors’ retirement benefits and
termination benefits

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no
emoluments, retirement benefits, payments or
benefits in respect of termination of Directors’
services were paid or made, directly or indirectly,
to the Directors; nor are any payable (2023: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties
for making available directors’ services

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no
consideration was provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services (2023: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and
other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

As at 31 December 2024, there are no loans,
quasi-loans or other dealings in favour of the
Directors, their controlled bodies corporate and
connected entities (2023: Nil).

Directors’ material interests in
transactions, arrangements or contracts

Save as disclosed in Note 33 and Note 35, no
significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Group was a party and in which a
director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end
of the year ended 31 December 2024 or at any
time during the year (2023: Nil).

35

RE B HRRMEE

EERAEAE BEBQTE
5l 585622F 553831%  5622GE L
7 BANEZENERIEE) RO
REALTHRAUNEKREE) @)

(B)

©

(D)

(E)

SRR ARENRFHRET

REZE2024F12831HLEE
B ERKLEEEREMEE
FEEAESZINRIEHER
Bl BB IHHEF]
TREAE R RIE (20234 ¢

4HE) o
7y

MESESREBEMEE=AH
REHE

HE2024F12831HLEFE >
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TR AR (20235 HF) °
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BEERSZSEFEBEASTZAZ
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o

20241283180 #EUE
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SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL POLICIES

This note provides a list of other accounting policies

adopted in the preparation of these consolidated

financial statements. These policies have been

consistently applied to all the years presented, unless

otherwise stated. The financial statements are for the
Group consisting of Shoucheng Holdings Limited and its

subsidiaries.

36.1 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting

(a)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the
Group has control. The Group controls
an entity where the Group is exposed to,
or has rights to, variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its
power to direct the activities of the entity.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the
date on which control is transferred to the
Group. They are deconsolidated from the
date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is
used to account for business combinations
by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL POLICIES (continued)

36.1 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (continued)

(a)

(b)

Subsidiaries (continued)

Intercompany transactions, balances
and unrealised gains on transactions
between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the transferred asset.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results
and equity of subsidiaries are shown
separately in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of financial
position respectively.

Associates

Associates are all entities over which the
Group has significant influence but not
control or joint control. This is generally
the case where the Group holds between
20% and 50% of the voting rights.
Investments in associates are accounted
for using the equity method of accounting,
after initially being recognised at cost.

36
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SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL POLICIES (continued)

36.1 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (continued)

(c)

(d)

Joint arrangements

Under HKFRS 11
investments in joint arrangements are

“Joint Arrangements”

classified as either joint operations or joint
ventures. The classification depends on the
contractual rights and obligations of each
investor, rather than the legal structure of
the joint arrangement. The Company has
joint ventures. Interests in joint ventures
are accounted for using the equity method
(see (d) below), after initially being
recognised at cost in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Equity accounting

Under the equity method of accounting,
the investments are initially recognised at
cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise
the Group’ s share of the post-acquisition
profits or losses of the investee in
consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, and the Group's share of
movements in other comprehensive income
of the investee in other comprehensive
income. Dividends received or receivable
from associates or joint ventures are
recognised as a reduction in the carrying
amount of the investment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL POLICIES (continued)

36.1 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (continued)

(d)

Equity accounting (continued)

When the Group's share of losses in an
equity — accounted investment equals or
exceeds its interest in the entity, including
any other unsecured long term receivables,
the Group does not recognise further
losses, unless it has incurred obligations
or made payments on behalf of the other
entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between
the Group and its associates and joint
ventures are eliminated to the extent
of the Group’s interest in these entities.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of equity accounted
investees have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted
investments are tested for impairment
accordance with the policy described in
Note 36.9 (d).

36 HMBEEKRE

36.1 AHEIRED
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SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL POLICIES (continued)

36.1 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (continued)

(e)

Changes in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-
controlling interests that do not result
in a loss of control as transactions with
equity owners of the Group. A change
in ownership interest results in an
adjustment between the carrying amounts
of the controlling and non-controlling
interests to reflect their relative interests
in the subsidiary. Any difference between
the amount of the adjustment to non-
controlling interests and any consideration
paid or received is recognised in a separate
reserve within equity attributable to
owners of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B HRRMEE

36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 36 HMEBEESEAGHABERBEE &)
MATERIAL POLICIES (continued)
36.2 Business combinations 36.2 X¥#EEa#

The acquisition method of accounting is used to
account for all business combinations, regardless
of whether equity instruments or other assets are
acquired. The consideration transferred for the
acquisitions of subsidiaries comprises the:

. fair values of the assets transferred;

° liabilities incurred to the former owners of
the acquired business;

o equity interests issued by the Group;

o fair value of any asset or liability
resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement; and

o fair value of any pre-existing equity interest
in the subsidiary.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are, with limited exceptions,
measured initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date. The Group recognises any non-
controlling interest in the acquired entity on an
acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at fair value
or at the non-controlling interest's proportionate
share of the acquired entity’s net identifiable
assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.
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SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL POLICIES (continued)

36.2 Business combinations (continued)

The excess of the:

° consideration transferred;

o amount of any non-controlling interest in
the acquired entity; and

o acquisition-date fair value of any previous
equity interest in the acquired entity.

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts
are less than the fair value of the net identifiable
assets of the business acquired, the difference is
recognised directly in profit or loss as a gain on
bargain purchase.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration
is deferred, the amounts payable in the future
are discounted to their present value as at the
date of exchange. The discount rate used is the
entity’'s incremental borrowing rate, being the rate
at which a similar borrowing could be obtained
from an independent financier under comparable
terms and conditions. Contingent consideration
is classified either as equity or a financial liability.
Amounts classified as a financial liability are
subsequently remeasured to fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

If the business combination is achieved in
stages, the acquisition date carrying value of
the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in
the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the
acquisition date. Any gains or losses arising from
such remeasurement are recognised in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY

MATERIAL POLICIES (continued)

36.3

36.4

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for
at cost less impairment. Cost includes direct
attributable costs of investment. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on
the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in
subsidiaries is required upon receiving a dividend
from these investments if the dividend exceeds
the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary
in the period the dividend is declared or if the
carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount
in the consolidated financial statements of the
investee's net assets including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to
the chief operating decision maker.

Management has determined the operating
segments based on the reports reviewed by the
chief operating decision makers that are used to
make strategic decisions and resources allocation.
No operating segments identified by the chief
operating decision makers have been aggregated
in arriving at the reportable segments of the
Group.
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SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL POLICIES (continued)

36.5 Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements
of each of the Group’'s entities are
measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which
the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollar, which is Company’s functional and

presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are
translated into the functional currency
using the exchange rates at the dates
of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and
from the translation of monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies at year end exchange rates are
generally recognised in profit or loss. They
are deferred in equity if they relate to
qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying
net investment hedges or are attributable
to part of the net investment in a foreign
operation.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that
relate to borrowings are presented in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, within finance costs. All other
foreign exchange gains and losses are
presented in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income on a net basis
within other gains, net.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL POLICIES (continued)

36.5 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(b)

(c)

Transactions and balances (continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured
at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was determined.
Translation differences on assets and
liabilities carried at fair value are reported
as part of the fair value gain or loss. For
example, translation differences on non-
monetary assets and liabilities such as
equities held at fair value through profit
or loss are recognised in profit or loss
as part of the fair value gain or loss and
translation differences on non-monetary
assets such as equities classified as fair
value through other comprehensive income
are recognised in other comprehensive
income of consolidated statements of
comprehensive income.

Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign
operations (none of which has the currency
of a hyperinflationary economy) that have
a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into
the presentation currency as follows:

o assets and liabilities for each
statement of financial position
presented are translated at the
closing rate at the date of that
statement of financial position
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SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL POLICIES (continued)

36.5 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(c)

Group companies (continued)

. income and expenses for each
statement of comprehensive income
are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated
at the dates of the transactions);
and

° all resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive
income.

On consolidation, exchange differences
arising from the translation of any net
investment in foreign entities, and of
borrowings and other financial instruments
designated as hedges of such investments,
are recognised in other comprehensive
income. When a foreign operation is sold
or any borrowings forming part of the
net investment are repaid, the associated
exchange differences are reclassified to
profit or loss, as part of the gain or loss on
sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising
on the acquisition of a foreign operation
are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign operation and translated at the
closing rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL POLICIES (continued)

36.5 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(d)

Disposal of foreign operation and
partial disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation
(that is, a disposal of the Group’s entire
interest in a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of control over
a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation, a disposal involving loss of
joint control over a joint venture that
includes a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of significant influence
over an associate that includes a foreign
operation), all of the currency translation
differences accumulated in equity in
respect of that operation attributable to
the owners of the Company are reclassified
to profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal that
does not result in the Group losing
control over a subsidiary that includes
a foreign operation, the proportionate
share of accumulated currency translation
differences are re-attributed to non-
controlling interests and are not recognised
in profit or loss. For all other partial
disposals (that is, reductions in the
Group’s ownership interest in associates
or joint ventures that do not result in
the Group losing significant influence or
joint control), the proportionate share of
the accumulated exchange differences is
reclassified to profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL POLICIES (continued)

36.6 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at
historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable
to the acquisition of the items. Cost may also
include transfers from equity of any gains or
losses on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign
currency purchases of property, plant and
equipment.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's
carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of
the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of any component accounted for as a
separate asset is derecognised when replaced.
All other repairs and maintenance are charged to
profit or loss during the reporting period in which
they are incurred.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end
of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the
asset’s carrying amount is greater than its
estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined
by comparing proceeds with carrying amount.
These are included in consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL POLICIES (continued)

36.7 Intangible assets

(a)

Goodwill

Goodwill is measured as described in Note
15. Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries
is included in “other non-current assets”
in the consolidated statement of financial
position. Goodwill on acquisition of
associates or joint ventures is included in
the cost of the investment in associates or
joint ventures respectively. Goodwill is not
amortised but it is tested for impairment
annually, or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that it
might be impaired and is carried at cost
less accumulated impairment losses. Gains
and losses on the disposal of an entity
include the carrying amount of goodwill
relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating
units for the purpose of impairment
testing. The allocation is made to those
cash-generating units or groups of cash-
generating units that are expected to
benefit from the business combination
in which the goodwill arose. The units or
groups of units are identified at the lowest
level at which goodwill is monitored for
internal management purposes, being the
operating segments.
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SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL POLICIES (continued)

36.7 Intangible assets (continued)

(b)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

The Group recognises an intangible
asset arising from a service concession
arrangement when it has a right to
charge for usage of the concession
infrastructure. An intangible asset received
as consideration for providing construction
services in a service concession
arrangement are measured at fair value
upon initial recognition by reference to
the fair value of the services provided.
Subsequent to initial recognition the
intangible asset is measured at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment
losses.

Separately acquired intangible assets are
shown at historical cost. Intangible assets
acquired in a business combination are
recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. The useful lives of intangible
assets are assessed to be either finite or
indefinite. Intangible assets with finite
useful lives are subsequently carried at
cost less accumulated amortisation and
impairment losses. The amortisation
period and amortisation method for an
intangibles asset with finite useful life are
assessed at every period end.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL POLICIES (continued)

36.7 Intangible assets (continued)

(b)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
(continued)

Intangible assets with indefinite lives are
tested for impairment annually either
individually or at the cash generating
unit level. Such intangible assets are not
amortised. The useful life of an intangible
asset with an indefinite life is reviewed
annually to determine whether the
indefinite life assessment continues to
be supportable, if not, the change in the
useful life assessment from indefinite to
finite is accounted for on a prospective
basis.

Costs associated with maintaining software
programmes are recognised as an expense
as incurred. Development costs that are
directly attributable to the design and
testing of identifiable and unique software
products controlled by the group are
recognised as intangible assets where the
following criteria are met:

° it is technically feasible to complete
the software so that it will be
available for use;

o management intends to complete

the software and use or sell it;

° there is an ability to use or sell the
software;
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SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL POLICIES (continued)

36.7 Intangible assets (continued)

(b)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
(continued)

. it can be demonstrated how the
software will generate probable
future economic benefits;

° adequate technical, financial and
other resources to complete the
development and to use or sell the
software are available; and

o the expenditure attributable to the
software during its development can
be reliably measured.

Directly attributable costs that are
capitalised as part of the software include
employee costs and an appropriate portion
of relevant overheads.

Capitalised development costs are recorded
as intangible assets and amortised from
the point at which the asset is ready for
use.

These intangible assets are included
in “other non-current assets” in the
consolidated statement of financial
position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B HRRMEE

36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 36 HMEBEESEAGHABERBEE &)

MATERIAL POLICIES (continued)

36.8 Impairment of non-financial assets 36.8 JEERMBEZRE

Goodwill and intangible assets that have
an indefinite useful life are not subject to
amortisation and are tested annually for
impairment, or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that they
might be impaired. Other assets are tested for
impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognised for the amount by which the asset's
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s
fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there
are separately identifiable cash inflows which
are largely independent of the cash inflows from
other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating
units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill
that suffered an impairment are reviewed for
possible reversal of the impairment at the end of
each reporting period.
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SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL POLICIES (continued)

36.9 Financial assets

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in
the following measurement categories:

o those to be measured subsequently
at fair value (either through other
comprehensive income (“OCI”) or
through profit or loss); and

. those to be measured at amortised
cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s
business model for managing the financial
assets and the contractual terms of the
cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains
and losses will either be recorded in profit
or loss or OCI. For investments in equity
instruments that are not held for trading,
this will depend on whether the Group has
made an irrevocable election at the time of
initial recognition to account for the equity
investment at FVOCI.

The Group reclassifies debt investments
when and only when its business model for
managing those assets changes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL POLICIES (continued)

36.9 Financial assets (continued)

(b)

(c)

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of
financial assets are recognised on trade-
date,
commits to purchase or sell the asset.

the date on which the Group

Financial assets are derecognised when
the rights to receive cash flows from the
financial assets have expired or have been
transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures
a financial asset at its fair value plus,
in the case of a financial asset not at
FVPL, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the
financial asset. Transaction costs of
financial assets carried at FVPL are

expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives
are considered in their entirety when
determining whether their cash flows are
solely payment of principal and interest.
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SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL POLICIES (continued)

36.9 Financial assets (continued)

(c)

Measurement (continued)
Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt
instruments depends on the Group's
business model for managing the asset and
the cash flow characteristics of the asset.
There are three measurement categories
into which the Group classifies its debt
instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are
held for collection of contractual
cash flows where those cash
flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest are
measured at amortised cost. Interest
income from these financial assets
is included in finance income
using the effective interest rate
method. Any gain or loss arising
on derecognition is recognised
directly in profit or loss and
presented in other gains, net
together with foreign exchange
gains and losses. Impairment losses
are presented as separate line item
in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL POLICIES (continued)

36.9 Financial assets (continued)

(c)

Measurement (continued)

Debt instruments (continued)

FVOCI: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash
flows and for selling the financial
assets, where the assets’ cash
flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest, are measured
at FVOCI.
carrying amount are taken through

Movements in the

OCl, except for the recognition of
impairment gains or losses, interest
income and foreign exchange gains
and losses which are recognised
in profit or loss. When the
financial asset is derecognised, the
cumulative gain or loss previously
recognised in OCI is reclassified
from equity to profit or loss and
recognised in other gains, net.
Interest income from these financial
assets is included in finance income
using the effective interest rate
method. Foreign exchange gains
and losses are presented in other
gains, net and impairment expenses
are presented as separate line item
in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

36

fe= A
177 g = |

FA#5 SR R P 52

HtBEEAGSHEERBE (@)

369 ERMEE &)
5rE (&

BBIR @)

()

AREBEZEBEH
thEEWmstE -
HBEBEHNRE
MERHE TR
EEMPFENE
EHZEEEZ
REREBEAX
Tt xERHE /Y
REEEBAR
BEZEBEHEME
HWmstE e R\
BEsst AEM
EE M RS
m PSR 2R (B
W EE 72
e Kz S BE R mm
K 518 2 B 3B BR
ShoERBEEKILE
S0 > SERT IS H
fth & | U8 = 2 58
Z RN E W
BEHERZEND
BEBRmIERE
fth U 0¥ BR P AR
BoRETMEE
ZHBEBRARE
EF 3 N
BIRA o ShE W ot
REEZIRH
fthi P B8 > T
L 1E &S 1B R B AR
BEERm KT
ERBILEEB?T
o

HERZRARAT 2024FFR 287



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R #5 ¥R R P 5E

s

nix

36

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL POLICIES (continued)

36.9 Financial assets (continued)

(c)

Measurement (continued)
Debt instruments (continued)

o FVPL: Assets that do not meet the
criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI
are measured at FVPL. A gain or
loss on a debt investment that is
subsequently measured at FVPL
is recognised in profit or loss and
presented net within other gains,
net in the period in which it arises.

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all
equity investments at fair value. Where
the Group’s management has elected to
present fair value gains and losses on
equity investments in OCI, there is no
subsequent reclassification of fair value
gains and losses to profit or loss following
the derecognition of the investment.
Dividends from such investments continue
to be recognised in profit or loss as other
income when the Group’s right to receive
payments is established.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL POLICIES (continued)

36.9 Financial assets (continued)

(c)

(d)

Measurement (continued)

Changes in the fair value of financial assets
at FVPL are recognised in revenue or other
gains, net in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income depending on
the principal activities of the group entities
holding such financial assets. Impairment
losses (and reversal of impairment losses)
on equity investments measured at FVOCI
are not reported separately from other
changes in fair value.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking
basis the expected credit losses associated
with its debt instruments carried at
amortised cost, FVPL and FVOCI. The
impairment methodology applied depends
on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies
the simplified approach permitted by
HKFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime
losses to be recognised from initial
recognition of the receivables, see Note
3.1 (b) (i) for further details.
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SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL POLICIES (continued)

36.10 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and
the net amount reported in the consolidated
statement of financial position where the Group
currently has a legally enforceable right to offset
the recognised amounts, and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously.

36.11 Derivatives

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on
the date a derivative contract is entered into and
are subsequently remeasured to their fair value at
the end of each reporting period. The accounting
for subsequent changes in fair value depends on
whether the derivative is designated as a hedging
instrument, and if so, the nature of the item
being hedged.

During the year, none of the derivative
instruments has qualified for hedge accounting.
Changes in the fair value of any derivative
instrument that does not qualify for hedge
accounting are recognised immediately in profit
or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B HRRMEE

36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY HMBEERTHHRBE &)

MATERIAL POLICIES (continued)

36.12 Cash and cash equivalents

36

36.12 IREKRREEFEBY

For the purpose of presentation in the
consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits
held at call with financial institutions, other short-
term, highly liquid investments with original
maturities of three months or less that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
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S RERREFEYEEFR
B RMEBLTHER RE
AR =ERHUNEFIFE
RERSENBBRREMIE
EXEEEHRARZEMER
EREEREURIRITES R
TBEXINAGEMBRRER

value, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are MEBAEENEER.
shown within borrowings in current liabilities in
the consolidated statement of financial position.

36.13 Share capital 36.13 B&4s

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue
of new shares or options are shown in equity as a
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the
Company’s equity instruments, for example
as the result of a share buy-back or a share-
based payment plan, the consideration paid,
including any directly attributable incremental
costs (net of income taxes) is deducted from
equity attributable to the owners of the Group
as treasury shares until the shares are cancelled
or reissued. Where such ordinary shares are
subsequently reissued, any consideration received,
net of any directly attributable incremental
transaction costs and the related income tax
effects, is included in equity attributable to the
owners of the Company.
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SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL POLICIES (continued)

36.14 Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value,
net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost.
Any difference between the proceeds (net of
transaction costs) and the redemption amount is
recognised in profit or loss over the period of the
borrowings using the effective interest method.
Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities
are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to
the extent that it is probable that some or all of
the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the
fee is deferred until the draw down occurs. To the
extent there is no evidence that it is probable that
some or all of the facility will be drawn down,
the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity
services and amortised over the period of the
facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are removed from the consolidated
statement of financial position when the
obligation specified in the contract is discharged,
cancelled or expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of a financial liability that has
been extinguished or transferred to another party
and the consideration paid, including any non-
cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is
recognised in profit or loss as finance costs.

Where the terms of a financial liability are
renegotiated and the entity issues equity
instruments to a creditor to extinguish all or part
of the liability (debt for equity swap), a gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss, which is
measured as the difference between the carrying
amount of the financial liability and the fair value
of the equity instruments issued.
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36

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL POLICIES (continued)

36.14 Borrowings (continued)

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities
unless the Group has an unconditional right to
defer settlement of the liability for at least 12
months after the reporting period.

36.15Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs that
are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of a qualifying asset
are capitalised during the period of time that is
required to complete and prepare the asset for its
intended use or sale. Qualifying assets are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from
the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period
in which they are incurred.
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SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL POLICIES (continued)

36.16 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period
is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable
income based on the applicable income tax rate
for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in
deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to
temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period in the
countries where the Company and its subsidiaries
and associates operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation and considers whether
it is probable that a taxation authority will accept
an uncertain tax treatment. The Group measures
its tax balances either based on the most likely
amount or the expected value, depending on
which method provides a better prediction of the
resolution of the uncertainty.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B HRRMEE

36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 36 HMEBEESEAGHABERBEE &)
MATERIAL POLICIES (continued)

36.16 Current and deferred income tax 36.16 SHABIRIEFRISI (&)

(continued)
Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts in the consolidated
financial statements. However, deferred income
tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise
from the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and
laws) that have been enacted or substantially
enacted by the end of the reporting period and
are expected to apply when the related deferred
income tax asset is realised or the deferred
income tax liability is settled.

The deferred income tax liability in relation to
investment properties that is measured at fair
value is determined assuming the property will be
recovered entirely through sale.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only
if it is probable that future taxable amounts will
be available to utilise those temporary differences
and losses.

Deferred income tax liabilities and assets are not
recognised for temporary differences between
the carrying amount and tax bases of investments
in foreign operations where the Company is
able to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.
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36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL POLICIES (continued)

36.16 Current and deferred income tax

(continued)
Deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are
offset when there is a legally enforceable right
to offset current income tax assets and liabilities
and where the deferred tax balances relate to
the same taxation authority. Current income tax
assets and tax liabilities are offset where the
entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and
intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred income tax is recognised in
profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates
to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is
also recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B HRRMEE

36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 36 HMEBEESEAGHABERBEE &)
MATERIAL POLICIES (continued)
36.17 Employee benefits 36.17 EE@F

Retirement benefit obligations

The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits
scheme (the “Pension Scheme"”) set up pursuant
to the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance, for all of its employees in Hong Kong.
Contributions are made based on a percentage
of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged
to the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the Pension Scheme. The assets
of the Pension Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group in an independently
administrated fund. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed to the Pension Scheme, except for the
Group’s employer voluntary contributions, which
are refunded to the Group when the employee
leaves employment prior to vesting fully in the
contributions, in accordance with the rules of the
Pension Scheme.

The Group has no further payment obligations
once the contributions have been paid. The
contributions are recognised as an employee
benefit expense when they are due and are
reduced by contributions forfeited by those
employees who leave the scheme prior to vesting
fully in the contributions. Prepaid contributions
are recognised as an asset to the extent that a
cash refund or a reduction in the future payments
is available.
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SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL POLICIES (continued)

36.17 Employee benefits (continued)

Retirement benefit obligations (continued)

In addition to the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme for the Group's employees in Hong Kong,
the Group is required to contribute to central
pension schemes for certain Group’s employees
in the PRC based on applicable rates of monthly
salary in accordance with government regulations.
The only obligation of the Group with respect
to the retirement benefit scheme is to make the
specific contributions.

36.18 Share-based payments

Share-based compensation benefits are provided
to employees via the share incentive plan.
Information relating to the plan is set out in Note
23.

The fair value of employee options granted
under the Company’s share incentive plan is
recognised as an employee benefits expense
with a corresponding increase in equity. The
total amount to be expensed is determined by
reference to the fair value of the options granted:

o Including any market performance
conditions (e.g. the entity’s share price);

o Excluding the impact of any service
and non-market performance vesting
conditions (e.g. profitability, sales growth
targets and remaining an employee of the
entity over a specified time period); and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B HRRMEE

36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 36 HMEBEESEAGHABERBEE &)
MATERIAL POLICIES (continued)

36.18 Share-based payments (continued) 36.18 UMM AERBZ (4 (&)

o including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions (e.g. the requirement for
employees to save or hold shares for a
specific period of time).

The total expense is recognised over the vesting
period, which is the period over which all of the
specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied.
At the end of each period, the entity revises
its estimates of the number of options that are
expected to vest based on the non-market vesting
and service conditions. It recognises the impact of
the revision to original estimates, if any, in profit
or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to share
options under equity.

The share incentive plan is administered by a
trustee, which is consolidated in accordance with
the principles in Note 36.1. Under the shares
incentive plan, a trustee administers and holds
the Company’s shares before they are vested
and transferred to the scheme’s participants.
The trustee purchases the Company’s shares
being awarded from the open market with
funds provided by the Company. When share
options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be
transferred to share capital. When the share
options are forfeited after the vesting date or are
still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in other reserve will be
transferred to accumulated losses.
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SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL POLICIES (continued)

36.19 Provisions

Provisions for legal claims, service warranties
and make good obligations are recognised when
the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of past events, it is probable
that an outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation and the amount can be
reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised
for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations
as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the
likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one
item included in the same class of obligations may
be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of
management’s best estimate of the expenditure
required to settle the present obligation at the
end of the reporting period. The discount rate
used to determine the present value is a pre-tax
rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific
to the liability. The increase in the provision due
to the passage of time is recognised as interest
expense.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B HRRMEE

36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 36
MATERIAL POLICIES (continued)

36.20 Earnings per share

HMEBEEEAGHBRBE @

36.20 EREF

Dividends are received from financial assets
measured at FVPL and at FVOCI.
recognised as other income in profit or loss when

Dividends are

the right to receive payment is established. This
applies even if they are paid out of pre-acquisition
profits, unless the dividend clearly represents a
recovery of part of the cost of an investment.
In this case, the dividend is recognised in OCI if
it relates to an investment measured at FVOCI.
However, the investment may need to be tested
for impairment as a consequence.

(a) Basic earnings per share (@) ERELXEF
Basic earnings per share is calculated by BREABATLEBA
dividing the profit attributable to owners REVER AEMLREF R
of the Company, excluding any costs BiIEE®ERUINZEM
of servicing equity other than ordinary T 8 A A) R LA B B4R
shares by the weighted average number ERBZETERERKZM
of ordinary shares outstanding during the RS8R E N BT
financial year, adjusted for bonus elements Z2EBRZANTEE
in ordinary shares issued during the year HABBAOEERFR
and excluding treasury shares. REt&o
(b)  Diluted earnings per share (b)) ERHGEEF

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the SrREERMNARZREARN
figures used in the determination of basic EESRELABINE
earnings per share to take into account Fo Ut R BERES
the after income tax effect of interest BRERZAE REAM
and other financing costs associated with MEMA ZBRTERE
dilutive potential ordinary shares, and the 2> RBERMABEIHE
weighted average number of additional TEkEE - B g 1T
ordinary shares that would have been ZEBRMETHEAE
outstanding assuming the conversion of all gige

dilutive potential ordinary shares.

36.21Dividend income 36.21 IREUWA
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SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL POLICIES (continued)

36.22 Leases

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and
a corresponding liability at the date at which the
leased asset is available for use by the Group.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are
initially measured on a present value basis. Lease
liabilities include the net present value of the
following lease payments:

o fixed payments (including in-substance
fixed payments), less any lease incentives
receivable;

o variable lease payment that are based on

an index or a rate, initially measured using
the index or rate as at the commencement
date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the
Group under residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if
the Group is reasonably certain to exercise
that option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating the
lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably
certain extension options are also included in the
measurement of the liability.

Lease payments are allocated between principal
and finance cost. The finance cost is charged
to profit or loss over the lease period so as to
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on
the remaining balance of the liability for each
period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B HRRMEE

36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY

MATERIAL POLICIES (continued)
36.22 Leases (continued)

36 HMBEEAGHERBEE (@)

36.22 185 (@)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost
comprising the following:

EREEERMASE B8EFEMU
TERIE:

. the amount of the initial measurement of . HEaBENTRTER
lease liability; %
. any lease payments made at or before . REB BN Z AT E

the commencement date less any lease
incentives received;

RUEMREE MR BEW
BHEREEESE

. any initial direct costs; and . ERVIIEEZERAE ; &
o restoration costs. . BB AR AN o
36.23 Dividend distribution 36.23 R E 7K

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend
declared, being appropriately authorised and
no longer at the discretion of the entity, on or
before the end of the reporting period but not
distributed at the end of the reporting period.

36.24 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised
at their fair value where there is a reasonable
assurance that the grant will be received and the
group will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to income are
deferred and recognised in the profit or loss over
the period necessary to match them with the
costs that they are intended to compensate.
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SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL POLICIES (continued)

36.25Interest income

Interest income from financial assets at FVPL
is included in the net fair value gains on these
assets, see Note 7.

Interest income on financial assets at amortised
cost calculated using the effective interest
method is recognised in profit or loss as part of
other income.

Interest income is presented as other income
where it is earned from financial assets that are
held for cash management purposes, see Note 6.

Interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset except for financial
assets that subsequently become credit impaired.
For credit-impaired financial assets the effective
interest rate is applied to the net carrying amount
of the financial asset (after deduction of the loss
allowance).
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

AFERBFHE
RESULTS EF
Year ended 31 December
HE12A31HLEE
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS’000
BT BT FEFT BT BT
Revenue PN 705,854 1,195,031 1,599,809 883,478 1,215,123
Profit/(loss) for the year FEHF/ (BB 635,470 (1,113,526) 914,347 459,545 388,520
Attributable to: DU ALFE(
Owners of the Company ERBHEEA 658,613 (1,095,327) 922,010 403,565 410,200
Non-controlling interests FERER (23,143) (18,199) (7,663) 55,980 (21,680)
635,470 (1,113,526) 914,347 459,545 388,520
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEEHAHE
At 31 December
®128318
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HKS'000
BT EWFT FEFT BT BT
Total assets EEME 14,125,632 13,382,242 13,656,191 13,522,517 13,829,083
Total liabilities BEEE (2,206,334)  (3,153,835)  (3,632,132)  (3,481,782)  (4,313,239)
11,919,298 10,228,407 10,024,059 10,040,735 9,515,844
Equity attributable to owners AABEEA
of the Company i 11,772,290 10,140,637 9,927,589 9,923,352 9,420,688
Non-controlling interests FERER 147,008 87,770 96,470 117,383 95,156
11,919,298 10,228,407 10,024,059 10,040,735 9,515,844
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SUMMARY OF INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

REVMERE

Group
Use interest Catogory of the lease
&EEFAE
Property M R& 2t a9
1 residential unit A Residential 100% Long-term lease
Pearl City Mansion, 5% T REAMAAY
Nos. 22-36 Paterson Street i E
Causeway Bay, BEME22-365%
Hong Kong 1MEEE B
L1-L3 Floor, FE Operation of car 100% Self-owned property
222 Jirui Five Road, PIEPIRE S parking lot BAERE
Chengdu High-tech Zone, % &R T FHIGKE
Sichuan Province =&
China = I A BR2225%
-3/
Underground, A Operation of car 100% Self-owned property
136 Lugu Road, IEm™ parking lot BEER
Shijingshan Zone, axlE FHIGKE
Beijing, B E1365%
China T
No. 1, i Operation of car 100% Self-owned property
Foping 3rd Road, ERE parking lot BRER
Guicheng Street, BT (FERBEE
Nanhai District, mEE
Foshan City, A E
Guangdong Province, B = BR15%
China
Vanke Shanghui Building, A Operation of car 100% Self-owned property
No. 18 Guilan South Road, EER parking lot BEER
Guicheng Street, s EEIGKE
Nanhai District, [Epi=]
Foshan City, & B B8 1 85%
Guangdong Province. BREEANE

China
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SUMMARY OF INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

REYER

55
=

Group
Use interest Catogory of the lease
EUEST S
Property ME R& 2t RSB
No. 422-1 FR Operation of car 100% Self-owned property
Panxi Road, EE™ parking lot BAER
Jiangbei District, L& EEIGKE
Chongging, IR BRA225RFT 158
China
No. 8 R Operation of car 100% Self-owned property
Caihefang Road, b= parking lot BHEEWE
Haidian District, R & FHIGKE
Beijing, TR LR B 85%
China
No. 37-1 R Operation of car 100% Self-owned property
Hongjin Road, BEE™ parking lot BERE®#
Yubei District, Il FHIGKE
Chongging, 375 E15%
China
Block B23 and B24 FE Operation of car 100% Self-owned property
Financial Zone C EERE parking lot BAERE
Guicheng Street, #pLl ™ EEIGKE
Nanhai District, [EZR=1E
Foshan City, ESREPE]
Guangdong Province, ERICE
China B23+B24f&
No.3 and No.16 FE Operation of car 100% Self-owned property
Time Square Walk, BB parking lot BEER
Yuzhong District, AP E (FEBKE
Chonggqing, BF R E39E / 1638
China
No. 11-43 and No. 11-44 A [ Operation of car 100% Self-owned property
Yubei District, =) parking lot BRER#
Chongaing, pIpln (FEBKE
China AR B 1SR 4358

W44k

HERZRARAT 2024FFR
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SUMMARY OF INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

REVMERE

Group
Use interest Catogory of the lease
C3UESE S
Property M R& 2t a9
No.1-14 FE Operation of car 100% Self-owned property
Fortune Avene, BB parking lot BHEEWE
Yubei District, Il FHIGKE
Chongging, MEARE15RMT 145
China
No. 170 FE Operation of car 100% Self-owned property
Keyuan No.4 Road, BB parking lot BHEEWE
Jiulongpo District, NERKE EEIGKE
Chongging, B E MBS 17058
China
No. 359 FE Operation of car 100% Self-owned property
Jinkaidadao Road, BB parking lot BHEEWE
Yubei District, Il FHIGKE
Chongging, EBIARIBE3595%
China
No. 160-95 FE Operation of car 100% Self-owned property
Dapingzheng Street, B5E parking lot BEER
Yuzhong District, A& EEIGKE
Chongging, AR IEE 16058 MT955%
China
Room 515-517, FE Retail Property 100% Long-term lease
4th Floor, No. 22 IR [EESVES BEER
Guanghua Road HEE

Chaoyang District
Beijing
China

HEERR 2258 4/B515-517
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